

Role of transforming growth factor- β superfamily signaling pathways in human disease

Kelly J. Gordon, Gerard C. Blobe

▶ To cite this version:

Kelly J. Gordon, Gerard C. Blobe. Role of transforming growth factor- β superfamily signaling pathways in human disease. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Molecular Basis of Disease, 2008, 1782 (4), pp.197. 10.1016/j.bbadis.2008.01.006 . hal-00562819

HAL Id: hal-00562819 https://hal.science/hal-00562819

Submitted on 4 Feb 2011

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

Accepted Manuscript

Role of transforming growth factor- β superfamily signaling pathways in human disease

Kelly J. Gordon, Gerard C. Blobe

PII:	S0925-4439(08)00029-X	
DOI:	doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2008.01.006	
Reference:	BBADIS 62782	

To appear in: BBA - Molecular Basis of Disease

Received date:30 November 2007Revised date:22 January 2008Accepted date:23 January 2008

Boothinko et Biolysis Acto Molecular Basis of Disease

Please cite this article as: Kelly J. Gordon, Gerard C. Blobe, Role of transforming growth factor- β superfamily signaling pathways in human disease, *BBA - Molecular Basis of Disease* (2008), doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2008.01.006

This is a PDF file of an unedited manuscript that has been accepted for publication. As a service to our customers we are providing this early version of the manuscript. The manuscript will undergo copyediting, typesetting, and review of the resulting proof before it is published in its final form. Please note that during the production process errors may be discovered which could affect the content, and all legal disclaimers that apply to the journal pertain.

Role of Transforming Growth Factor-β Superfamily Signaling Pathways in Human Disease

Kelly J. Gordon¹ and Gerard C. Blobe^{1, 2, 3}

¹Department of Pharmacology and Cancer Biology and ²Department of Medicine, Duke University, Durham, North Carolina

³Corresponding author:

354 LSRC, Research Drive, Box 91004 Durham, NC 27710 Tel: (919) 668-1352 Fax: (919) 681-6906 Email: blobe001@mc.duke.edu

Keywords: TGF-β superfamily, hereditary disease, sporadic disease

Abstract: Transforming growth factor β (TGF- β) superfamily signaling pathways are ubiquitous and essential regulators of cellular processes including proliferation, differentiation, migration, and survival, as well as physiological processes, including embryonic development, angiogenesis, and wound healing. Alterations in these pathways, including either germline or somatic mutations or alterations in expression of members of these signaling pathways often results in human disease. Appropriate regulation of these pathways is required at all levels, particularly at the ligand level, with either a deficiency or an excess of specific TGF- β superfamily ligands resulting in human disease. TGF- β superfamily ligands and members of these TGF- β superfamily signaling pathways also have emerging roles as diagnostic, prognostic or predictive markers for human disease. Ongoing studies will enable targeting of TGF- β superfamily signaling pathways for the chemoprevention and treatment of human disease.

Table of Contents

Introduction	4
<u>TGF-β Superfamily Signaling</u>	6
Cardiovascular Disease	11
<u>Hereditary Hemorrhagic Telangiectasia (Rendu-Osler-Weber Syndrome)</u>	12
Diseases of the Aorta: Loeys-Dietz Syndrome, Familial Thoracic Aortic Aneu	rysm
Syndrome, and Arterial Tortuosity Syndrome	16
<u>Primary Pulmonary Hypertension and Familial Pulmonary Hypertension</u>	18
<u>Pre-eclampsia</u>	20
<u>Atherosclerosis</u>	21
<u>Restenosis</u>	23
<u>Hypertension</u>	24
<u>Hypertrophic Cardiomyopathy/Congestive Heart Failure</u>	26
Connective Tissue Diseases	27
Marfan Syndrome and Marfan-Like Disorders	27
<u>Fibrotic Diseases</u>	29
Skeletal and Muscular Disorders	32
<u>Camurati-Engelmann Disease</u>	33
<u>Fibrodysplasia Ossificans Progressiva</u>	33
Hunter-Thompson and Grebe-type Chondrodysplasias	34
<u>Osteoporosis</u>	35
Sclerosteosis and Van Buchem Disease	36
Brachydactyly and Symphalangism	37
Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy	38
Reproductive Disorders	39
Premature Ovarian Failure	40
<u>Persistent Müllerian Duct Syndrome</u>	41
Hereditary Cancer Syndromes	43
Juvenile Polyposis Syndrome	43
Hereditary Nonpolyposis Colorectal Cancer	43
Bannayan-Riley-Ruvalcaba and Cowden Syndromes	44
Sporadic Cancer	44
<u>Breast Cancer</u>	45
<u>Colorectal Cancer</u>	48
Pancreatic Cancer	49
Lung Cancer	50

Prostate Cancer	52
Developmental Disorders	53
<u>Cleft Palate</u>	54
Situs Inversus and Situs Ambiguus	55
Emerging role for TGF-β superfamily members in other Human Diseases	56
TGF-β Superfamily Members as Diagnostic, Prognostic or Predictive Markers	58
Targeting TGF-β Superfamily Members Therapeutically	60
Concluding Remarks	65
References.	66

			S
		~	
	-	72	
	K		
	Ş		
^o			
8			

Introduction

During embryonic development human cells are organized into a complex network of tissues, organs, and systems that carry out the normal physiological processes of life. Homeostasis, both during development and in the adult, is achieved through a careful balance of signaling pathways which transmit signals through ligands circulating through the body and through cell surface receptors and their downstream signaling pathways. Most human diseases arise from either inappropriate activation or inhibition of these signaling pathways. One of the most ubiquitous regulators of embryonic development, physiological, and cellular processes is the transforming growth factor β (TGF- β) superfamily of cytokines.

The TGF- β superfamily of cytokines contains more than 30 structurally related polypeptide growth factors including TGF- β s (1-3), activins (A, B), inhibins (A, B), bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs 1-20), growth differentiation factors including myostatin, nodal, leftys (1,2), and Müllerian-inhibiting substance (MIS) [1-3]. The TGF- β superfamily members share a conserved cysteine knot structure, and are ubiquitously expressed, with nearly every cell in the human body expressing and responding to at least one member of this superfamily [4]. The TGF- β superfamily normally functions to regulate embryonic development and cellular homeostasis, including regulation of proliferation, differentiation, apoptosis, and extracellular matrix remodeling in a cell and context specific manner [3-7].

Alterations in TGF- β superfamily pathways, including either germline or somatic mutations or alterations in the expression of members of these signaling pathways often results in human disease, including developmental disorders, vascular diseases, and

cancer [8, 9]. Here we review the role of TGF- β superfamily signaling pathways in human diseases including the role in hereditary diseases, and conclude with assessing the potential for these pathways to serve either as diagnostic, prognostic or predictive biomarkers, or as targets for the prevention or treatment of human disease.

TGF- β Superfamily Signaling

Mechanisms of TGF- β superfamily signaling have been the focus of several excellent recent reviews [2, 3, 5, 10-12]. Briefly, TGF-ß superfamily ligands initiate their cellular effects by binding to high affinity cell surface receptors, including type I (activin like kinase (ALK) 1-7) and type II TGF- β superfamily receptors, which together comprise the only known family of serine/threonine kinase receptors (Table I, Figure 1). In addition, there are a growing number of TGF- β superfamily co-receptors, receptors that bind ligand and regulate ligand binding to and signaling through their corresponding signaling receptors, but have been traditionally thought not to signal directly (Table I, [13]). The type II receptors are constitutively active serine/threonine kinases, with ligand binding resulting in conformational changes that induces recruitment and complex formation with an appropriate type I receptor (Table I, ; [9, 12-14], Figure 1). The type II receptor then phosphorylates the type I receptor in the GS domain (glycine serine rich) immediately amino-terminal to the kinase domain, activating its serine/threonine kinase activity [1, 3, 6, 12]. The activated type I receptors mediate their cellular effects through interaction and phosphorylation of Smad proteins, a family of conserved transcription factors. The receptor Smads (R-Smads) are directly phosphorylated by the type I receptors (Table 1, Figure 1). Upon phosphorylation, two activated R-Smads form a

complex with the common Smad, Smad4, and this complex accumulates in the nucleus, where it can interact with various transcription factors, co-activators or co-repressors to modulate the expression of a multitude of genes (Figure 1 [1, 10]).

TGF- β superfamily co-receptors, like other signaling co-receptors, regulate and contribute to TGF- β superfamily signaling through a variety of mechanisms. Although originally defined for their role in either conferring or enhancing ligand binding to the signaling receptors, recent studies support additional roles for these co-receptors in: (1) establishing morphogen gradients during embryonic development; (2) antagonizing ligand function by shedding their extracellular domains into the extracellular space; (3) regulating receptor localization and internalization; (4) regulating cellular adhesion; and (5) orchestrating signaling [13]. For example, the TGF- β superfamily co-receptor, T β RIII (or betaglycan), regulates the function of inhibin [15-17], BMP [18], and TGF- β ligands [19-21] through binding to these ligands, mediating the interaction of these ligands with other TGF- β superfamily receptors (through the action of both cell surface and soluble T β RIII) [19, 20], and regulating the trafficking and localization of these receptors [21]. Established ligands and binding partners for specific TGF- β superfamily co-receptors are listed in Table I.

TGF- β superfamily signaling is not limited to Smad-mediated pathways, as they can also mediate signaling responses through non-Smad pathways, in particular the mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways, including extracellular-signalregulated kinase (ERK), p38, and Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK); the phosphoinositide 3kinase (PI(3)K)/Akt pathway, and the NF- κ B pathway (Figure 1 [2, 10, 22]). The precise mechanism by which TGF- β superfamily ligands activate these pathways has not been

fully established [10]; however, progress is being made. For example, recent studies have defined a novel interaction of beta₃ integrins with the type II TGF- β receptor (T β RII), resulting in Src-mediated phosphorylation of Y284 on T β RII, recruitment of Grb2, and subsequent downstream activation of p38 [23-25]. TGF- β superfamily signaling pathways also crosstalk extensively with many signaling pathways including the MAPK, PI(3)K/Akt and tyrosine kinase receptor-mediated pathways (Figure 1 [2, 26]).

TGF- β superfamily signaling is regulated at all levels, beginning at the ligand level. TGF-β1 is synthesized and secreted into the extracellular matrix as an inactive precursor protein consisting of a signal peptide, the latency associated peptide (LAP) domain, and mature TGF-\beta1. Activation of TGF-\beta1 is thought to involve proteolytic cleavage of LAP [27]. This cleavage is induced by acidic environmental conditions, or executed by extracellular proteases including thrombospondin-1 [28], plasmin, cathepsin D [29], matrix-metalloproteinases 2 and 9 [30], and furin convertase [31]. There is also evidence that integrins are involved in activating TGF- β in the absence of proteolytic cleavage. The LAP domain of TGF- β has a RGD sequence that mediates binding to integrins, and $alpha_v beta_6$ integrin was demonstrated to activate TGF- β 1 [32], and alpha_vbeta₈ was shown to activate TGF- β 1 via an MT1-MMP dependent mechanism [33]. Unlike TGF- β , BMPs are secreted in their active form. Their activity is regulated by BMP antagonists, proteins that bind directly to BMPs and prevent them from interacting with their respective type I and type II receptors (Figure 1 [34]). There are three subfamilies of BMP antagonists based on the size of their cysteine knot; (1) CAN, (2) twisted gastrulation, and (3) the chordin/noggin families [35]. These BMP antagonists

have differential affinities for BMPs. For example, Sclerostin binds to BMP-6 and BMP-7 with high affinity and to BMP-2 and BMP-4 with low affinity [36]; whereas, noggin binds to BMP-2 and BMP-4 with high affinity and to BMP-7 with low affinity [34]. These BMP antagonists also have differential expression patterns, localizing their effects to specific tissues [34]. The importance of these antagonists in regulating BMP signaling during development is evident from the phenotypes of the knock-out mice. noggin(*NOG*)/chordin double knock-out mice display severe craniofacial malformations [37] and in single *NOG* knock-outs, growth plates are enlarged and joint initiation is disrupted [38].

TGF- β superfamily signaling is also regulated at the levels of the receptors, with FK506-binding protein 12 (FKBP12) binding the GS domain of the type I superfamily receptors, preventing phosphorylation by their respective type II receptors, and maintaining the type I receptor in an inactive conformation [39, 40]. Localization and trafficking of the signaling receptors are also important for regulating TGF- β signaling. Smad anchor for receptor activation (SARA), which links receptors and Smads and is localized on the plasma membrane and early endosomes, has been linked to an increase in TGF- β signaling following clathrin-mediated endocytosis of the receptors [41]. In contrast, lipid raft or caveolin-mediated endocytosis results in receptor ubiquitination and degradation [41]. In addition, we have demonstrated that the TGF- β superfamily coreceptors, T β RIII (or betaglycan) and endoglin regulate the cell surface localization, internalization, and signaling of their respective signaling receptors through interactions with the scaffolding proteins, GAIP-interacting protein C-terminus (GIPC) [42] and β arrestin2 [21, 43].

At the Smad level, Smad2/3 binding to SARA retains them in the cytoplasm awaiting activation by C-terminal phosphorylation by their respective type I receptor [44]. The ability of phosphorylated Smads to interact with Smad4 is also regulated, as the ErbB2/Her2-interacting protein (Erbin) functions to sequester Smad2/3 in the cytoplasm away from Smad4, thus preventing TGF- β signaling [45]. In addition, dephosphorylation of nuclear accumulated Smads results in export back to the cytoplasm to terminate signaling [46].

Once the pathway is activated, a number of feedback mechanisms are turned on to regulate the duration of signaling. For example, the inhibitory Smads (I-Smads), Smad6 and Smad7, which lack the MH1 domain and whose production is directly increased by both TGF- β and BMP signaling, inhibit TGF- β superfamily signaling by competing with R-Smads for association with their respective type I receptors [47-50]. They also recruit the E3 ubiquitin ligases Smad ubiquitin-related factor-1 (Smurf1) and Smurf2, which ubiquitinate the Smads and type I receptors resulting in protein degradation and termination of signaling [51, 52]. In addition, TGF- β superfamily signaling pathways also stimulate the production of secreted proteins, which function to both mediate and regulate signaling. For example, TGF- β increases the production of secreted protein acidic rich in cysteine (SPARC), which enhances TGF- β signaling [53]; cystatin C, which inhibits TGF- β signaling [54, 55], and fibulin-5 [56], which mediates TGF- β 's effects on inhibiting VEGF signaling and angiogenesis [57, 58]. These data indicate that modification to components of the TGF- β signaling cascade regulates their availability for signaling and ensures proper cellular responses. A summary of the TGF- β superfamily signaling pathways is presented in Figure 1.

Taken together, the complexity of TGF- β superfamily signaling and regulation of these signaling pathways permits this superfamily to elicit diverse and context-dependent cellular functions to regulate normal homeostasis. Not surprisingly, misregulation of TGF- β superfamily signaling pathways often results in human disease [8].

Cardiovascular Disease

TGF-β superfamily members critically regulate many different processes within the cardiovascular system (CVS), including cardiac development and angiogenesis. The predominant TGF- β superfamily ligands expressed in the CVS are TGF- β 1, TGF- β 2, TGF-β3, BMP-2, BMP-4, BMP-6, and BMP-7 [59]. The importance of the TGF-β superfamily in cardiovascular development is evident from the significant phenotypes of knock-out mice: (1) TGFB1^{-/-} mice are embryonic lethal due to an excessive systemic inflammatory response with massive infiltration of macrophages and lymphocytes into the heart and lungs [60]; (2) TGFB2^{-/-} mice are embryonic lethal due in part to ventricular septum defects (VSD), myocardial thinning, and a double outlet right ventricle (DORV) [61]; (3) TGFBR3^{-/-} mice are embryonic lethal, exhibiting cardiac defects similar to the TGFB2-/- mice, with a failure of coronary vessel development and epicardial development [62, 63]; (4) specific BMPR1A loss in the myocardium of atrioventricular cushions results in valve malformations [64], while deletion in the endothelium reduces the formation of mesenchyme through reduced epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) and mesenchymal cell survival, resulting in defective cardiac valve and septa formation [65]; and (5) specific knock-out of SMAD4 in the heart results in hypocellular myocardial wall defects contributing to heart failure [66]. While a recent review focused

on the extracellular regulation of TGF- β signaling and its effects on vascular development and disease [67], here we will discuss the contribution of TGF- β superfamily members to specific cardiovascular diseases.

Hereditary Hemorrhagic Telangiectasia (Rendu-Osler-Weber Syndrome)

Hereditary Hemorrhagic Telangiectasia (HHT) is an autosomal dominant disease with variable penetrance in which vascular dysplasia results in telangiectasia and arteriovenous malformations [68]. Clinically, these patients present as young adults and onward with telangiectases of the skin, spontaneous recurrent epistaxis, gastrointestinal bleeding, high cardiac output heart failure, or neurological sequelae due to arteriovenous malformations [68, 69]. There are two forms of HHT, HHT1 and HHT2, which are often difficult to differentiate clinically; however, HHT1 is associated with a higher incidence of pulmonary, hepatic, and cerebral arteriovenous malformations and HHT2 has a later onset, lower penetrance, and is associated with more severe liver involvement [68-70].

Genetic linkage studies of families with HHT identified disease causing mutations in two TGF- β superfamily family receptors, the co-receptor endoglin for HHT1 [71], and the type I receptor ALK1 for HHT2 [72], that together account for approximately 80% of HHT patients. Most of the mutations identified in *ENG* and *ACVRL1* in HHT patients are thought to inactivate the receptors. In HHT1, 155 unique mutations in *ENG*, all in the extracellular domain, have been identified [69]. Most of these mutations result in a truncated or mutated protein that does not reach the cell surface [69]. In HHT1, 123 unique mutations in *ACVRL1* have been identified, and more than 50% of these are missense mutations [69]. In contrast to endoglin, these mutations span the extracellular,

transmembrane, and cytoplasmic domains of ALK1, with the majority affecting the cytoplasmic domain. Protein modeling studies predict that the majority of these mutations would affect protein folding and stability. In both cases, HHT patients are heterozygous for these disease causing alleles, suggesting a haploinsufficiency model of disease pathogenesis [73].

Genetic analysis of *ACVRL1* in a large HHT2 family established that 58% of the offspring from two heterozygous individuals died in utero or shortly after death, while all of the surviving offspring were heterozygotes [74]. This analysis suggests that ALK1 is essential for embryonic development and viability, as has been confirmed in murine models [75, 76].

Other genes that contribute to HHT have been identified, including mutations in the carboxy terminus of Smad4, with resulting patients exhibiting a combined syndrome of juvenile polyposis ([73], see section on juvenile polyposis) and HHT; and an unidentified locus on chromosome 5 has been linked to HHT patients without mutations in *ENG*, *ACVRL1*, or *SMAD4* [77]. Whether mutations in *SMAD4* and/or an unidentified gene on chromosome 5 accounts for the 20% of remaining cases of HHT remains to be elucidated [69]. In addition, a subset of HHT2 patients also have primary pulmonary hypertension ([78], see section on primary pulmonary hypertension), suggesting that disruption of ALK1 signaling may also contribute to this human disease.

The vascular dysplasias present in patients with HHT are thought to form from dilation of post-capillary venules and consist of a dilated vessel with a single layer of endothelium attached to a continuous basement membrane. HHT is thought to arise through defective function of endoglin and ALK1 in endothelial cells. The importance of

endoglin and ALK1 in endothelial cell function is evident from the phenotypes of the *ENG* and *ACVRL1* knock-out mice. *ENG*^{-/-} mice die at embryonic day 10.5 due to defects in angiogenesis, including failure to develop blood vessels in the yolk sac, and severe cardiac defects [71]. *ACVRL1*^{-/-} mice also die at embryonic day 10.5-11.5 due to severe vascular abnormalities, including hyperfusion and hyperdilation of blood vessels, and impaired placental development [76, 79]. Supporting a haploinsufficiency model for HHT; *ENG* heterozygous mice exhibit symptoms of HHT1 [80], and mice heterozygous for *ACVRL1* exhibit HHT2 symptoms including vascular lesions, gastrointestinal bleeding, and hyperfusion and hyperdilation of arterial and venous capillaries [81].

While the mutations of *ENG* and *ACVRL1* in HHT and the phenotypes of the knock-out mice support an important role for these TGF- β superfamily receptors in endothelial cell biology and angiogenesis, the mechanisms by which these receptors normally function and how disruption of this signaling contributes to the disease pathology is still being explored. Moreover, insight into these processes has been hampered by several layers of complexity in TGF- β superfamily signaling in endothelial cells. First, in endothelial cells, TGF- β signals not only through the ALK5/Smad2/3 pathway (as in most other cell types), but also through ALK1/Smad1/5/8 [82]. These pathways have opposing effects on endothelial cell proliferation and migration; although, it remains controversial which pathway inhibits and which pathway stimulates these processes [82, 83]. ALK1 and ALK5 signaling is also not mutually exclusive, as ALK5 has been reported to be required for ALK1 signaling [59, 82]. The presence of these two signaling pathways with divergent effects might provide a mechanism for the dose dependent, dichotomous function of TGF- β on endothelial cells, promoting proliferation

and migration at low concentrations while inhibiting these responses at higher ligand concentrations [82]. In any case, the effects of endoglin and ALK1 on TGF- β signaling appears to be important as primary endothelial cells isolated from HHT1 and HHT2 patients exhibit reduced TGF-\beta-mediated transcription of Smad1 and Smad2/3 responsive promoters [84]. The precise mechanism and role of ALK1 and ALK5mediated TGF-B signaling in endothelial cells is still being defined. Second, the role of endoglin in regulating TGF-B superfamily signaling in endothelial cells appears to be multifaceted. Unlike many other co-receptors, endoglin does not bind ligand independently; thus, it is unlikely to present ligand [85]. However, endoglin does bind several TGF-B superfamily ligands, including TGF-B1, TGF-B3, activin, BMP-2 and BMP-7, in conjunction with their respective binding receptors [85]. As mutation in SMAD4, which is downstream of all TGF- β superfamily ligands, also results in an HHT phenotype, and BMP-9 has been identified as a bona fide ligand for ALK1 [86], which or whether all TGF-B superfamily signaling pathways are responsible for the disease pathology in HHT patients remains unknown. In terms of effects on signaling, endoglin has been reported to both increase and decrease, or have no effect on ALK1 and ALK5 signaling, depending on the methods and model systems used. Endoglin also has defined functions in inhibiting migration through direct interactions of its cytoplasmic domain with zyxin [87] and zyxin related protein-1 [88], which affects focal adhesion complex assembly. Endoglin can also regulate cyclooxygenase-2 production and activity to control synthesis of prostaglandins (vasodilators), and can stimulate production of the potent vasodilator nitric oxide [89]. Recently, endoglin was demonstrated to antagonize TGF-β-mediated ERK signaling in endothelial cells to inhibit endothelial cell migration

[43]. Endoglin is also phosphorylated on its cytoplasmic domain by ALK1, ALK5, and T β RII [90, 91]. The functional consequences of endoglin phosphorylation are still being defined. Third, endoglin and ALK1 expression appears to be broader than initially thought, with expression in vascular smooth muscle cells and fibroblasts, suggesting that these compartments could mediate an effect on HHT disease pathology as well [82, 92, 93]. Finally, ALK1 might signal through different pathways. For example, decreasing ALK1 levels in microvascular endothelial cells resulted in decreased migration mediated by JNK and ERK [94], and interactions of ALK1 with the nuclear receptor, LXR- β , to inhibit ALK1 signaling have been reported [95]. Clearly, further investigation is required to fully define the role of this superfamily signaling pathway in the disease pathology of HHT.

Diseases of the Aorta: Loeys-Dietz Syndrome, Familial Thoracic Aortic Aneurysm Syndrome, and Arterial Tortuosity Syndrome

Loeys-Dietz syndrome is an autosomal dominant aortic aneurysm syndrome with affected patients having widely spaced eyes, cleft palate, and widespread vascular dilation placing them at very high risk for aortic dissection or rupture [96]. Based on an emerging role for the TGF- β signaling pathway in aortic dissections associated with Marfan syndrome (see section on Marfan syndrome), sequencing of *TGFBR1* and *TGFBR2* in 52 families with a history of Loeys-Dietz syndrome identified disease causing somatic mutations in *TGFBR2* and *TGFBR1*; 29 mutations were identified in *TGFBR2*, and 13 were identified in *TGFBR1*. The majority of mutations identified were either adjacent to or within the serine/threonine kinase domains of T β RII and T β RI.

There were no phenotypic differences between those patients that had *TGFBR1* versus *TGFBR2* mutations. These receptor mutations identified were specific to this syndrome, as unrelated patients with aortic aneurysms did not exhibit these genetic alterations [96]. While these mutations would be predicted to result in loss of function, experimentally, patients with these mutations paradoxically have increased TGF– β signaling in their aortic walls, suggesting that these mutations are either gain of function, or that compensatory mechanisms overcome these mutations [96].

Familial Thoracic Aortic Aneurysm Syndrome (TADD) is an autosomal dominant disease that predisposes patients to progressive enlargement of aorta aneurysms that can result in type A aortic dissection, tearing of the arterial wall, and leakage of blood into the layers of the vessel wall [97]. This is a life threatening condition as aortic dissection often results in massive blood loss. TADD is the major cardiovascular complication of Marfan Syndrome, a hereditary connective tissue disorder (see Marfan Syndrome section). 19% of TADD patients that do not have Marfan Syndrome have affected first degree relatives, suggesting that there is a common genetic contributor. Germline mutations in TGFBR2 have been identified in patients with TADD, including mutation of a conserved arginine to a cysteine within the kinase domain of the receptor [97], missense mutations of highly conserved nucleotide bases within the kinase domain, and a missense mutation downstream of the kinase domain [98]. In addition, a missense mutation in the cytoplasmic domain of TGFBR1 has been identified in patients with TADD [98]. Protein structural modeling predicts that all of these TADD associated receptor mutations would affect the ability of receptors to transduce signals through their kinase domain [98].

Arterial tortuosity syndrome (ATS) is characterized by vascular and skeletal

17

manifestations that overlap with Loeys-Dietz syndrome, including generalized tortuosity and elongation of all major arteries, including the aorta, and hyperextensibility and laxity of the skin and joints [99]. Patients with ATS have loss of function mutations in the glucose transporter, *GLUT10*, which result in decreased glucose-dependent expression of decorin, a potent extracellular inhibitor of TGF- β . As expected, patients with ATS exhibit elevated TGF- β signaling in their vessel walls [99].

Primary Pulmonary Hypertension and Familial Pulmonary Hypertension

Primary pulmonary arterial hypertension (PAH) is characterized by intense remodeling of small pulmonary arteries by myofibroblast and smooth muscle proliferation, resulting in sustained elevation of pulmonary vascular resistance, arterial pressure, and ultimately right ventricular heart failure leading to cardiac arrest [100, 101]. There are two types of PAH; a sporadic or idiopathic PAH (IPAH), and hereditary or familial PAH (FPAH). Genetic analysis has identified a heterozygous germ line mutation in BMPR2 associated with both IPAH and FPAH. BMPR2 mutations have been identified in 70% of families with FPAH and in up to 40% of patients diagnosed with IPAH [102, 103]. 71% of the mutations in *BMPR2* are nonsense, frameshift, splice-site defects, or gene re-arrangements resulting in a truncated mRNA transcript that is prone to nonsense-mediated decay. Additional mutations have been identified that affect the ligand binding, transmembrane, and cytoplasmic domains [103]. As disease onset varies between family members and unrelated carriers have the same mutation, there are likely additional genetic and/or environmental modifiers that contribute to the pathogenesis of this disease and to full disease penetrance [103]. There is a subset of HHT patients that

also present with clinical symptoms of PAH. These patients have mutations in both *ACVRL1* and *BMPR2* [104], suggesting that ALK1 signaling may also contribute to PAH.

The mechanisms by which *BMPR2* mutations result in pulmonary hypertension remain unclear. A disease causing role for BMPRII is supported by transgenic mouse models. BMPRII is critical for early embryonic development as homozygous mutant mice die shortly after conception, due to the inability to derive mesoderm [105]. To define the function of BMPRII during development, a knock-out mouse was developed that expresses a BMPRII mutant lacking half of the ligand-binding domain. These mice die mid-gestation with severe liver defects and outflow tract defects in the heart, including lack of septation of the conotruncus below the valve level and an interrupted aortic arch, a phenotype known in humans as persistent truncus arteriosus [106]. In addition, when BMPRII expression was reduced in mice using shRNA, the pulmonary vessel walls had regions lacking smooth muscle cells, were highly disorganized, and were more prone to rupture [107]. These mouse phenotypes exemplify the importance of BMPRII in development of the pulmonary vasculature and suggest why mutations in *BMPR2* result in PAH.

Heterozygous *BMPR2* mice exhibit mild pulmonary hypertension and have an impaired vascular remodeling response to prolonged low oxygen conditions [108], suggesting that haploinsufficiency of BMPRII contributes to this disease. These heterozygous mice also develop elevated right ventricular systolic pressure and vascular remodeling when exposed to inflammatory agents [109]. In addition, expression of a dominant-negative BMPRII in smooth muscle cells in mice results in elevated pulmonary arterial hypertension, and an increase in pulmonary arterial muscularization [110]. The

benefits of increasing BMPRII levels on reducing the clinical manifestations of PAH have been assessed using a rat model; delivery of an adenoviral vector expressing BMPRII to the pulmonary vascular endothelium significantly reduced the pulmonary hypertensive response to chronic hypoxia [111].

In terms of signaling mediated by BMPRII, BMPRII is unique in the context of TGF- β superfamily type II receptors in that it possesses a long cytoplasmic domain after the kinase domain. Mutations in this region have been identified in PAH, and some of these mutations disrupt interaction of BMPRII with receptor activated C-kinase 1 (RACK1). As RACK1 is required for BMP-mediated Smad1 phosphorylation and inhibition of proliferation in pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells, this defines one potential mechanism of action for BMPR2 mutations in this disease [112]. Recently, a link was established between the inflammatory cytokine interleukin 6, which has been implicated in PAH, and BMP signaling in a PAH mouse model. BMPR2 knock-out mice have high levels of IL-6 and overexpressing IL-6 induced the transcription of the BMP responsive gene Id1 [113]. Finally, the effects of serotonin, which induces PAH in rats, are more pronounced in BMPR2 knock-out mice, suggesting that loss of BMP signaling synergizes with several signaling pathways to contribute to the pathogenesis of PAH [114]. This mechanistic data suggests that PAH is a complex disease that clinically manifests as a result of a variety of genetic and environmental modifiers, explaining the clinical heterogeneity of PAH.

Pre-eclampsia

Pre-eclampsia, or pregnancy-associated hypertension, is a major cause of maternal, fetal, and neonatal mortality world-wide. A diagnosis of pre-eclampsia is made

20

when patients develop new hypertension and increased proteinuria during their pregnancy. Early diagnosis and treatment is important as this condition, if untreated, can progress to a severe form resulting in maternal central nervous system, liver, and renal dysfunction, bleeding related to thrombocytopenia, preterm delivery, fetal growth restriction, abruptio placentae, and perinatal death, as well as predisposing the mother to a greater long term risk of developing coronary heart disease and stroke [115].

Several recent studies identified high levels of soluble endoglin, formed by ectodomain shedding of cell surface endoglin, in patients exhibiting pre-eclampsia, with levels rising prior to clinical pre-eclampsia, and correlating with disease severity [116, 117]. Soluble endoglin may function by binding to TGF- β 1 and preventing it from binding to its receptors on endothelial cells, resulting in decreased activation of eNOS and decreased production of the potent vasodilator, nitric oxide. This results in vasoconstriction, which induces hypertension in patients [116]. The precise mechanisms of how soluble endoglin contributes to pre-eclampsia are still being defined. However, the use of endoglin as a predictive or prognostic marker for pre-eclampsia is currently being evaluated using serum from expectant mothers, with current data supporting a strong relationship between disease severity and endoglin levels [118].

Atherosclerosis

Atherosclerosis is a disorder involving endothelial dysfunction, vascular inflammation, and accumulation of lipids, cholesterol, and cellular debris within the intima of medium and large sized arteries resulting in plaque formation and acute and chronic luminal obstruction. Atherosclerosis is the primary cause of cardiovascular

disease and stroke. TGF- β ligands and their receptors are expressed by endothelial cells, smooth muscle cells, macrophages, and T cells in human atherosclerotic lesions [119]. Although the role of the TGF- β signaling pathway in atherosclerosis is controversial. with some studies suggesting a pro-atherosclerotic effect [119, 120], most studies support a role for TGF- β in inhibiting atherosclerosis and atherosclerotic progression. First, TGF- β mediates cellular effects that would be expected to inhibit atherosclerosis including inhibiting the proliferation and migration, and stimulating apoptosis of vascular smooth muscle cells and endothelial cells, and potently inhibiting the immune system. Second, in murine models of atherosclerosis; blocking TGF-β activation through expression of apolipoprotein [121], blocking systemic TGF-β signaling through expression of soluble T β RII [122] or neutralizing TGF- β antibodies [123], blocking TGF- β signaling in T-cells through expression of dominant-negative type II receptors [124], or decreasing circulating levels of TGF- β 1 by targeted deletion of one allele is sufficient to increase atherosclerosis [125], while increasing TGF- β levels indirectly with Tamoxifen is sufficient to decrease atherosclerosis [126]. Third, smooth muscle cells isolated from human atherosclerotic lesions are resistant to the antiproliferative and apoptotic effects of TGF- β , and contain mutations and/or decreased T β RII expression [127, 128]. Fourth, TGF- β appears to stabilize atherosclerotic plaques by stimulating collagen secretion and promoting the formation of a collagen-rich fibrous cap [120]. Finally, in an atherosclerotic mouse model $(LDLR^{-/-})$, delivery of an adeno-associated virus type 2 vector expressing active TGF- β 1 suppressed the formation of atherosclerotic lesions [129].

TGF- β signaling has been linked to risk of myocardial infarction (MI), which

occurs when the heart is deprived of oxygen. Several *TGFB1* polymorphisms have been examined in MI patients [130]. The -509C/T polymorphism is associated with an increased incidence of myocardial infarction in men, independent of other risk factors including smoking, hypertension, diabetes, and high cholesterol levels. Interestingly, this polymorphism was only associated with increased risk of MI in males and not in females [131], which was also the case for another polymorphism, T29C, which was only associated with an increased risk of MI in middle-aged Japanese men [132]. However, a recent study performed on a larger cohort did not confirm an association of the -509C/T polymorphism with MI; however, it was associated with an increased risk of stroke, as was the case for the codon 10 Leu/Pro *TGFB1* polymorphism [133].

While the role of TGF- β in atherosclerosis has been well defined, the role of other superfamily members, including the BMPs and activins is only beginning to be established. Similar to TGF- β 1, activin appears to suppress atherosclerosis, as overexpression of activin decreases vascular smooth muscle cell migration into the intima in an atherosclerotic mouse model [134]. BMP-2, BMP-4, and BMP-6 levels are increased in advanced atherosclerotic lesions and these elevations are associated with increased levels of calcification, suggesting a role for BMPs in promoting advanced atherosclerotic lesions [135, 136].

Restenosis

Restenosis refers to the exuberant fibrotic reaction, intimal proliferation, and remodeling in response to revascularization therapies including angioplasty, stenting, and atherectomy. Restenosis remains a major barrier to the effectiveness of these

23

interventions. While TGF- β is thought to protect from atherosclerosis, several lines of evidence support increased TGF- β signaling as a major contributor to restenosis. First, expression of all TGF- β isoforms, T β RI, and T β RII is increased after angioplastyinduced vascular injury [137]. Second, over-expression of TGF- β 1 is able to stimulate neo-intimal hyperplasia and fibrosis [138], a major contributor to restenosis. Indeed, TGF- β is one of the most important ECM regulators in the cell; increasing extracellular matrix (ECM) protein expression and inhibiting the degradation of ECM components, resulting in a net accumulation of ECM [139]. The major ECM proteins produced by fibroblasts in the heart are Type I and Type III collagen, and these are responsible for most fibrotic processes occurring after vascular injury, including angioplasty [140]. Third, decreasing TGF- β signaling by decreasing TGF- β 1 levels with ribozymes [141], or using pharmacological inhibitors of TGF- β signaling [142] is able to decrease neointimal hyperplasia and remodeling. Finally, overexpression of Smad7 in rat carotid arteries was able to abrogate restenosis after angioplasty, suggesting that blocking TGF- β signaling is capable of preventing restenosis [143].

Hypertension

Hypertension is a global medical problem that places individuals at risk for long term renal, cerebral, and coronary heart disease. While environmental factors including obesity and salt intake contribute to the onset of hypertension, approximately 50% of hypertension is thought to have a genetic basis [101], with several documented links between increased TGF- β signaling and hypertension [140]. Emilin1, a secreted glycoprotein associated with the extracellular matrix of blood vessels, functions to

antagonize TGF- β 1 signaling by binding to the precursor form of TGF- β and decreasing its proteolytic processing into the active form. In both *EMILIN1* homozygous null mice and heterozygous mice, the systolic blood pressure is significantly increased in all animals, regardless of age, with decreased Emilin1 expression resulting in increased TGF- β 1 signaling, reduced vessel size, and increased vascular resistance. A direct role for TGF- β 1 in the *EMILIN1* null phenotype is supported, as genetic suppression of TGF- β 1 in *EMILIN1* knock-out mice results in a return to a normotensive state [144]. In addition, in a rat hypertension model, TGF- β neutralizing antibodies are sufficient to decrease blood pressure and subsequent renal failure [145]. Importantly, in humans, polymorphisms in *TGFB1* resulting in increased TGF- β 1 expression have been linked to the development of hypertension, with a direct correlation between TGF- β 1 levels and mean arterial pressure [146],

TGF- β signaling is also upregulated by the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone axis [147], a critical regulator of blood pressure. Angiotensin II (Ang II) directly stimulated TGF- β 1 expression at the mRNA level, and enhances its conversion to the active form at the protein level by increasing Thrombospondin-1 levels [148, 149], see Figure 2. In addition, Ang II increases T β RII mRNA expression [150], angiotensin III stimulates TGF- β 1 expression at the mRNA level [151], and aldosterone induces TGF- β 1 expression [152], see Figure 2. An important role for the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone axis in increasing TGF- β signaling is supported by the ability of angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors and angiotensin I receptor antagonists, both used in the treatment of hypertension, to reduce renal TGF- β 1 production. Renin-angiotensin system inhibitors including ACE inhibitors are effective in reducing renal disease progression

associated with diabetic nephropathy in rat models. When a TGF- β neutralizing antibody was administered in combination with an ACE inhibitor, there was a synergistic effect on inhibiting renal injury and proteinuria [153]. The exact mechanisms of how TGF- β superfamily members contribute to renal injury warrants further investigation.

Hypertrophic Cardiomyopathy/Congestive Heart Failure

Cardiomyopathy refers to diseased heart muscle and is classified into three different types, dilated, hypertrophic and restrictive, based on anatomical and physiological parameters. Eventually, if untreated, cardiomyopathy will progress, resulting in congestive heart failure due to contractile dysfunction, arrhythmias, ultimately leading to death [147]. In the pathogenesis of cardiomyopathy, elevated levels of angiotensin II increase TGF- β levels and TGF- β signaling, as discussed above. These elevated levels of TGF- β are important for the pathogenesis of cardiac hypertrophy as angiotensin II is unable to induce hypertrophy in mice lacking TGFB1 [147, 154]. Importantly, elevated circulating levels of TGF-B1 are found in patients with dilated, hypertrophic, and restrictive cardiomyopathy, and as with hypertension, ACE inhibitors angiotensin I receptor antagonists, which are used therapeutically for and cardiomyopathy patients, may function by reducing TGF- β 1 production and subsequent collagen production in the heart. In addition, in humans, polymorphisms in TGFB1 resulting in increased TGF- β 1 expression have been linked to dilated cardiomyopathy [155].

Other TGF- β superfamily members have also been implicated in the pathogenesis of cardiomyopathy. Specifically, BMP-10 expression is increased in the ventricles of

hypertensive rats with cardiac hypertrophy, and in humans, a polymorphism in *BMP10*, which leads to increased BMP-10 secretion/bioactivity, was identified in patients with dilated cardiomyopathy [156]. In mice, expression of BMP-10 increases in the ventricular trabecular myocardium when cardiac development shifts from patterning to growth and chamber maturation, and BMP-10 is required for both of these processes [157]. When BMP-10 is absent, there are elevated levels of p57^{Kip2}, which is associated with reduced proliferation of cardiomyocytes, and reductions in the cardiogenic transcription factors NKX2.5 and MEF2C in the developing myocardium. This results in severe cardiac malformations including hypoplastic ventricular walls and absence of ventricular trabeculae, both of which contribute to the early embryonic lethal phenotype [157]. In addition, myostatin (GDF-8) has been implicated in contributing to cardiac hypertrophy, as myostatin expression is elevated in hypertrophic cardiac tissue and myostatin increases the growth of cultured cardiomyocytes [158].

Connective Tissue Diseases

Marfan Syndrome and Marfan-Like Disorders

Marfan syndrome (MS) is a hereditary autosomal dominant multisystem connective tissue disorder, which is characterized clinically by cardiac abnormalities including aortic aneurysms, aortic dissections, and mitral valve abnormalities; skeletal manifestations, and vision problems [159, 160]. MS has been linked to a mutation in the extracellular matrix protein fibrillin-1 [98]. Fibrillin polymerizes to form microfibrils, which normally stabilize latent TGF- β -binding proteins and maintain TGF- β in its inactive state, while the mutant fibrillin proteins in MS patients fail to do so, resulting in

elevated levels of active TGF-β. Fibrillin mutations have been identified in the majority of patients with MS. However, up to 34% of patients have no identified mutation in FBN1, suggesting that others genes contribute to this disease. Recently, mutations were identified in TGFBR1 and TGFBR2 in patients with MS [96, 98, 160-162]. Those patients with TGFBR1 and TGFBR2 mutations are referred to as having MS type II, while those with FBN1 mutations are referred to as having MS type I. These TGFBR1 and TGFBR2 mutations affect the kinase domain of the receptors and are predicted to result in loss of function [161]. While similar mutations in Loeys-Dietz syndrome paradoxically result in increased TGF- β signaling [96], whether this is the case in MS remains to be established. TGFBR2 mutations resulting in MS are associated with more extensive and progressive aortic and peripheral vascular disease, earlier disease onset, and more diffuse arterial disease than those patients with the FBN1 mutation, suggesting that patients with TGF- β receptor mutations may have a distinct disease pathogenesis than those with *FBN1* mutations [159]. Clearly, context dependent alterations in TGF- β signaling are involved in the pathogenesis of MS.

Mutations in TGF- β receptors have also been identified in Marfan-like disorders. Specifically, a mutation affecting the kinase domain of T β RI has been identified in patients with Furlong Syndrome, which is associated with premature closure of skull sutures and aortic dissection [163]. In addition, a *TGFBR2* mutation resulting in defective splicing of *TGFBR2* was identified in patients with Sphrintzen-Goldberg syndrome, which is associated with premature closure of skull sutures and mental retardation [162, 164]. Since these phenotypes overlap for these Marfan-like disorders,

more clinical analysis of patients is required to understand the role of TGF- β superfamily signaling in progression of these diseases.

In mouse models in which *FBN1* mutants identified in MS patients are expressed, there is increased TGF- β signaling in multiple organs including in the lungs, heart, and aorta, confirming that fibrillin normally functions to downregulate TGF- β signaling [161]. Importantly, administrating a TGF- β neutralizing antibody to these mice diminishes the lung and mitral valve manifestations of MS [161, 165], demonstrating the importance of increased TGF- β signaling in the pathogenesis of this disease.

Fibrotic Diseases

Fibrosis is a complex tissue disease that results from excessive and abnormal deposition of extracellular matrix (ECM), which is composed of fibronectin, laminin, vitronectin, and collagen, by long term activation of myofibroblasts [166]. Myofibroblasts are a specialized type of fibroblast that are normally activated during wound healing [167]. If the build-up of ECM occurs in organs such as the lungs, liver, kidneys, and skin, it can interfere with organ function, and unabated, results in organ failure. Examples of fibrotic diseases include skin fibrosis, vascular fibrosis, systemic sclerosis, renal fibrosis, and liver fibrosis. As mentioned briefly during the discussion of restenosis, TGF- β is a critical regulator of extracellular matrix assembly and remodeling [168]. As fibrosis has been described as a "wound-healing response that has gone out of control" [169], excessive TGF- β signaling has long been implicated in the pathogenesis of fibrotic diseases, and has been the subject of several excellent recent reviews [166,

169]. TGF-β signaling through Smad3 directly promotes expression of type I collagen, a major component of the ECM, during fibrosis [170]. Smad3 has a central role in TGF-β induced fibrosis in several organ systems as: (1) skin from *SMAD3-/-* mice is resistant to injury from ionizing radiation with reduced recruitment of myofibroblasts [171]; (2) hepatic stellate cells mediate fibrosis in the liver, and they require Smad3 to induce collagen expression [172]; (3) Smad3, and not Smad2, is required for angiotensin-II induced vascular fibrosis [173]; (4) increased levels of phosphorylated Smad3 are observed in keloid (scar) fibroblasts [174]; and (5) *SMAD3-/-* mice are resistant to bleomycin and TGF-β-mediated pulmonary fibrosis [175, 176].

Another important effector of TGF- β induced fibrosis is connective tissue growth factor (CTGF). TGF- β promotes CTGF expression in fibroblasts, which promotes collagen synthesis and myofibroblast differentiation [177, 178]. CTGF binds directly to TGF- β , and enhances its activity resulting in increased binding to T β RI and T β RII [179]. CTGF can stimulate fibrosis directly by promoting mesangial cell survival, via stabilization of the anti-apoptotic protein Bcl-2, which is thought to promote renal fibrosis under chronic pathological conditions such as diabetic nephropathy [180]. It is thought that CTGF synergizes with other pathways, including TGF- β , to induce fibrosis, as overexpressing CTGF alone induced only mild pulmonary fibrosis in mice [181], but potentiated the effects of bleomycin-induced fibrosis [178, 182].

An additional contributor to fibrosis is epithelial to mesenchymal transition, a phenotypic conversion of epithelial cells into mesenchymal cells, which is associated with increased expression of fibroblast-associated proteins, such as alpha smooth muscle actin (SMA). The contribution of EMT to fibrosis has been extensively studied in the

kidney, as it converts renal tubular epithelial cells into fibroblasts, which produce large amounts of ECM that accumulates in the kidneys, and interferes with their function [183]. Progressive renal fibrosis is often associated with diabetes [184]. The ERK and JNK MAPK pathways, and Smad2 mediate TGF-β-induced EMT in renal tubular epithelial cells [185]. Integrin linked kinase (ILK) has also been implicated in TGF-βinduced renal fibrosis, as expression of a dominant negative ILK inhibited TGF-Binduced EMT of renal tubular epithelial cells and inhibiting ILK in vivo inhibited EMT and fibrosis in a renal fibrosis mouse model [186]. The importance of increased TGF- β signaling in fibrosis has been validated therapeutically. A T β RI kinase inhibitor significantly reduced renal fibrosis in the db/db diabetic nephropathy model, which was associated with reduced expression of collagen and fibronectin in the kidneys [184]. Alternatively, delivering a T β RI inhibitor to proximal tubular cells by conjugating it to the renal carrier protein lysozyme suppressed the activation of tubular cells and fibroblasts, reduced inflammation, and decreased levels of the fibrotic markers vimentin and α SMA in the unilateral ureteral obstruction rat model of renal fibrosis [187].

In addition, TGF- β regulates the expression of other proteins involved in executing the fibrotic cascade including: (1) regulation of the expression and activity of extracellular remodeling proteases including matrix-metalloproteinases, and their inhibitors, the tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases [188]; (2) increasing the expression of the vasoconstrictive peptide endothelin-1, which has been shown to contribute to persistent fibrosis by inducing fibroblasts to produce and secrete ECM [189]; and (3) regulating the activity of the Rho family of small GTPases, which have been implicated in mediating TGF- β -induced fibrosis [139]. Overall TGF- β is a critical regulator of

extracellular matrix production; and therefore, increased TGF- β signaling is a critical contributor to the progression of fibrotic diseases.

Skeletal and Muscular Disorders

Bone is a mineralized tissue that provides mechanical support, protects organ systems, regulates calcium levels in the blood, and provides an environment for hematopoiesis. Bone forms through the deposition and mineralization activity of osteoblasts, and is constantly remodeled through the coordinated action of osteoblasts and osteoclasts, which serve to resorb bone [190]. TGF- β superfamily members are abundantly expressed in the bone environment and regulate a number of important bone TGF-\beta1 signaling has been extensively studied in bone since it is the processes. predominant TGF- β isoform expressed in bone. TGF- β 1 has been implicated in every stage of bone formation including recruitment of osteoblast progenitors, stimulation of their proliferation and differentiation, and inhibition of osteoblast apoptosis [191]. The TGF-β1 knock-out mice have a skeletal phenotype including reduced bone growth and mineralization, as well as reduced elasticity [192], and reduced alkaline phosphatase activity [193].

BMPs critically regulate bone homeostasis; they were initially given their name by Urist based on their ability to induce ectopic bone formation [194]. When *BMP2* and *BMP4* are both knocked out in the limb bud mesenchyme of mice, there is severe impairment of bone formation [195]. Although knocking out *BMP2* alone results in no obvious bone defects in mice; these mice are more susceptible to bone fractures [196]. When the BMP type I receptors *BMPR1A* and *BMPR1B* are knocked out in chondrocytes,

there are defects in chondrocyte proliferation and differentiation, resulting in chondrodysplasia and disrupted bone formation [197].

Camurati-Engelmann Disease

Camurati-Engelmann Disease (CED) is an autosomal dominant disorder that affects the diaphysis of long bones and results in increased bone density, bone marrow dysfunction, muscular weakness, and severe bone pain [190]. This disease has been linked to mutations in *TGFB1*, with 9 distinct mutations identified thus far [198]. The majority of CED linked *TGFB1* mutations are in the latency associated domain of TGF- β 1 [190], while one mutation has been identified that affects the signal peptide of TGF- β 1 [198]. The location of these mutations suggests that increased TGF- β signaling is responsible for the pathogenesis of CED. Indeed, when known CED *TGFB1* mutants are expressed in human epithelial kidney cells, these mutants result in increased autocrine TGF- β 1 production and TGF- β -mediated transcription [198].

Fibrodysplasia Ossificans Progressiva

Fibrodysplasia Ossificans Progressiva (FOP) is an autosomal dominant disease characterized by the progressive ossification of skeletal tissue either spontaneously or in response to trauma. A heterozygous mutation in *ACVR1* (encodes ALK2) has been tightly linked to the disease, with a single mutation conserved in all familial and sporadic cases of FOH [199]. The disease causing mutation in *ACVR1* results in an arginine to histidine substitution in the GS domain [190, 199]. While this mutation does not affect the expression of ALK2, structural protein modeling predicts that this mutation would

create a pH-sensitive switch within the activation domain of the receptor resulting in ligand-independent activation of ALK2 [200]. Indeed, increased ALK2 receptor activity as a contributor to the pathogenesis of FOP is supported by data from signaling studies, as lymphocytes from FOP patients exhibit elevated BMP-mediated p38 activation and increased basal expression of BMP responsive genes [201]. Lymphocytes from FOP patients also have increased expression of BMP-4 and increased expression and activity of ALK3 [201]. As ALK2, BMP-4, and ALK3 are all altered in FOP, this suggests that aberrant signaling through the BMP signaling pathway contributes to the pathogenesis of FOP. In support of this, mice overexpressing BMP-4 under control of the neuron-specific enolase promoter develop severe postnatal heterotopic ossification, which closely resembles human FOP. Crossing these mice with mice overexpressing noggin inhibits disease progression supporting increased BMP signaling as a contributor to the pathogenesis of FOP [202].

Hunter-Thompson and Grebe-type Chondrodysplasias

Hunter-Thompson (CHTT) and Grebe-type chondrodysplasias (CGT) patients both have pronounced shortening of limb bones and are predisposed to severe knee dislocations; however, CGT patients have a more severe phenotype than CHTT patients. Both CHTT and CGT are caused by mutations in *GDF5*, with CGT patients having a mutation in a conserved cysteine in the functional domain of GDF-5 [203], while CHTT patients have missense mutations in *GDF5* that result in loss of GDF-5 expression [204]. *GDF5* deficient mice have similar phenotypes to humans with these syndromes, including structurally weaker Achilles tendons with reduced collagen composition [205].
Analysis of GDF-5 function in chick skeletal development demonstrates that GDF-5 is required for cartilage condensation and chondrocyte proliferation [203].

Osteoporosis

Osteoporosis is a common disease that occurs when there is an imbalance between bone resorption and formation. Patients present with decreased bone mass and increased susceptibility to fractures. Women are at a two-fold greater risk than men for developing this disease. The genetic contributors to osteoporosis are still being defined as there are likely many genetic modifiers that contribute to this disease [206]. Several TGF- β superfamily members have been implicated as candidate genes in osteoporosis, including TGFB1, BMP2, BMP4, and SOST (sclerostin) [206]. Several polymorphisms in TGFB1 have been identified in patients with osteoporosis; G(-1639)-A, C(-1348)-T, C(-765)insC, T(29)-C, G(74)-C, 713-8delC, C(788)-T, and T(816-20)-C [207]. Many of these TGFB1 polymorphisms are associated with higher serum TGF-B1 levels and significantly lower bone mass [208], and patients with one of these polymorphisms exhibit a reduced response to vitamin D treatment [209]. Another study identified singlenucleotide polymorphisms in several TGF- β pathway components in patients with osteoporosis including TGFBR1, TGFBR2, SMAD2, SMAD3, SMAD4, and SMAD7 [210]. The relevance of these polymorphisms remains to be established.

Bone morphogenetic proteins have also been implicated in contributing to osteoporosis since they are critical regulators of bone homeostasis. Polymorphisms in *BMP2* have been associated with low bone mineral density and increased fracture incidence [211], although a subsequent study on a larger population did not confirm this

result [212]. In addition, a polymorphism in *BMP4* has been identified that affects hip bone density in post-menopausal women [213]. Finally, Resveratrol, a natural compound with estrogenic activity, has been explored as a potential osteoporosis therapy due to its ability to potently stimulate osteoclast differentiation and increase bone mass in a rat model. Resveratrol may function in part by inducing BMP-2 mRNA expression and stimulating BMP-2 mediated osteoblast differentiation [214].

Sclerosteosis and Van Buchem Disease

Sclerosteosis and Van Buchem Disease (VBD) are closely related rare autosomal recessive diseases that affect the skeletal system [215]. Both diseases are associated with overgrowth of the skull and jaw, facial palsy, hearing loss, and loss of smell. Sclerosteosis is more severe than VBD as patients have increased intracranial pressure and have been reported to die suddenly from brain stem impaction. Sclerosteosis has more clinical features including syndactyly, gigantism, dental malocclusion, and nail hypoplasia. These diseases have been linked to the same gene with Sclerosteosis resulting from mutations within *SOST* (encodes sclerostin) and VBD resulting from a 52kB deletion 32kB downstream of *SOST*, which deletes an enhancer element that regulates SOST expression [215]. Four mutations in *SOST* have been identified in patients with Sclerosteosis, including two mutations that result in a premature stop codon in exon 1, and a base substitution, that results in an incorrectly spliced message [215-217].

Sclerostin is a BMP antagonist abundantly expressed in long bones and cartilage [34, 215, 218]. This restricted expression is consistent with patients exhibiting only

36

skeletal clinical manifestations. Sclerostin is expressed exclusively by osteocytes in human bone, and it inhibits the differentiation and mineralization activity of osteoblasts in vitro. Therefore, sclerostin is thought to negatively regulate bone mass. The current model for the pathogenesis of these diseases is that sclerostin is normally produced by osteocytes and transported to the bone surface, where it inhibits the later stages of bone formation by binding and sequestering BMPs. In Sclerosteosis and VBD patients, as there is no inhibitory signal, osteoblasts continue to deposit bone leading to increased bone mass [218]. Patient's clinical manifestations support this model with bone biopsies indicating increased activity of osteoblasts and higher serum alkaline phosphatase levels, which contribute to patients being resistant to acquiring bone fractures [215]. The importance of sclerostin in inhibiting bone mass is evident from the sclerostin overexpressing mouse, which has reduced osteoblast activity and bone mass, as well as disorganized bone architecture [219]. Taken together these studies demonstrate that careful regulation of sclerostin is critical for normal bone development and growth.

Brachydactyly and Symphalangism

Brachydactyly type C (BDC) is associated with shortening and occasionally the complete loss of digits. Brachydactyly type A2 (BDA2) is an autosomal dominant disorder resulting in shortening and lateral deviation of the index fingers and, to a variable degree, shortening and deviation of the first and second toes. These diseases are both associated with defects in signaling through GDF-5 and ALK6, with mutations in *GDF5* that reduce the binding affinity of GDF-5 to ALK6 in BDC, and heterozygous missense mutations in the GS and kinase domains of ALK6 in BDA2 [220]. The

importance of GDF-5 and ALK6 in skeletal development is evident from the phenotype of the knock-out mice, with *GDF5* knock-out mice having severe limb reduction and joint malformations [221], and *BMPR1B* knock-out mice failing to generate digit cartilage, similarly to the human phenotype [220]

Symphalangism (SYM1) is a disease that is characterized by fusion of the joints in the hands and feet. SYM1 is also associated with defects in signaling through GDF-5 and ALK6, with mutations in *GDF5* increasing the binding affinity of GDF-5 for ALK6. SYM1 has also been linked to mutations in the BMP antagonist *NOG* (encodes noggin), which are predicted to decrease noggin's ability to bind to BMPs and GDFs [222]. *NOG* knock-out mice exhibit cartilage overproduction and joint malformations, while *NOG* heterozygotes have a similar phenotype to human SYM1 with loss of joint cartilage and fusion [221], supporting a role for dysregulated noggin function in this disease.

Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy

Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) is the most common inherited lethal muscle wasting disease. Patients present at a young age, with muscle weakness that interferes with their mobility. Eventually patients die from cardiovascular or respiratory failure. This disease is caused by mutations in muscle dystrophin, resulting in insufficient protein levels. There is some phenotypic variability in patients, suggesting that there are other genetic or environmental modifiers that contribute to this disease [223]. Recently, several missense mutations in *GDF8* (encodes myostatin) were identified in DMD patients [223]. Myostatin is a muscle-specific TGF- β superfamily ligand that functions to limit muscle growth; as evident from myostatin deficient mice

and cattle, which show a marked increase in body weight, muscle mass, and strength [224, 225]. In addition, crossing a DMD mouse model with a *GDF8* knock-out mouse produced mice with increased muscle mass and stronger muscle [226], while administration of myostatin blocking antibodies to a DMD mouse model increased body weight, muscle mass, size, and strength with no long term obvious side effects [225, 226]. Finally, a homozygous mutation in *GDF8* was identified in an infant that exhibited gross muscle hypertrophy [227]. Taken together, these observations suggest mutations in myostatin may contribute to the pathogenesis of DMD, and that targeting myostatin function may be a useful therapeutic strategy for treating the muscle wasting symptoms in DMD patients.

Reproductive Disorders

TGF- β superfamily members exert critical functions in the female reproductive system. They regulate all aspects of ovarian follicle development; primordial follicle recruitment, granulosa and theca cell proliferation, gonadotropin receptor expression, oocyte maturation, ovulation, luteinization, and corpus luteum formation [228]. The most well studied TGF- β superfamily members in the reproductive system are activin and inhibin, which were originally identified as components of gonadal fluid that stimulated or inhibited follicle stimulating hormone (FSH) release, respectively [229]. Inhibin was subsequently found to antagonize activin signaling by binding to T β RIII and sequestering activin type II receptors into a complex so they cannot transduce activin mediated signals [15]. Follistatin is another activin antagonist that binds to activin and prevents activin from binding to cell surface receptors. Follistatin and inhibin also antagonize specific

BMP-mediated signals [229]. The importance of activin and inhibin in normal reproductive processes is evident from the phenotypes in murine models: (1) inhibin A overexpressing male mice have decreased testis size and female mice do not have mature follicles due to inadequate FSH secretion from the pituitary gland [230]; (2) *ACVR2* knock-out females are infertile and males have small testis, phenotypes that are similar to the inhibin overexpressing mice [231]; (3) *activin-beta* subunit knock-out mice have delayed child-birth and nursing defects [232]; and (4) knocking out *FST* (encodes follistatin) in granulosa cells of the postnatal ovary results in reduced reproductive capacity and often infertility [233]. We will now discuss the contribution of these TGF- β superfamily members to specific reproductive diseases.

Premature Ovarian Failure

Premature ovarian failure (POF) occurs in up to 1% of women and is a common cause of infertility. POF is diagnosed when there is absent menstruation or premature depletion of ovarian follicles before the age of 40 years. POF is associated with high levels of gonadotropins and estrogen [234]. A contributor to POF is ovarian dysgenesis (OD), which is defective gonadal development where the ovaries can be replaced by a gonadal streak rather than true ovaries. Most cases of OD are associated with major X-chromosome abnormalities; however, OD can affect patients with normal X chromosomes. BMP-15 has been implicated in contributing to OD, with several mutations identified in *BMP15* in patients with OD, but not in control subjects, including a heterozygous substitution mutation in the pro region of *BMP15* (Y235C) [235, 236]. Animal models have supported a role for BMP-15 in ovarian development, as

GDF9/BMP15 double knock-out mice have fewer fertilized oocytes and those that do become fertilized take longer to develop to the blastocyst stage [237]. Mutations in *BMP15* in sheep are also associated with an increased ovulation rate and infertility in a dosage-sensitive manner [238].

A mutation in *INHA* (encodes inhibin alpha subunit) has been identified in many patients with POF (A257T) [239, 240]. The effects of this mutation on inhibin-mediated suppression of activin activity were assessed by transfecting an activin responsive luciferase promoter into multiple activin responsive cell lines. Adding wild-type inhibin alpha suppressed the activity of this promoter 5 fold, whereas the POF-associated *INHA* mutant form exhibited no inhibitory activity. This inability to suppress activin signaling was not a result of inappropriate dimerization with the inhibin beta subunit [239]. An inhibin binding receptor, *TGFBR3*, has also been implicated in POF as there is an increased occurrence of a polymorphism in exon 12 of *TGFBR3* in patients with POF. The consequences of this mutation in patients with POF requires further investigation [241].

Persistent Müllerian Duct Syndrome

The Sertoli cells of the testes produce two hormones seven weeks post gestation that are required for the male embryo to develop a normal internal reproductive tract; (1) testosterone induces the Wolffian ducts to differentiate into epididymidis, vas deferens, and seminal vesicles; and (2) Müllerian inhibiting substance (MIS), which causes regression of the Müllerian ducts. If MIS is absent, then these ducts develop into the Fallopian tubes, uterus, and upper vagina as observed in female embryos [242, 243]. In a

rare autosomal recessive disorder, there is persistence of Müllerian duct derivatives including the uterus and fallopian tubes in genetic males otherwise normally virilized. Persistent Müllerian duct syndrome (PMDS) results from a mutation in *MIS*, that leads to very low levels of circulating MIS even before puberty, when MIS levels would normally be high [244]. Patients with PMDS can be homozygous or heterozygous. Although most patients are homozygous, the clinical manifestations in heterozygous patients indicate that PMDS can arise from MIS haploinsufficiency [244]. There have been 38 mutations in *MIS* identified to date, mostly missense that affect the bioactive carboxy terminus. *MIS* mutants, when expressed in epithelial cells, are retained in the endoplasmic reticulum and not secreted. Structural modeling predicts that many of these mutations would affect the folding and stability of MIS [243].

In PMDS patients with normal levels of serum MIS, mutations in *AMHR2* [encodes MIS Type II receptor (MISRII)] have been identified [244]. Patients with *MIS* or *AMHR2* mutations are clinically indistinguishable. Mutations in *AMHR2* affect the entire gene and result in inappropriate targeting of the receptor to the cell surface [245], truncation before the transmembrane domain leading to a soluble unstable receptor [243, 245], truncation immediately after the transmembrane domain that results in a dominant negative receptor, or disruption of the substrate-binding site of the kinase domain [245, 246]. There is a subset of PMDS patients that do not carry mutations in *MIS* or *AMHR2*. These patients have been screened for mutations in other TGF- β superfamily members including *ACVR1*, *BMPR1A*, and *BMPR1B*; however, no mutations in these genes have been identified to date [243].

Hereditary Cancer Syndromes

Juvenile Polyposis Syndrome

Juvenile Polyposis Syndrome (JPS) is an autosomal dominant disorder that causes multiple hamartomatous polyps in the gastrointestinal tract, predominantly in the colon, at a young age, and predisposes individuals to gastrointestinal tract cancers, including colorectal, gastric, small intestinal, and pancreatic cancer, with a lifetime risk for colorectal cancer as high as 50%. Germline mutations in three TGF- β superfamily members have been identified in JPS patients, with 20% having *SMAD4* mutations, 20% having *BMPR1A* mutations, and *ENG* mutations have been established in a very small subset of patients [73, 247, 248]. Similarly to other human cancers, the majority of the *SMAD4* mutations are in the MH2 domain; however, five mutations have also been identified in the linker region and one in the MH1 domain. The majority of mutations in *BMPR1A* are within the kinase domain. As about a third of JPS patients do not have mutations in *SMAD4* or *BMPR1A*, other TGF- β superfamily members might be mutated in this disease. Thus far, *BMPR1B*, *BMPR2*, and *ACVRL1* have been excluded as potential genes that contribute to JPS [73].

Hereditary Nonpolyposis Colorectal Cancer

The most common hereditary condition that predisposes patients to developing colorectal cancer is the autosomal dominant disorder Hereditary Nonpolyposis Colorectal Cancer (HNPCC). HNPCC results from germ-line mutation of genes within the DNA mismatch repair system, which contribute to microsatellite instability. Microsatellites are repetitive DNA sequences that are spread across the genome and are prone to mutation

during DNA replication, particularly when there are defects in the DNA mismatch repair system [249]. The *TGFBR2* gene is a hot spot for inactivation in patients with HNPCC as it contains a 10 base pair polyadenine repeat microsatellite sequence [250]. Indeed, up to 80% of colon cancer patients with HNPCC have a *TGFBR2* mutation. Recently, a polymorphism in *TGFBRI* (*TGFBR1**6A) was identified in a subset of patients with HNPCC [251]. The significance of this finding remains to be established.

Bannayan-Riley-Ruvalcaba and Cowden Syndromes

Cowden-syndrome (CS) is an autosomal dominant cancer syndrome associated with abnormal growths in various organs that predisposes patients to breast, thyroid, and endometrial cancers. Bannayan-Riley-Ruvalcaba (BRR) is a disorder that manifests at birth and is associated with gastrointestinal polyposis. These diseases are usually associated with a *PTEN* mutation; however, one patient with CS and BRR symptoms with no *PTEN* mutation was identified as having a mutation in *BMPR1A* [252]. The contribution of this mutation to these syndromes remains to be defined.

Sporadic Cancer

The contribution of TGF- β signaling to human cancer has been extensively studied and we and others have previously reviewed this topic [253-255]. The TGF- β signaling pathway has complex and contradictory roles in the pathogenesis of human cancers. In general, TGF- β acts as a tumor suppressor early in carcinogenesis, inhibiting growth and promoting differentiation and apoptosis when appropriate, but then switches to a tumor promoter later in carcinogenesis, promoting the growth, survival, motility,

invasion, and metastasis of tumors that have formed. TGF- β affects both the cancer cells, regulating their growth and survival, and the tumor microenvironment, regulating the composition of the extracellular matrix, angiogenesis, and immune surveillance. Indeed, TGF- β contributes to all aspects of tumorigenesis including: (1) growth stimulation; (2) evasion of apoptosis; (3) promotion of angiogenesis; (4) immune evasion; and (5) promotion of invasion and metastasis [253, 256]. The importance of the TGF- β signaling pathway in human cancers is evident from the frequent alteration of TGF- β signaling components in hereditary human cancers (Table 2) and sporadic cancers (Table 3).

There is increasing evidence that the BMP signaling pathway, in addition to being mutated in several hereditary cancer predisposition syndromes, also contributes to sporadic cancer progression. Similarly to TGF- β , BMPs contribute to numerous aspects of tumorigenesis including: (1) increasing the motility and invasiveness of prostate [257] and colon [258] cancer cells, (2) stimulating the growth of pancreatic [259], and prostate and bladder cancer cells [260] and (3) inhibiting the apoptosis of colon cancer cells [258].

Breast Cancer

TGF- β critically regulates normal mammary growth and development and numerous alterations in the TGF- β signaling pathway have been described in human breast cancer. At the ligand level, a polymorphism in the *TGFB1* gene, specifically a thymine to cytosine transition in the 29th nucleotide in the coding sequence that results in a leucine to proline substitution at the 10th amino acid has been identified and linked to increased serum levels of TGF- β 1 and an increased risk of breast cancer [261, 262]. However, some studies have failed to confirm an increased risk for carriers of this

polymorphism in their cohort [263]. In addition, this polymorphism has been examined as a prognostic marker, with the C allele of the T29C polymorphism predicting decreased survival for breast cancer patients [264]. A polymorphism in the promoter of *TGFB2* has also been identified that enhances gene transcription and increases TGF- β 2 protein levels. This polymorphism has been associated with a 5 fold increase in lymph node metastasis [265].

In terms of the TGF- β signaling receptors, two polymorphisms in TGFBR1 (TGFBR1*6A, Int7G24A) have been identified in patients with breast cancer [266, 267]. These polymorphisms may serve as low penetrance tumor susceptibility alleles and have also been described in colon, cervix, and ovarian cancer patients. Recently the effect of these allelic variations on breast cancer risk was assessed, with one study supporting an association of the TGFBR1*6A allele with an increased risk of familial breast cancer and as a potential marker for poorly differentiated breast cancer [268], and another supporting an association of the Int7G24A allele with invasion and metastasis [269]. Mutations or alterations in TGFBR1 and TGFBR2 are infrequent in human breast cancers. While a specific mutation of TGFBR1, a C to A transversion at nucleotide 1160 of the gene, has been reported to occur at high frequency (42%) in breast cancer metastases [270], a subsequent study failed to confirm this observation [271]. We recently demonstrated that there is frequent loss of T β RIII expression in human breast cancers, due to loss of heterozygosity of the TGFBR3 gene locus, transcriptional downregulation by elevated TGF- β levels, and perhaps epigenetic regulation. Loss of T β RIII expression contributes to the pathogenesis of breast cancer, with a specific role in regulating breast cancer progression and metastasis [272]. Loss of TβRIII expression correlated with the

progression from pre-invasive disease to invasive disease and from primary to metastatic disease. Importantly, restoring T β RIII expression in breast cancer cells inhibited tumor invasiveness in vitro and tumor invasion, angiogenesis, and metastasis in vivo. Finally, low T β RIII levels predicted decreased recurrence-free survival in breast cancer patients [272].

Mutations in *SMAD2*, *SMAD3*, and *SMAD4* are infrequent in human breast cancers [273]. Tissue array studies have supported this observation with 92% of human breast cancers expressing Smad2 and Smad4, and are TGF- β responsive as demonstrated by phospho-Smad2 staining, while only 2% lacked Smad4 expression [274].

Other TGF-β superfamily ligands are also likely to have a role in breast carcinogenesis. Breast cancers metastasize to the bone frequently, suggesting that breast cancer cells express genes that enable them to thrive within the bone environment. As BMPs are critical regulators of bone homeostasis [275], and breast cancer cells express all the components of the BMP pathway and are BMP responsive, BMPs are poised to regulate breast cancer pathogenesis [276]. Recently decreased BMP-7 expression in primary breast cancer specimens was associated with bone metastases, while increasing BMP-7 levels in a bone metastasis mouse model inhibited breast cancer cells in vivo [278], high levels of ALK6 are associated with increased tumor grade, proliferation, and a poorer prognosis for patients [279], while BMP-4 increases breast cancer cell invasiveness [280]. These studies suggest that the BMP axis promotes breast cancer progression but inhibits metastasis of breast cancer to the bone.

47

Colorectal Cancer

TGF- β is a critical regulator of normal colonic epithelial homeostasis. Loss of TGF- β responsiveness occurs frequently during colon cancer progression, usually though mutational inactivation of *TGFBR2* or *SMAD4* [253]. Colorectal cancers can be divided based on their genetic stability, with about 12% of colorectal cancer exhibiting microsatellite instability (MIS) due to errors in mismatch repair. While some MIS(+) colorectal cancers are due to HNPCC, most are sporadic. In either case, MIS(+) tumors are more likely to have mutations in *TGFBR2* gene [281]. Overall approximately 30% of colorectal cancers exhibit mutations in *TGFBR2*. Mouse models support a role for T β RII in their colonic cancer progression as crossing *APC* null mice with mice lacking T β RII in their colonic epithelium significantly increases the number of intestinal adenocarcinomas as compared to *APC* null mice mated to wild-type T β RII expressing mice [282].

While the *SMAD4* gene is mutated or deleted in about 16-25% of colorectal cancers [281], *SMAD2* is mutated in only about 6% of colorectal cancers [283], and mutations in *SMAD3* have not been identified. However, Smad3 may also contribute to colon carcinogenesis, as one murine model lacking Smad3 developed metastatic colon adenocarcinomas by six months of age [283]. TGF- β signaling in the tumor microenvironment is also critical for tumor progression. When *SMAD4* is knocked out in T-cells, there was a marked increase in the occurrence of gastrointestinal tumors [284]. An important tumor suppressive function for TGF- β in the colon is inhibition of cyclooxygenase 2, an enzyme involved in prostaglandin synthesis, which is significantly

increased early in colon tumorigenesis, and has been shown in mice to be required for tumor progression [285].

Recently a study characterized the risk of advanced colorectal adenoma with *TGFB1* polymorphisms. The genetic alterations that resulted in increased serum levels of *TGFB1* (*TGFB1*-509TT, 10Pro/Pro) were associated with a greater risk of advanced colorectal cancer, especially in patients with multiple adenomas and rectal adenoma [286].

There is much less known about the contribution of other TGF- β superfamily members to colon cancer; however, there is evidence for a role of BMPs in colon cancer progression. As mentioned previously, loss of *BMPR1A* contributes to hereditary colon cancer progression, BMPs are upregulated in colon cancer [287], and BMPs can increase the invasiveness of colon cancer cells in vitro [287, 288]. Recently, *BMPR2* was knocked out in stromal cells of the colorectal mucosa in mice and this resulted in hyperplasia throughout the colonic epithelium due to increased proliferation and decreased apoptosis. These mice developed polyps throughout the colon and experienced intestinal bleeding [289]. This data supports a potential tumor suppressor role of BMPRII in the tumor microenvironment.

Pancreatic Cancer

TGF- β is a critical regulator of pancreatic cancer homeostasis [290], and components of the TGF- β pathway are often the target of disruption during pancreatic carcinogenesis. In a majority of human pancreatic cancers and cell lines; mutations in *TGFBR1* and *TGFBR2* have been identified that alter protein and/or mRNA levels [291-

293]. In addition, SMAD4 is mutated in 50% of all human pancreatic cancers, supporting an important tumor suppressor role for the TGF- β pathway [294, 295]. Mouse models support the importance of altered TGF- β signaling in pancreatic cancer progression. *KRAS* is mutated in 90% of human pancreatic cancers and is thought to initiate the events that promote tumor progression. When one copy of SMAD4 is inactivated in mice harboring this mutation, they develop mucinous cystic neoplasms that progress to invasive ductal adenocarcinomas [296]. When TGFBR2 is knocked out in mice with an active KRAS mutation, 100% of the mice develop aggressive pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma [297]. In human patients, TGF- β 1 and TGF- β 2 levels are high and this correlates with tumor growth and metastasis [298, 299]. Recently we determined that $T\beta RIII mRNA$ and protein expression is reduced in pancreatic adenocarcinoma, and this loss in expression correlates with increased tumor grade [300]. This loss of TBRIII expression occurs during epithelial to mesenchymal (EMT), a process in which nonmotile polarized epithelial cells acquire motility and invasiveness which contributes to metastasis. The loss of T_βRIII is required for the induction of motility and invasiveness of pancreatic cancer cells, but not the other aspects of EMT, such as decreases in Ecadherin or induction of Snail expression [300].

Lung Cancer

Lung cancer is categorized into small cell lung cancer and nonsmall cell lung cancer (NSCLC), which includes adenocarcinoma, squamous cell carcinoma, large cell carcinoma, and giant cell carcinoma [301]. TGF- β signaling critically regulates lung development and homeostasis. In NSCLC, the progression of premalignant

bronchoepithelial lesions towards invasive carcinoma is associated with a decrease in T β RII expression at the mRNA and protein level [302-304]. A 16bp microdeletion in exon 4 of TGFBR2 has been identified in patients with giant and large cell variants of nonsmall cell lung carcinoma. This mutation results in a premature stop codon that produces a truncated receptor that is expressed at the cell surface, which has a mutated transmembrane domain and no kinase domain. Lung cancer cells harboring this mutation are unresponsive to TGF- β -mediated growth inhibition and fibronectin synthesis [301]. Loss of T β RII expression increases the invasiveness of lung cancer cells [304], and this invasion is dependent on the activity of RANTES, a chemokine that is secreted by inflammatory cells and tumor cells [305]. TβRIII mRNA and protein expression are also frequently reduced in NSCLC patients, with loss correlating with increased tumor grade and disease progression [306]. This loss of $T\beta RIII$ expression results in increased migration, invasion, and anchorage-independent growth in vitro and tumor growth in vivo, supporting TBRIII as a tumor suppressor gene in NSCLC [306]. NSCLC patients also occasionally harbor mutations in SMAD4 and SMAD2, in 7% and 4% of cases, respectively. In contrast to NSCLC, most small cell lung cancer patients become resistant to TGF- β through loss of T β RII expression, through mechanisms that remain to be determined [307].

The lungs are often the target of metastasis, especially by breast cancer cells. There is also evidence for TGF- β in promoting metastasis to the lungs; (1) administration of a T β RI kinase inhibitor inhibited lung metastasis in an orthotopic xenograft model of lung metastasis and in an intracardiac injection model of experimental lung metastasis by the breast cancer cell line, MDA-MB-435-F-L [308], and (2) TGF- β promotes expression

51

of inflammatory chemoattractants and myeloid cell recruitment in the lungs, which attract primary tumor cells to infiltrate the lungs [309].

BMPs also have an emerging role in lung cancer. There is aberrant expression of BMP-2 in 98% of human lung cancers, and there are increased levels of phosphorylated Smad1/5, and the BMP-responsive gene, Id-1 in human lung tumors, supporting increased BMP signaling in human lung cancer [310]. BMP-2 increases the growth of human lung cancer epithelial cells both in vitro and in vivo in nude mice, [310], and it was recently shown that BMP-2 induces the transformation of lung cancer cells via activation of the PI(3)K/mTOR pathway [311]. Overall these data indicate that BMP signaling critically contributes to lung cancer progression.

Prostate Cancer

TGF- β is thought to critically regulate androgen-dependence in the prostate and to contribute to the progression of prostate cancer by promoting the resistance of prostate cancer cells to inhibitory hormonal growth signals [312]. A polymorphism has been identified in *TGFB1* (C-509T) that increases its expression and is associated with a two-fold greater risk for developing late stage prostate cancer [313]. Numerous animal model studies suggest that aberrant TGF- β signaling contributes to prostate cancer progression including: (1) blocking TGF- β signaling by expressing a dominant negative T β RII suppressed androgen-independent growth of prostate tumor cells in nude mice [314]; (2) expression of a dominant negative T β RII in the prostate of a prostate cancer mouse model increased metastasis [315]; (3) expression of wild-type T β RII in prostate cancer cells reduced their growth by inducing apoptosis [316]; and (4) expression of a dominant

negative Smad3 abrogated the growth and metastasis of prostate cancer cells in nude mice [317].

In human patients, there is evidence for increased TGF- β signaling in advanced prostate cancer including: (1) elevated serum levels of TGF- β 1 [318]; (2) a positive correlation between TGF- β 1 serum levels and Prostate Specific Antigen (PSA) levels, a bio-marker associated with prostate cancer [319]; (3) increased expression of Smad3 in prostate tumors [317]; and (4) nuclear overexpression of Smad4 in prostatic tumor tissue [320]. We have recently demonstrated that loss of T β RIII expression is an important contributor to human prostate cancer progression. T β RIII expression is reduced in prostatic tumor tissue and re-expression of T β RIII in prostate cancer cells reduced their invasiveness and growth in nude mice [321].

Several other TGF-β superfamily members have been implicated in suppressing prostate cancer progression. GDF-15 has been associated with early stages of prostate cancer; in a prostate cancer mouse model, there is a significant increase in the levels of GDF-15 during hyperplasia and prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia development [322]. In addition, BMP-7 expression is reduced in advanced prostate adenocarcinoma, and administration of BMP-7 to mice potently inhibits prostate cancer bone metastasis [323].

Developmental Disorders

Appropriate TGF- β superfamily signaling is critical during embryogenesis from the initial stages of blastula formation, during gastrulation, and throughout the multiple stages of organ development. Misregulation of TGF- β superfamily signaling is often

lethal, as demonstrated by the embryonic lethal phenotypes of knock-out mouse models of numerous TGF- β superfamily signaling components [67].

Cleft Palate

Cleft Palate (CP) is one of the most common congenital malformations, which can be associated with other diseases (see Marfan Syndrome and Loeys-Dietz sections). CP arises from failure of the adherence of the two palatal shelves or from failure of the medial edge epithelial cells of the palate to undergo epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT), in which adherent and non-motile medial edge epithelial cells acquire motility and invasiveness [324]. EMT is associated with the loss of epithelial markers including E-cadherin and cytokeratins, which are important in the maintenance of epithelial cell junctions, and gain of mesenchymal markers including vimentin and N-cadherin. The TGF- β pathway is an important regulator of EMT, as TGF- β initiates and maintains EMT in many different systems in vitro and in vivo [325]. CP is thought to arise from genetic and environmental modifiers. Several polymorphisms have been identified in *TGFB2* and *TGFB3* that are associated with CP [326, 327].

Although, there have not been many polymorphisms in *TGFB1* identified in CP patients and the TGF- β signaling mechanisms are still being defined, mouse models indicate an essential role for TGF- β in proper palate development. When *TGFBR1* is knocked out in embryonic ectoderm and neural crest lineages in mice, they develop CP [328]. *TGFB3* knock-out mice also exhibit CP with complete penetrance [329], and this phenotype can be rescued by crossing these mice with mice overexpressing Smad2 [330].

Situs Inversus and Situs Ambiguus

Humans have conserved left-right visceral asymmetries, for example the leftsided heart and spleen and right-sided liver and gall bladder. When there are errors in establishing this asymmetry, serious human diseases can arise such as Situs Inversus (SI), which is a mirror-image reversal of normal symmetry or Situs Ambiguus (SA), abnormal placement of certain organs. SA is usually more severe as it is associated with fatal cardiac malformations that often lead to death, and affects the digestive system including the liver, biliary tract, and bowel. Chromosome abnormalities, maternal diabetes, and retinoic acid exposure during pregnancy have all been implicated in contributing to SI and SA. However, recently several TGF- β superfamily members have been shown to directly regulate left-right axis determination, including nodal [331]. Nodal is normally expressed on the left side of embryos during development, and in a mouse model that exhibits mirror-image reversal of normal symmetry, nodal is expressed on the right-side Mice deficient in nodal exhibit left-right malformations including abnormal [332]. placement of the heart, lungs, and digestive organs [333]. These potent effects of Nodal on left-right axis determination in mice prompted sequencing analysis of the NODAL gene in human patients with SA. A mutation in the prodomain of NODAL (R183Q) was identified in a patient with SA, as well as in her mother who did not exhibit SA [334].

Similarly to Nodal, Lefty-1 and Lefty-2 are also expressed asymmetrically during development [335, 336]; they are expressed only in the left half of gastrulating mouse embryos, and in mice that exhibit SI, there is an inversion of Lefty-1 expression [335, 336]. Lefty-1 knock-out mice exhibit left-sided morphology of both lungs, cardiac malformations, abnormalities of the inferior vena cava, and there are alterations in the

asymmetric expression of Lefty-2 and Nodal, suggesting that Lefty-1 regulates the expression of these TGF- β superfamily members [337]. Mutations in *LEFTY1* have been identified in human patients with left-right malformations. In 112 sporadic cases of left-right axis malformations, 2 mutations were found in *LEFTY1*. Both mutations affect the cysteine knot, which mediates receptor binding. One mutation introduces a premature stop codon, producing a truncated protein, and the other is a single base change that affects a conserved serine. The patients with these two mutations had similar clinical manifestations including left ventricle hyperplasia, atrioventricular canal defect, left-sided superior vena cavae, and left-sided lungs, which is similar to the phenotype of the *LEFTY1^{-/-}* mouse. These mutations were not identified in the affected individual's parents, supporting the somatic nature of these mutations [338].

GDF-1 has also been implicated in left-right patterning in mice. Unlike Nodal and Lefty-1, GDF-1 is expressed throughout the embryo at first, and then is localized to the primitive node, ventral neural tube, and lateral plate mesoderm. Mice deficient in *GDF1* exhibit SA, and have misexpression of Lefty-1, Lefty-2, and Nodal, suggesting that GDF-1 may be upstream of these other TGF- β superfamily members [339]. No mutations in *GDF1* have been identified thus far in humans with SA or SI.

Emerging role for TGF-β superfamily members in other Human Diseases

This review has focused on diseases in which TGF- β superfamily signaling has been extensively studied and importantly (Figure 3, Tables II and III), where alterations in TGF- β superfamily signaling components have been directly linked to human disease (Table II). However, TGF- β superfamily members are continually being linked to other

diseases. For example, alterations in TGF- β 1 expression have been observed in several neurological disorders including: autism [340], schizophrenia [341], Parkinson's disease [342], multiple sclerosis [343], and Alzheimer's disease [344], while activin expression is altered in Huntington's and Parkinson's disease [345]. Mouse models have been developed for many of these diseases, so it will be beneficial to determine how targeting TGF- β superfamily members affects the progression of these diseases. Recently, *TGFB1* polymorphisms were identified in patients with otosclerosis [346], a progressive loss of hearing that results from increased remodeling of the otic capsule, as well as in psoriases [347], biliary cirrhosis [348], and childhood asthma [349]. Thus the range of diseases in which TGF- β superfamily members have a role will likely continue to grow.

Other TGF- β superfamily members, particularly the BMPs are continually being implicated in human diseases. Recently, BMPs were implicated in iron metabolic disorders, including anemia and hemochromatosis (iron overload). Hemojuvelin is a BMP co-receptor that participates in the positive regulation of levels of the liver hormone hepcidin, which regulates iron balance by decreasing the cell surface expression of the iron exporter ferroportin and thus decreases iron absorption in the stomach [350]. Mutations in BMP family members have been identified in patients with hemochromatosis including *BMP2*, *BMP4*, and *HJV* [351]. Modulating the BMP pathway in patients with these disorders has recently been proposed, as administering BMP-2 to mice increases hepcidin expression and decreases serum iron levels, while administering soluble hemojuvelin has a reciprocal effect [352].

57

TGF-β Superfamily Members as Diagnostic, Prognostic or Predictive Markers

Since specific alterations in TGF- β superfamily members contribute to numerous human diseases (Table II, Table III and Figure 3), these alterations could serve as valuable diagnostic, prognostic, or predictive markers. In particular, assessing ligand levels or levels of soluble TGF- β superfamily receptors in serum is useful due to the ease and accessibility of these specimens, and ability to monitor over time.

Several TGF- β superfamily signaling components have been assessed as prognostic markers for several cardiovascular diseases. Recently high serum levels of soluble endoglin during the second trimester of pregnancy were determined to be predictive of developing pre-eclampsia [118]. This information is useful clinically as it enables physicians to determine which patients need closer supervision and how aggressively to treat patients at risk for pre-eclampsia. In addition, in patients with coronary artery disease, high levels of TGF- β 1 in the blood are significantly associated with increased patient survival, with fewer coronary events and need for interventions [353]. In contrast, after angioplasty, there is a greater risk of developing restenosis in those patients that have higher levels of TGF- β 1 in their blood 15min, 24hr, and 2 weeks after the procedure was performed [354], suggesting that these patients would benefit from additional interventions to prevent restenosis.

Since TGF- β exerts potent tumor promoting activity later in tumorigenesis, levels of TGF- β signaling components have frequently been assessed as potential prognostic markers in several cancer types. Increased serum levels of TGF- β 1 has been implicated as a marker of advanced disease and poor prognosis in multiple cancers including esophageal adenocarcinoma [355], gastric carcinoma [356], colorectal cancer [357],

pancreatic cancer [358], hepatocellular cancer [359], and breast cancer [360]. Decreased levels of TGF- β receptors within the tumor cells have also been associated with poor outcome including: (1) reduced T β RII expression is associated with increased lymph node metastasis and reduced survival of colon cancer patients [361]; (2) reduced expression of TBRI and TBRII is associated with the pathologic stage, metastasis, and decreased survival of esophageal cancer patients [361]; (3) reduced expression of TBRII is associated with the progression of premalignant lung lesions to carcinoma in situ [302]; and (4) reduced expression of T β RIII is associated with disease progression and a poorer prognosis for breast and prostate cancer patients [272, 321]. Measuring levels of TGF- β superfamily downstream signaling effectors has also been proposed as a prognostic marker as loss of phosphorylated Smad2/3 expression is associated with a shorter disease-free survival in breast cancer patients [362], patients with gastric tumors with high Smad4 expression and low Smad7 expression have higher survival rates [363], and loss of Smad2 and Smad4 expression in colon tumors is associated with advanced disease including lymph node metastasis and a shorter survival rate [364]. These studies suggest that profiling the TGF- β signaling pathway may aid in defining an appropriate treatment approach for individual patients.

Other TGF- β superfamily members have been assessed as prognostic markers in various tumor types including: (1) the promoter of *BMP6* is hypermethylated, resulting in decreased BMP-6 expression, in aggressive diffuse large B cell lymphoma and this is associated with reduced survival [365]; (2) BMP-7 expression is increased in malignant melanomas and their metastases, and this correlates with shorter tumor recurrence [366];

and (3) loss of BMPRII in prostate cancer cells correlates with the Gleason score in prostate cancer patients and is associated with reduced disease-free survival [367].

TGF- β superfamily receptors have also been used to facilitate imaging of solid tumors. Endoglin is overexpressed on endothelial cells associated with tumor induced angiogenesis [368]. Accordingly, a radioactively labeled-antibody directed to endoglin has been used to visualize solid tumors that were not detected by more conventional means in a canine model of breast cancer [369], suggesting that this might serve as a sensitive diagnostic marker of solid tumors.

Targeting TGF-β Superfamily Members Therapeutically

As with any signal transduction pathway involved in human disease, there are a myriad of methods for targeting the pathway. In addition, as either increased or decreased activity of these pathways has been implicated in the pathogenesis of different human diseases (Tables II and III), methods for both increasing and decreasing signaling through these pathways are required.

In terms of diseases with either decreased TGF- β superfamily signaling including HHT and hereditary cancer syndromes, or where elevating TGF- β superfamily signaling would be beneficial, including atherosclerotic heart disease; several mechanisms for elevating TGF- β signaling are available including: (1) administering the ligand directly; (2) using agonists; (3) increasing expression of the appropriate receptors; or (4) decreasing the expression of signaling antagonists. Recently, the efficacy of the anti-fibrinolytic drug Tranexamic Acid (TA) was assessed in preventing recurrent nosebleeds in HHT patients. TA effectively reduced the frequency and severity of nosebleeds in

patients. Mechanistically, TA increased ALK1 and endoglin mRNA and protein expression in primary endothelial cells and increased ALK1 and endoglin mediated signaling as measured using transcriptional reporter assays, migration, and tube formation assays, suggesting that TA functions to restore TGF- β superfamily signaling by increasing receptor-mediated signaling in this disease [370]. Another example of a potential stimulator of TGF- β signaling is the statin class of drugs, used to suppress cholesterol levels and decrease risk of cardiovascular disease. Recently, it was demonstrated that cholesterol decreases the binding of TGF- β to ALK5 and T β RII, and effectively suppresses TGF- β signaling; whereas, statins, drugs that inhibit cholesterol synthesis, increase TGF- β responsiveness. Therefore, patients with atherosclerosis that take statins will have decreased serum cholesterol levels as well as the added benefit of increased TGF- β signaling [371]. These examples highlight the importance of using drugs that stimulate TGF- β signaling to treat diseases that manifest from insufficient TGF- β signaling.

Alternatively, TGF- β superfamily ligands could be administered directly to patients. In an atherosclerosis mouse model, overexpression of TGF- β 1 by viral delivery suppressed atherosclerosis [129]. In addition, administering myostatin directly to patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy may be a useful therapeutic strategy to rebuild muscle mass. Due to BMP's potent stimulation of bone formation, most therapeutic interventions thus far have targeted this role; BMP-2 has been administered locally to the upper or lower jaw of patients receiving dental implants to assess whether it can stimulate bone formation [372], and at fracture sites to determine if it can accelerate healing [373].

In terms of diseases with increased TGF- β superfamily signaling including Camurati-Engelmann Disease, Fibrodysplasia Ossificans Progressiva, Marfan syndrome, and most advanced cancers, decreasing TGF- β superfamily signaling would be beneficial. There are many ways to inhibit TGF- β superfamily signaling including; (1) neutralizing antibodies; (2) soluble receptors; (3) natural or synthetic antagonists; (4) antisense nucleotides that reduce expression; and (5) small molecule inhibitors of the receptor serine/threonine kinases. Neutralizing antibodies are frequently the therapeutic method of choice for inhibiting TGF- β superfamily signaling since they are particularly effective; they bind directly to the ligand and prevent it from binding to its receptor, effectively shutting down superfamily signaling. Numerous clinical trials have been performed with neutralizing antibodies, especially in fibrotic diseases including: (1) a TGF-B2 neutralizing antibody (lerdelimumab) effectively decreased the amount of scarring after glaucoma surgery [374]; (2) a TGF- β 1 neutralizing antibody (metelimumab) is being administered to patients with systemic sclerosis, which causes scarring in skin and internal organs [375]; and (3) a pan-TGF- β (GC-1008) neutralizing antibody is currently being administered to patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis [376]. TGF-β neutralizing antibodies have frequently been assessed as anti-cancer therapeutics. The efficacy of the GC-1008 neutralizing antibody is also being assessed in patients with advanced renal carcinoma and malignant melanoma [377]. In mice, a TGFβ neutralizing antibody suppressed radiation-induced acceleration of metastatic breast cancer progression [378].

Soluble TGF- β superfamily receptors have also been utilized as therapeutic agents. Similar to neutralizing antibodies, they abrogate signaling at the ligand level by

binding ligand and preventing it from binding to cell surface receptors. For example, soluble T β RIII has demonstrated efficacy against renal damage progression associated with diabetes in mice [379], and inhibits the growth and angiogenesis of human colon and breast cancer cells in vivo [380]. Soluble T β RII has similar anti-cancer effects in mice, it suppresses the growth and metastasis of pancreatic cancer cells [381] and inhibits breast cancer cell growth, migration, invasion, and metastasis [382]. Whether this strategy will work in humans warrants further investigation.

An alternative strategy is to identify and/or develop antagonists of TGF- β superfamily signaling. In Marfan syndrome (MS), there is increased TGF- β activity due to insufficient binding by fibrillin [see MS section], suggesting use of inhibitors of TGF- β signaling in this disease. In fibrillin-1 deficient mice, a murine model of MS, the angiotensin receptor blocker losartan, which should antagonize TGF-B1 signaling through inhibition of the renin-angiotensin system (see Figure 2), prevented the development and progression of aortic aneurysms by reducing aortic wall thickness and aortic root growth, and improved aortic wall architecture [383]. This effect was attributed to suppression of TGF- β signaling as losartan reduced levels of phosphorylated Smad2 levels in the aortic walls and administration of a TGF- β neutralizing antibody was able to mimic the effects of Losartan in this model system [383]. Losartan also rescued the alveolar septation defect phenotype, which commonly occurs in human MS patients [383]. Another clinical manifestation of MS is myopathy, which is also thought to be a result of increased TGF- β signaling in muscle fibers. Similarly, losartan treatment of fibrillin-1 deficient mice also resulted in regeneration and restoration of normal muscle architecture, while reducing levels of phosphorylated Smad2 and 3, and these effects

could also be achieved by administration of a TGF- β neutralizing antibody [384]. Interestingly, these effects may not be limited to MS-associated myopathy as losartan has similar effects on muscle architecture and regeneration in the *MDX* Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) mouse model (arises from mutations in dystrophin, see DMD section) [384]. Losartan may prove to be a valuable tool for treating MS and DMD, with a current study evaluating whether losartan treatment reduces aortic root enlargement in MS patients [385].

Recently, Burmester et. al. screened a chemical library and identified 5 small molecule antagonists that specifically abrogate the ability of TGF- β to bind to its receptor and attenuate TGF- β mediated growth inhibition [386]. It will be interesting to see if these compounds are also effective in mouse models of TGF- β superfamily diseases, especially in MS and DMD where increased TGF- β signaling contributes to disease pathology.

Using antisense oligonucleotides to reduce expression of TGF- β superfamily members is a relatively new therapeutic tool that has been successful in treating cancer. A TGF- β 2-specific antisense oligodeoxynucleotide (AP 12009) prolonged the survival of high grade glioma patients with two patients experiencing complete remission [387], and it is now being considered for use in other TGF- β 2 overexpressing tumors. A TGF- β 2 antisense transgene also prolonged the survival of patients with NSCLC [388].

Small molecule inhibitors have been developed to block TGF- β superfamily signaling at the receptor level. A small molecule inhibitor (Ly573636) of T β RI/ALK5 kinase activity is currently being assessed in patients with malignant melanoma [389], soft tissue sarcoma [390], NSCLC [391], and ovarian cancer [392]. ALK5 inhibitors

64

have demonstrated efficacy in mouse models including reduction of the growth of mesothelioma, and they reduce the rate of recurrence after surgical resection [393]. Development of ALK2 inhibitors would be useful for treatment of Fibrodysplasia Ossificans Progressiva, for which there are currently no cures or effective treatments. The therapeutic benefit of specifically inhibiting TGF- β superfamily receptors in diseases other than cancer is just beginning to be realized.

Concluding Remarks

As we have described, the TGF- β superfamily regulates a plethora of vital functions throughout embryonic development and adulthood. There is tight regulation at all levels of TGF- β superfamily signaling, and when components are altered by germline or sporadic alterations, human diseases frequently arise (Figure 3). Understanding the molecular basis of these TGF- β superfamily alterations is critical to make a correct diagnosis, and to design effective therapies based on the genetic alterations in each individual patient. For many of the diseases with altered TGF- β superfamily signaling, there are no effective treatments available and patients will eventually die from progressive complications. Therefore, further work is necessary to elucidate precisely how TGF- β superfamily signaling is altered in each disease, and to define effective strategies for targeting TGF- β superfamily signaling pathways.

References

- [1] C.H. Heldin, K. Miyazono, P. ten Dijke, TGF-beta signalling from cell membrane to nucleus through SMAD proteins, Nature 390 (1997) 465-471.
- [2] K. Miyazono, S. Maeda, T. Imamura, BMP receptor signaling: transcriptional targets, regulation of signals, and signaling cross-talk, Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 16 (2005) 251-263.
- [3] M. de Caestecker, The transforming growth factor-beta superfamily of receptors, Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 15 (2004) 1-11.
- [4] P.M. Siegel, J. Massague, Cytostatic and apoptotic actions of TGF-beta in homeostasis and cancer, Nat Rev Cancer 3 (2003) 807-821.
- [5] J. Massague, R.R. Gomis, The logic of TGFbeta signaling, FEBS Lett 580 (2006) 2811-2820.
- [6] J. Massague, How cells read TGF-beta signals, Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 1 (2000) 169-178.
- [7] E.J. Battegay, E.W. Raines, R.A. Seifert, D.F. Bowen-Pope, R. Ross, TGFbeta induces bimodal proliferation of connective tissue cells via complex control of an autocrine PDGF loop, Cell 63 (1990) 515-524.
- [8] J. Massague, S.W. Blain, R.S. Lo, TGFbeta signaling in growth control, cancer, and heritable disorders, Cell 103 (2000) 295-309.
- [9] G.C. Blobe, W.P. Schiemann, H.F. Lodish, Role of transforming growth factor beta in human disease, N Engl J Med 342 (2000) 1350-1358.
- [10] R. Derynck, Y.E. Zhang, Smad-dependent and Smad-independent pathways in TGF-beta family signalling, Nature 425 (2003) 577-584.
- [11] J. Massague, J. Seoane, D. Wotton, Smad transcription factors, Genes Dev 19 (2005) 2783-2810.
- [12] Y. Shi, J. Massague, Mechanisms of TGF-beta signaling from cell membrane to the nucleus, Cell 113 (2003) 685-700.
- [13] K.C. Kirkbride, B.N. Ray, G.C. Blobe, Cell-surface co-receptors: emerging roles in signaling and human disease, Trends Biochem Sci 30 (2005) 611-621.
- [14] T.A. Samad, A. Rebbapragada, E. Bell, Y. Zhang, Y. Sidis, S.J. Jeong, J.A. Campagna, S. Perusini, D.A. Fabrizio, A.L. Schneyer, H.Y. Lin, A.H. Brivanlou, L. Attisano, C.J. Woolf, DRAGON, a bone morphogenetic protein co-receptor, J Biol Chem 280 (2005) 14122-14129.
- [15] K.A. Lewis, P.C. Gray, A.L. Blount, L.A. MacConell, E. Wiater, L.M. Bilezikjian, W. Vale, Betaglycan binds inhibin and can mediate functional antagonism of activin signalling, Nature 404 (2000) 411-414.
- [16] E. Wiater, C.A. Harrison, K.A. Lewis, P.C. Gray, W.W. Vale, Identification of distinct inhibin and transforming growth factor beta-binding sites on betaglycan: functional separation of betaglycan co-receptor actions, J Biol Chem 281 (2006) 17011-17022.
- [17] E. Wiater, W. Vale, Inhibin is an antagonist of bone morphogenetic protein signaling, J Biol Chem 278 (2003) 7934-7941.
- [18] K.C. Kirkbride, T.A. Townsend, M.W. Bruinsma, J.V. Barnett, G.C. Blobe, Bone morphogenetic proteins signal through the transforming growth factorbeta type III receptor, J Biol Chem (in press) (2008).

- [19] F. Lopez-Casillas, J.L. Wrana, J. Massague, Betaglycan presents ligand to the TGF beta signaling receptor, Cell 73 (1993) 1435-1444.
- [20] F. Lopez-Casillas, H.M. Payne, J.L. Andres, J. Massague, Betaglycan can act as a dual modulator of TGF-beta access to signaling receptors: mapping of ligand binding and GAG attachment sites, J Cell Biol 124 (1994) 557-568.
- [21] W. Chen, K.C. Kirkbride, T. How, C.D. Nelson, J. Mo, J.P. Frederick, X.F. Wang, R.J. Lefkowitz, G.C. Blobe, Beta-arrestin 2 mediates endocytosis of type III TGF-beta receptor and down-regulation of its signaling, Science 301 (2003) 1394-1397.
- [22] R. Derynck, R.J. Akhurst, A. Balmain, TGF-beta signaling in tumor suppression and cancer progression, Nat Genet 29 (2001) 117-129.
- [23] A.J. Galliher, W.P. Schiemann, Beta3 integrin and Src facilitate transforming growth factor-beta mediated induction of epithelialmesenchymal transition in mammary epithelial cells, Breast Cancer Res 8 (2006) R42.
- [24] A.J. Galliher, W.P. Schiemann, Src phosphorylates Tyr284 in TGF-beta type II receptor and regulates TGF-beta stimulation of p38 MAPK during breast cancer cell proliferation and invasion, Cancer Res 67 (2007) 3752-3758.
- [25] A.J. Galliher-Beckley, W.P. Schiemann, Grb2 Binding to Tyr284 in T R-II is Essential for Mammary Tumor Growth and Metastasis Stimulated by TGF, Carcinogenesis (2008).
- [26] A. Moustakas, C.H. Heldin, Non-Smad TGF-beta signals, J Cell Sci 118 (2005) 3573-3584.
- [27] S. Wu, S. Liang, Y. Yan, Y. Wang, F. Li, Y. Deng, W. Huang, W. Yuan, N. Luo, C. Zhu, Y. Li, M. Liu, X. Wu, A novel mutation of TGF beta1 in a Chinese family with Camurati-Engelmann disease, Bone 40 (2007) 1630-1634.
- [28] S. Schultz-Cherry, J.E. Murphy-Ullrich, Thrombospondin causes activation of latent transforming growth factor-beta secreted by endothelial cells by a novel mechanism, J Cell Biol 122 (1993) 923-932.
- [29] R.M. Lyons, J. Keski-Oja, H.L. Moses, Proteolytic activation of latent transforming growth factor-beta from fibroblast-conditioned medium, J Cell Biol 106 (1988) 1659-1665.
- [30] Q. Yu, I. Stamenkovic, Cell surface-localized matrix metalloproteinase-9 proteolytically activates TGF-beta and promotes tumor invasion and angiogenesis, Genes Dev 14 (2000) 163-176.
- [31] C.M. Dubois, M.H. Laprise, F. Blanchette, L.E. Gentry, R. Leduc, Processing of transforming growth factor beta 1 precursor by human furin convertase, J Biol Chem 270 (1995) 10618-10624.
- [32] J.S. Munger, X. Huang, H. Kawakatsu, M.J. Griffiths, S.L. Dalton, J. Wu, J.F. Pittet, N. Kaminski, C. Garat, M.A. Matthay, D.B. Rifkin, D. Sheppard, The integrin alpha v beta 6 binds and activates latent TGF beta 1: a mechanism for regulating pulmonary inflammation and fibrosis, Cell 96 (1999) 319-328.
- [33] D. Mu, S. Cambier, L. Fjellbirkeland, J.L. Baron, J.S. Munger, H. Kawakatsu, D. Sheppard, V.C. Broaddus, S.L. Nishimura, The integrin

alpha(v)beta8 mediates epithelial homeostasis through MT1-MMPdependent activation of TGF-beta1, J Cell Biol 157 (2002) 493-507.

- [34] M. Yanagita, BMP antagonists: their roles in development and involvement in pathophysiology, Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 16 (2005) 309-317.
- [35] O. Avsian-Kretchmer, A.J. Hsueh, Comparative genomic analysis of the eight-membered ring cystine knot-containing bone morphogenetic protein antagonists, Mol Endocrinol 18 (2004) 1-12.
- [36] N. Kusu, J. Laurikkala, M. Imanishi, H. Usui, M. Konishi, A. Miyake, I. Thesleff, N. Itoh, Sclerostin is a novel secreted osteoclast-derived bone morphogenetic protein antagonist with unique ligand specificity, J Biol Chem 278 (2003) 24113-24117.
- [37] D. Bachiller, J. Klingensmith, C. Kemp, J.A. Belo, R.M. Anderson, S.R. May, J.A. McMahon, A.P. McMahon, R.M. Harland, J. Rossant, E.M. De Robertis, The organizer factors Chordin and Noggin are required for mouse forebrain development, Nature 403 (2000) 658-661.
- [38] L.J. Brunet, J.A. McMahon, A.P. McMahon, R.M. Harland, Noggin, cartilage morphogenesis, and joint formation in the mammalian skeleton, Science 280 (1998) 1455-1457.
- [39] Y.G. Chen, F. Liu, J. Massague, Mechanism of TGFbeta receptor inhibition by FKBP12, EMBO J 16 (1997) 3866-3876.
- [40] M. Huse, Y.G. Chen, J. Massague, J. Kuriyan, Crystal structure of the cytoplasmic domain of the type I TGF beta receptor in complex with FKBP12, Cell 96 (1999) 425-436.
- [41] G.M. Di Guglielmo, C. Le Roy, A.F. Goodfellow, J.L. Wrana, Distinct endocytic pathways regulate TGF-beta receptor signalling and turnover, Nat Cell Biol 5 (2003) 410-421.
- [42] G.C. Blobe, X. Liu, S.J. Fang, T. How, H.F. Lodish, A novel mechanism for regulating transforming growth factor beta (TGF-beta) signaling. Functional modulation of type III TGF-beta receptor expression through interaction with the PDZ domain protein, GIPC, J Biol Chem 276 (2001) 39608-39617.
- [43] N.Y. Lee, G.C. Blobe, The interaction of endoglin with beta-arrestin2 regulates transforming growth factor-beta-mediated ERK activation and migration in endothelial cells, J Biol Chem 282 (2007) 21507-21517.
- [44] T. Tsukazaki, T.A. Chiang, A.F. Davison, L. Attisano, J.L. Wrana, SARA, a FYVE domain protein that recruits Smad2 to the TGFbeta receptor, Cell 95 (1998) 779-791.
- [45] F. Dai, C. Chang, X. Lin, P. Dai, L. Mei, X.H. Feng, Erbin inhibits transforming growth factor beta signaling through a novel Smad-interacting domain, Mol Cell Biol 27 (2007) 6183-6194.
- [46] G.J. Inman, F.J. Nicolas, C.S. Hill, Nucleocytoplasmic shuttling of Smads 2, 3, and 4 permits sensing of TGF-beta receptor activity, Mol Cell 10 (2002) 283-294.
- [47] T. Imamura, M. Takase, A. Nishihara, E. Oeda, J. Hanai, M. Kawabata, K. Miyazono, Smad6 inhibits signalling by the TGF-beta superfamily [see comments], Nature 389 (1997) 622-626.

- [48] A. Hata, G. Lagna, J. Massague, A. Hemmati-Brivanlou, Smad6 inhibits BMP/Smad1 signaling by specifically competing with the Smad4 tumor suppressor, Genes Dev 12 (1998) 186-197.
- [49] H. Hayashi, S. Abdollah, Y. Qiu, J. Cai, Y.Y. Xu, B.W. Grinnell, M.A. Richardson, J.N. Topper, M.A. Gimbrone, Jr., J.L. Wrana, D. Falb, The MAD-related protein Smad7 associates with the TGFbeta receptor and functions as an antagonist of TGFbeta signaling, Cell 89 (1997) 1165-1173.
- [50] A. Nakao, M. Afrakhte, A. Moren, T. Nakayama, J.L. Christian, R. Heuchel, S. Itoh, M. Kawabata, N.E. Heldin, C.H. Heldin, P. ten Dijke, Identification of Smad7, a TGFbeta-inducible antagonist of TGF-beta signalling [see comments], Nature 389 (1997) 631-635.
- [51] P. Kavsak, R.K. Rasmussen, C.G. Causing, S. Bonni, H. Zhu, G.H. Thomsen, J.L. Wrana, Smad7 binds to Smurf2 to form an E3 ubiquitin ligase that targets the TGF beta receptor for degradation, Mol Cell 6 (2000) 1365-1375.
- [52] C. Suzuki, G. Murakami, M. Fukuchi, T. Shimanuki, Y. Shikauchi, T. Imamura, K. Miyazono, Smurf1 regulates the inhibitory activity of Smad7 by targeting Smad7 to the plasma membrane, J Biol Chem 277 (2002) 39919-39925.
- [53] B.J. Schiemann, J.R. Neil, W.P. Schiemann, SPARC inhibits epithelial cell proliferation in part through stimulation of the transforming growth factorbeta-signaling system, Mol Biol Cell 14 (2003) 3977-3988.
- [54] J.P. Sokol, J.R. Neil, B.J. Schiemann, W.P. Schiemann, The use of cystatin C to inhibit epithelial-mesenchymal transition and morphological transformation stimulated by transforming growth factor-beta, Breast Cancer Res 7 (2005) R844-853.
- [55] J.P. Sokol, W.P. Schiemann, Cystatin C antagonizes transforming growth factor beta signaling in normal and cancer cells, Mol Cancer Res 2 (2004) 183-195.
- [56] W.P. Schiemann, G.C. Blobe, D.E. Kalume, A. Pandey, H.F. Lodish, Context-specific effects of fibulin-5 (DANCE/EVEC) on cell proliferation, motility, and invasion. Fibulin-5 is induced by transforming growth factorbeta and affects protein kinase cascades, J Biol Chem 277 (2002) 27367-27377.
- [57] A.R. Albig, J.R. Neil, W.P. Schiemann, Fibulins 3 and 5 antagonize tumor angiogenesis in vivo, Cancer Res 66 (2006) 2621-2629.
- [58] A.R. Albig, W.P. Schiemann, Fibulin-5 antagonizes vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) signaling and angiogenic sprouting by endothelial cells, DNA Cell Biol 23 (2004) 367-379.
- [59] A. Bobik, Transforming growth factor-betas and vascular disorders, Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 26 (2006) 1712-1720.
- [60] A.B. Kulkarni, S. Karlsson, Transforming growth factor-beta 1 knockout mice. A mutation in one cytokine gene causes a dramatic inflammatory disease, Am J Pathol 143 (1993) 3-9.
- [61] L.P. Sanford, I. Ormsby, A.C. Gittenberger-de Groot, H. Sariola, R. Friedman, G.P. Boivin, E.L. Cardell, T. Doetschman, TGFbeta2 knockout

mice have multiple developmental defects that are non-overlapping with other TGFbeta knockout phenotypes, Development 124 (1997) 2659-2670.

- [62] K.L. Stenvers, M.L. Tursky, K.W. Harder, N. Kountouri, S. Amatayakul-Chantler, D. Grail, C. Small, R.A. Weinberg, A.M. Sizeland, H.J. Zhu, Heart and liver defects and reduced transforming growth factor beta2 sensitivity in transforming growth factor beta type III receptor-deficient embryos, Mol Cell Biol 23 (2003) 4371-4385.
- [63] L.A. Compton, D.A. Potash, C.B. Brown, J.V. Barnett, Coronary vessel development is dependent on the type III transforming growth factor beta receptor, Circ Res 101 (2007) 784-791.
- [64] V. Gaussin, G.E. Morley, L. Cox, A. Zwijsen, K.M. Vance, L. Emile, Y. Tian, J. Liu, C. Hong, D. Myers, S.J. Conway, C. Depre, Y. Mishina, R.R. Behringer, M.C. Hanks, M.D. Schneider, D. Huylebroeck, G.I. Fishman, J.B. Burch, S.F. Vatner, Alk3/Bmpr1a receptor is required for development of the atrioventricular canal into valves and annulus fibrosus, Circ Res 97 (2005) 219-226.
- [65] L. Song, R. Fassler, Y. Mishina, K. Jiao, H.S. Baldwin, Essential functions of Alk3 during AV cushion morphogenesis in mouse embryonic hearts, Dev Biol 301 (2007) 276-286.
- [66] L. Song, W. Yan, X. Chen, C.X. Deng, Q. Wang, K. Jiao, Myocardial smad4 is essential for cardiogenesis in mouse embryos, Circ Res 101 (2007) 277-285.
- [67] P. ten Dijke, H.M. Arthur, Extracellular control of TGFbeta signalling in vascular development and disease, Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 8 (2007) 857-869.
- [68] L.A. Fernandez, F. Sanz-Rodriguez, F.J. Blanco, C. Bernabeu, L.M. Botella, Hereditary hemorrhagic telangiectasia, a vascular dysplasia affecting the TGF-beta signaling pathway, Clin Med Res 4 (2006) 66-78.
- [69] S.A. Abdalla, M. Letarte, Hereditary haemorrhagic telangiectasia: current views on genetics and mechanisms of disease, J Med Genet 43 (2006) 97-110.
- [70] C. Sabba, G. Pasculli, G.M. Lenato, P. Suppressa, P. Lastella, M. Memeo, F. Dicuonzo, G. Guant, Hereditary hemorrhagic telangiectasia: clinical features in ENG and ALK1 mutation carriers, J Thromb Haemost 5 (2007) 1149-1157.
- [71] H.M. Arthur, J. Ure, A.J. Smith, G. Renforth, D.I. Wilson, E. Torsney, R. Charlton, D.V. Parums, T. Jowett, D.A. Marchuk, J. Burn, A.G. Diamond, Endoglin, an ancillary TGFbeta receptor, is required for extraembryonic angiogenesis and plays a key role in heart development, Dev Biol 217 (2000) 42-53.
- [72] D.W. Johnson, J.N. Berg, M.A. Baldwin, C.J. Gallione, I. Marondel, S.J. Yoon, T.T. Stenzel, M. Speer, M.A. Pericak-Vance, A. Diamond, A.E. Guttmacher, C.E. Jackson, L. Attisano, R. Kucherlapati, M.E. Porteous, D.A. Marchuk, Mutations in the activin receptor-like kinase 1 gene in hereditary haemorrhagic telangiectasia type 2, Nat Genet 13 (1996) 189-195.
- [73] J.R. Howe, M.G. Sayed, A.F. Ahmed, J. Ringold, J. Larsen-Haidle, A. Merg, F.A. Mitros, C.A. Vaccaro, G.M. Petersen, F.M. Giardiello, S.T. Tinley, L.A. Aaltonen, H.T. Lynch, The prevalence of MADH4 and BMPR1A mutations
in juvenile polyposis and absence of BMPR2, BMPR1B, and ACVR1 mutations, J Med Genet 41 (2004) 484-491.

- [74] H.A. El-Harith el, W. Kuhnau, J. Schmidtke, D. Gadzicki, M. Ahmed, M. Krawczak, M. Stuhrmann, Hereditary hemorrhagic telangiectasia is caused by the Q490X mutation of the ACVRL1 gene in a large Arab family: support of homozygous lethality, Eur J Med Genet 49 (2006) 323-330.
- [75] T. Seki, J. Yun, S.P. Oh, Arterial endothelium-specific activin receptor-like kinase 1 expression suggests its role in arterialization and vascular remodeling, Circ Res 93 (2003) 682-689.
- [76] S.P. Oh, T. Seki, K.A. Goss, T. Imamura, Y. Yi, P.K. Donahoe, L. Li, K. Miyazono, P. ten Dijke, S. Kim, E. Li, Activin receptor-like kinase 1 modulates transforming growth factor-beta 1 signaling in the regulation of angiogenesis, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97 (2000) 2626-2631.
- [77] S.G. Cole, M.E. Begbie, G.M. Wallace, C.L. Shovlin, A new locus for hereditary haemorrhagic telangiectasia (HHT3) maps to chromosome 5, J Med Genet 42 (2005) 577-582.
- [78] R.E. Harrison, J.A. Flanagan, M. Sankelo, S.A. Abdalla, J. Rowell, R.D. Machado, C.G. Elliott, I.M. Robbins, H. Olschewski, V. McLaughlin, E. Gruenig, F. Kermeen, M. Halme, A. Raisanen-Sokolowski, T. Laitinen, N.W. Morrell, R.C. Trembath, Molecular and functional analysis identifies ALK-1 as the predominant cause of pulmonary hypertension related to hereditary haemorrhagic telangiectasia, J Med Genet 40 (2003) 865-871.
- [79] K.H. Hong, T. Seki, S.P. Oh, Activin receptor-like kinase 1 is essential for placental vascular development in mice, Lab Invest 87 (2007) 670-679.
- [80] A. Bourdeau, M.E. Faughnan, M. Letarte, Endoglin-deficient mice, a unique model to study hereditary hemorrhagic telangiectasia, Trends Cardiovasc Med 10 (2000) 279-285.
- [81] S. Srinivasan, M.A. Hanes, T. Dickens, M.E. Porteous, S.P. Oh, L.P. Hale, D.A. Marchuk, A mouse model for hereditary hemorrhagic telangiectasia (HHT) type 2, Hum Mol Genet 12 (2003) 473-482.
- [82] F. Lebrin, M. Deckers, P. Bertolino, P. Ten Dijke, TGF-beta receptor function in the endothelium, Cardiovasc Res 65 (2005) 599-608.
- [83] M.J. Goumans, G. Valdimarsdottir, S. Itoh, A. Rosendahl, P. Sideras, P. ten Dijke, Balancing the activation state of the endothelium via two distinct TGF-beta type I receptors, EMBO J 21 (2002) 1743-1753.
- [84] L.A. Fernandez, F. Sanz-Rodriguez, R. Zarrabeitia, A. Perez-Molino, R.P. Hebbel, J. Nguyen, C. Bernabeu, L.M. Botella, Blood outgrowth endothelial cells from Hereditary Haemorrhagic Telangiectasia patients reveal abnormalities compatible with vascular lesions, Cardiovasc Res 68 (2005) 235-248.
- [85] N.P. Barbara, J.L. Wrana, M. Letarte, Endoglin is an accessory protein that interacts with the signaling receptor complex of multiple members of the transforming growth factor-beta superfamily, J Biol Chem 274 (1999) 584-594.
- [86] M. Scharpfenecker, M. van Dinther, Z. Liu, R.L. van Bezooijen, Q. Zhao, L. Pukac, C.W. Lowik, P. ten Dijke, BMP-9 signals via ALK1 and inhibits

bFGF-induced endothelial cell proliferation and VEGF-stimulated angiogenesis, J Cell Sci 120 (2007) 964-972.

- [87] B.A. Conley, R. Koleva, J.D. Smith, D. Kacer, D. Zhang, C. Bernabeu, C.P. Vary, Endoglin controls cell migration and composition of focal adhesions: function of the cytosolic domain, J Biol Chem 279 (2004) 27440-27449.
- [88] F. Sanz-Rodriguez, M. Guerrero-Esteo, L.M. Botella, D. Banville, C.P. Vary, C. Bernabeu, Endoglin regulates cytoskeletal organization through binding to ZRP-1, a member of the Lim family of proteins, J Biol Chem 279 (2004) 32858-32868.
- [89] M. Jerkic, J.V. Rivas-Elena, J.F. Santibanez, M. Prieto, A. Rodriguez-Barbero, F. Perez-Barriocanal, M. Pericacho, M. Arevalo, C.P. Vary, M. Letarte, C. Bernabeu, J.M. Lopez-Novoa, Endoglin regulates cyclooxygenase-2 expression and activity, Circ Res 99 (2006) 248-256.
- [90] R.I. Koleva, B.A. Conley, D. Romero, K.S. Riley, J.A. Marto, A. Lux, C.P. Vary, Endoglin structure and function: Determinants of endoglin phosphorylation by transforming growth factor-beta receptors, J Biol Chem 281 (2006) 25110-25123.
- [91] M. Guerrero-Esteo, T. Sanchez-Elsner, A. Letamendia, C. Bernabeu, Extracellular and cytoplasmic domains of endoglin interact with the transforming growth factor-beta receptors I and II, J Biol Chem 277 (2002) 29197-29209.
- [92] P.J. Adam, G.J. Clesham, P.L. Weissberg, Expression of endoglin mRNA and protein in human vascular smooth muscle cells, Biochem Biophys Res Commun 247 (1998) 33-37.
- [93] J. Pannu, S. Nakerakanti, E. Smith, P. ten Dijke, M. Trojanowska, Transforming growth factor-beta receptor type I-dependent fibrogenic gene program is mediated via activation of Smad1 and ERK1/2 pathways, J Biol Chem 282 (2007) 10405-10413.
- [94] L. David, C. Mallet, B. Vailhe, S. Lamouille, J.J. Feige, S. Bailly, Activin receptor-like kinase 1 inhibits human microvascular endothelial cell migration: potential roles for JNK and ERK, J Cell Physiol 213 (2007) 484-489.
- [95] J. Mo, S.J. Fang, W. Chen, G.C. Blobe, Regulation of ALK-1 signaling by the nuclear receptor LXRbeta, J Biol Chem 277 (2002) 50788-50794.
- [96] B.L. Loeys, J. Chen, E.R. Neptune, D.P. Judge, M. Podowski, T. Holm, J. Meyers, C.C. Leitch, N. Katsanis, N. Sharifi, F.L. Xu, L.A. Myers, P.J. Spevak, D.E. Cameron, J. De Backer, J. Hellemans, Y. Chen, E.C. Davis, C.L. Webb, W. Kress, P. Coucke, D.B. Rifkin, A.M. De Paepe, H.C. Dietz, A syndrome of altered cardiovascular, craniofacial, neurocognitive and skeletal development caused by mutations in TGFBR1 or TGFBR2, Nat Genet 37 (2005) 275-281.
- [97] H. Pannu, N. Avidan, V. Tran-Fadulu, D.M. Milewicz, Genetic basis of thoracic aortic aneurysms and dissections: potential relevance to abdominal aortic aneurysms, Ann N Y Acad Sci 1085 (2006) 242-255.
- [98] G. Matyas, E. Arnold, T. Carrel, D. Baumgartner, C. Boileau, W. Berger, B. Steinmann, Identification and in silico analyses of novel TGFBR1 and

TGFBR2 mutations in Marfan syndrome-related disorders, Hum Mutat 27 (2006) 760-769.

- [99] P.J. Coucke, A. Willaert, M.W. Wessels, B. Callewaert, N. Zoppi, J. De Backer, J.E. Fox, G.M. Mancini, M. Kambouris, R. Gardella, F. Facchetti, P.J. Willems, R. Forsyth, H.C. Dietz, S. Barlati, M. Colombi, B. Loeys, A. De Paepe, Mutations in the facilitative glucose transporter GLUT10 alter angiogenesis and cause arterial tortuosity syndrome, Nat Genet 38 (2006) 452-457.
- [100] G. Lagna, P.H. Nguyen, W. Ni, A. Hata, BMP-dependent activation of caspase-9 and caspase-8 mediates apoptosis in pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells, Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 291 (2006) L1059-1067.
- [101] E.D. Austin, J.E. Loyd, Genetics and mediators in pulmonary arterial hypertension, Clin Chest Med 28 (2007) 43-57, vii-viii.
- [102] N.W. Morrell, Pulmonary hypertension due to BMPR2 mutation: a new paradigm for tissue remodeling?, Proc Am Thorac Soc 3 (2006) 680-686.
- [103] R.D. Machado, M.A. Aldred, V. James, R.E. Harrison, B. Patel, E.C. Schwalbe, E. Gruenig, B. Janssen, R. Koehler, W. Seeger, O. Eickelberg, H. Olschewski, C.G. Elliott, E. Glissmeyer, J. Carlquist, M. Kim, A. Torbicki, A. Fijalkowska, G. Szewczyk, J. Parma, M.J. Abramowicz, N. Galie, H. Morisaki, S. Kyotani, N. Nakanishi, T. Morisaki, M. Humbert, G. Simonneau, O. Sitbon, F. Soubrier, F. Coulet, N.W. Morrell, R.C. Trembath, Mutations of the TGF-beta type II receptor BMPR2 in pulmonary arterial hypertension, Hum Mutat 27 (2006) 121-132.
- [104] R.C. Trembath, J.R. Thomson, R.D. Machado, N.V. Morgan, C. Atkinson, I. Winship, G. Simonneau, N. Galie, J.E. Loyd, M. Humbert, W.C. Nichols, N.W. Morrell, J. Berg, A. Manes, J. McGaughran, M. Pauciulo, L. Wheeler, Clinical and molecular genetic features of pulmonary hypertension in patients with hereditary hemorrhagic telangiectasia, N Engl J Med 345 (2001) 325-334.
- [105] H. Beppu, M. Kawabata, T. Hamamoto, A. Chytil, O. Minowa, T. Noda, K. Miyazono, BMP type II receptor is required for gastrulation and early development of mouse embryos, Dev Biol 221 (2000) 249-258.
- [106] E.C. Delot, M.E. Bahamonde, M. Zhao, K.M. Lyons, BMP signaling is required for septation of the outflow tract of the mammalian heart, Development 130 (2003) 209-220.
- [107] D. Liu, J. Wang, B. Kinzel, M. Mueller, X. Mao, R. Valdez, Y. Liu, E. Li, Dosage-dependent requirement of BMP type II receptor for maintenance of vascular integrity, Blood 110 (2007) 1502-1510.
- [108] H. Beppu, F. Ichinose, N. Kawai, R.C. Jones, P.B. Yu, W.M. Zapol, K. Miyazono, E. Li, K.D. Bloch, BMPR-II heterozygous mice have mild pulmonary hypertension and an impaired pulmonary vascular remodeling response to prolonged hypoxia, Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 287 (2004) L1241-1247.
- [109] Y. Song, J.E. Jones, H. Beppu, J.F. Keaney, Jr., J. Loscalzo, Y.Y. Zhang, Increased susceptibility to pulmonary hypertension in heterozygous BMPR2mutant mice, Circulation 112 (2005) 553-562.

- [110] J. West, K. Fagan, W. Steudel, B. Fouty, K. Lane, J. Harral, M. Hoedt-Miller, Y. Tada, J. Ozimek, R. Tuder, D.M. Rodman, Pulmonary hypertension in transgenic mice expressing a dominant-negative BMPRII gene in smooth muscle, Circ Res 94 (2004) 1109-1114.
- [111] A.M. Reynolds, W. Xia, M.D. Holmes, S.J. Hodge, S. Danilov, D.T. Curiel, N.W. Morrell, P.N. Reynolds, Bone morphogenetic protein type 2 receptor gene therapy attenuates hypoxic pulmonary hypertension, Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 292 (2007) L1182-1192.
- [112] A. Zakrzewicz, M. Hecker, L.M. Marsh, G. Kwapiszewska, B. Nejman, L. Long, W. Seeger, R.T. Schermuly, N.W. Morrell, R.E. Morty, O. Eickelberg, Receptor for activated C-kinase 1, a novel interaction partner of type II bone morphogenetic protein receptor, regulates smooth muscle cell proliferation in pulmonary arterial hypertension, Circulation 115 (2007) 2957-2968.
- [113] M. Hagen, K. Fagan, W. Steudel, M. Carr, K. Lane, D.M. Rodman, J. West, Interaction of interleukin-6 and the BMP pathway in pulmonary smooth muscle, Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 292 (2007) L1473-1479.
- [114] L. Long, M.R. MacLean, T.K. Jeffery, I. Morecroft, X. Yang, N. Rudarakanchana, M. Southwood, V. James, R.C. Trembath, N.W. Morrell, Serotonin increases susceptibility to pulmonary hypertension in BMPR2deficient mice, Circ Res 98 (2006) 818-827.
- [115] J. Newstead, P. von Dadelszen, L.A. Magee, Preeclampsia and future cardiovascular risk, Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther 5 (2007) 283-294.
- [116] S. Venkatesha, M. Toporsian, C. Lam, J. Hanai, T. Mammoto, Y.M. Kim, Y. Bdolah, K.H. Lim, H.T. Yuan, T.A. Libermann, I.E. Stillman, D. Roberts, P.A. D'Amore, F.H. Epstein, F.W. Sellke, R. Romero, V.P. Sukhatme, M. Letarte, S.A. Karumanchi, Soluble endoglin contributes to the pathogenesis of preeclampsia, Nat Med 12 (2006) 642-649.
- [117] R.J. Levine, C. Lam, C. Qian, K.F. Yu, S.E. Maynard, B.P. Sachs, B.M. Sibai, F.H. Epstein, R. Romero, R. Thadhani, S.A. Karumanchi, Soluble endoglin and other circulating antiangiogenic factors in preeclampsia, N Engl J Med 355 (2006) 992-1005.
- [118] C.J. Robinson, D.D. Johnson, Soluble endoglin as a second-trimester marker for preeclampsia, Am J Obstet Gynecol 197 (2007) 174 e171-175.
- [119] A. Bobik, A. Agrotis, P. Kanellakis, R. Dilley, A. Krushinsky, V. Smirnov, E. Tararak, M. Condron, G. Kostolias, Distinct patterns of transforming growth factor-beta isoform and receptor expression in human atherosclerotic lesions. Colocalization implicates TGF-beta in fibrofatty lesion development, Circulation 99 (1999) 2883-2891.
- [120] F. Cipollone, M. Fazia, G. Mincione, A. Iezzi, B. Pini, C. Cuccurullo, S. Ucchino, F. Spigonardo, M. Di Nisio, F. Cuccurullo, A. Mezzetti, E. Porreca, Increased expression of transforming growth factor-beta1 as a stabilizing factor in human atherosclerotic plaques, Stroke 35 (2004) 2253-2257.
- [121] D.J. Grainger, P.R. Kemp, A.C. Liu, R.M. Lawn, J.C. Metcalfe, Activation of transforming growth factor-beta is inhibited in transgenic apolipoprotein(a) mice, Nature 370 (1994) 460-462.

- [122] E. Lutgens, M. Gijbels, M. Smook, P. Heeringa, P. Gotwals, V.E. Koteliansky, M.J. Daemen, Transforming growth factor-beta mediates balance between inflammation and fibrosis during plaque progression, Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 22 (2002) 975-982.
- [123] Z. Mallat, A. Gojova, C. Marchiol-Fournigault, B. Esposito, C. Kamate, R. Merval, D. Fradelizi, A. Tedgui, Inhibition of transforming growth factorbeta signaling accelerates atherosclerosis and induces an unstable plaque phenotype in mice, Circ Res 89 (2001) 930-934.
- [124] A.K. Robertson, M. Rudling, X. Zhou, L. Gorelik, R.A. Flavell, G.K. Hansson, Disruption of TGF-beta signaling in T cells accelerates atherosclerosis, J Clin Invest 112 (2003) 1342-1350.
- [125] D.J. Grainger, D.E. Mosedale, J.C. Metcalfe, E.P. Bottinger, Dietary fat and reduced levels of TGFbeta1 act synergistically to promote activation of the vascular endothelium and formation of lipid lesions, J Cell Sci 113 (Pt 13) (2000) 2355-2361.
- [126] D.J. Grainger, C.M. Witchell, J.C. Metcalfe, Tamoxifen elevates transforming growth factor-beta and suppresses diet-induced formation of lipid lesions in mouse aorta, Nat Med 1 (1995) 1067-1073.
- [127] T.A. McCaffrey, B. Du, S. Consigli, P. Szabo, P.J. Bray, L. Hartner, B.B. Weksler, T.A. Sanborn, G. Bergman, H.L. Bush, Jr., Genomic instability in the type II TGF-beta1 receptor gene in atherosclerotic and restenotic vascular cells, J Clin Invest 100 (1997) 2182-2188.
- [128] T.A. McCaffrey, S. Consigli, B. Du, D.J. Falcone, T.A. Sanborn, A.M. Spokojny, H.L. Bush, Jr., Decreased type II/type I TGF-beta receptor ratio in cells derived from human atherosclerotic lesions. Conversion from an antiproliferative to profibrotic response to TGF-beta1, J Clin Invest 96 (1995) 2667-2675.
- [129] D. Li, Y. Liu, J. Chen, N. Velchala, F. Amani, A. Nemarkommula, K. Chen, H. Rayaz, D. Zhang, H. Liu, A.K. Sinha, F. Romeo, P.L. Hermonat, J.L. Mehta, Suppression of atherogenesis by delivery of TGFbeta1ACT using adeno-associated virus type 2 in LDLR knockout mice, Biochem Biophys Res Commun 344 (2006) 701-707.
- [130] F. Cambien, S. Ricard, A. Troesch, C. Mallet, L. Generenaz, A. Evans, D. Arveiler, G. Luc, J.B. Ruidavets, O. Poirier, Polymorphisms of the transforming growth factor-beta 1 gene in relation to myocardial infarction and blood pressure. The Etude Cas-Temoin de l'Infarctus du Myocarde (ECTIM) Study, Hypertension 28 (1996) 881-887.
- [131] W. Koch, P. Hoppmann, J.C. Mueller, A. Schomig, A. Kastrati, Association of transforming growth factor-beta1 gene polymorphisms with myocardial infarction in patients with angiographically proven coronary heart disease, Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 26 (2006) 1114-1119.
- [132] M. Yokota, S. Ichihara, T.L. Lin, N. Nakashima, Y. Yamada, Association of a T29-->C polymorphism of the transforming growth factor-beta1 gene with genetic susceptibility to myocardial infarction in Japanese, Circulation 101 (2000) 2783-2787.

- [133] M.P. Sie, A.G. Uitterlinden, M.J. Bos, P.P. Arp, M.M. Breteler, P.J. Koudstaal, H.A. Pols, A. Hofman, C.M. van Duijn, J.C. Witteman, TGF-beta 1 polymorphisms and risk of myocardial infarction and stroke: the Rotterdam Study, Stroke 37 (2006) 2667-2671.
- [134] E.Y. Wang, E.Y. Ma, T.K. Woodruff, Activin signal transduction in the fetal rat adrenal gland and in human H295R cells, J Endocrinol 178 (2003) 137-148.
- [135] C.R. Dhore, J.P. Cleutjens, E. Lutgens, K.B. Cleutjens, P.P. Geusens, P.J. Kitslaar, J.H. Tordoir, H.M. Spronk, C. Vermeer, M.J. Daemen, Differential expression of bone matrix regulatory proteins in human atherosclerotic plaques, Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 21 (2001) 1998-2003.
- [136] K. Bostrom, K.E. Watson, S. Horn, C. Wortham, I.M. Herman, L.L. Demer, Bone morphogenetic protein expression in human atherosclerotic lesions, J Clin Invest 91 (1993) 1800-1809.
- [137] M.R. Ward, A. Agrotis, P. Kanellakis, R. Dilley, G. Jennings, A. Bobik, Inhibition of protein tyrosine kinases attenuates increases in expression of transforming growth factor-beta isoforms and their receptors following arterial injury, Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 17 (1997) 2461-2470.
- [138] E.G. Nabel, L. Shum, V.J. Pompili, Z.Y. Yang, H. San, H.B. Shu, S. Liptay, L. Gold, D. Gordon, R. Derynck, et al., Direct transfer of transforming growth factor beta 1 gene into arteries stimulates fibrocellular hyperplasia, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90 (1993) 10759-10763.
- [139] M. Ruiz-Ortega, J. Rodriguez-Vita, E. Sanchez-Lopez, G. Carvajal, J. Egido, TGF-beta signaling in vascular fibrosis, Cardiovasc Res 74 (2007) 196-206.
- [140] H. Lim, Y.Z. Zhu, Role of transforming growth factor-beta in the progression of heart failure, Cell Mol Life Sci 63 (2006) 2584-2596.
- [141] K. Yamamoto, R. Morishita, N. Tomita, T. Shimozato, H. Nakagami, A. Kikuchi, M. Aoki, J. Higaki, Y. Kaneda, T. Ogihara, Ribozyme oligonucleotides against transforming growth factor-beta inhibited neointimal formation after vascular injury in rat model: potential application of ribozyme strategy to treat cardiovascular disease, Circulation 102 (2000) 1308-1314.
- [142] M.R. Ward, A. Agrotis, P. Kanellakis, J. Hall, G. Jennings, A. Bobik, Tranilast prevents activation of transforming growth factor-beta system, leukocyte accumulation, and neointimal growth in porcine coronary arteries after stenting, Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 22 (2002) 940-948.
- [143] C.M. Mallawaarachchi, P.L. Weissberg, R.C. Siow, Smad7 gene transfer attenuates adventitial cell migration and vascular remodeling after balloon injury, Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 25 (2005) 1383-1387.
- [144] L. Zacchigna, C. Vecchione, A. Notte, M. Cordenonsi, S. Dupont, S. Maretto, G. Cifelli, A. Ferrari, A. Maffei, C. Fabbro, P. Braghetta, G. Marino, G. Selvetella, A. Aretini, C. Colonnese, U. Bettarini, G. Russo, S. Soligo, M. Adorno, P. Bonaldo, D. Volpin, S. Piccolo, G. Lembo, G.M. Bressan, Emilin1 links TGF-beta maturation to blood pressure homeostasis, Cell 124 (2006) 929-942.

- [145] P. Lavoie, G. Robitaille, M. Agharazii, S. Ledbetter, M. Lebel, R. Lariviere, Neutralization of transforming growth factor-beta attenuates hypertension and prevents renal injury in uremic rats, J Hypertens 23 (2005) 1895-1903.
- [146] B. Li, A. Khanna, V. Sharma, T. Singh, M. Suthanthiran, P. August, TGFbeta1 DNA polymorphisms, protein levels, and blood pressure, Hypertension 33 (1999) 271-275.
- [147] S. Rosenkranz, TGF-beta1 and angiotensin networking in cardiac remodeling, Cardiovasc Res 63 (2004) 423-432.
- [148] G. Wolf, Renal injury due to renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system activation of the transforming growth factor-beta pathway, Kidney Int 70 (2006) 1914-1919.
- [149] T. Naito, T. Masaki, D.J. Nikolic-Paterson, C. Tanji, N. Yorioka, N. Kohno, Angiotensin II induces thrombospondin-1 production in human mesangial cells via p38 MAPK and JNK: a mechanism for activation of latent TGFbeta1, Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 286 (2004) F278-287.
- [150] S. Wenzel, G. Taimor, H.M. Piper, K.D. Schluter, Redox-sensitive intermediates mediate angiotensin II-induced p38 MAP kinase activation, AP-1 binding activity, and TGF-beta expression in adult ventricular cardiomyocytes, FASEB J 15 (2001) 2291-2293.
- [151] M. Ruiz-Ortega, O. Lorenzo, J. Egido, Angiotensin III up-regulates genes involved in kidney damage in mesangial cells and renal interstitial fibroblasts, Kidney Int Suppl 68 (1998) S41-45.
- [152] J. Yuan, R. Jia, Y. Bao, Aldosterone up-regulates production of plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 by renal mesangial cells, J Biochem Mol Biol 40 (2007) 180-188.
- [153] A. Benigni, C. Zoja, D. Corna, C. Zatelli, S. Conti, M. Campana, E. Gagliardini, D. Rottoli, C. Zanchi, M. Abbate, S. Ledbetter, G. Remuzzi, Add-on anti-TGF-beta antibody to ACE inhibitor arrests progressive diabetic nephropathy in the rat, J Am Soc Nephrol 14 (2003) 1816-1824.
- [154] J. Schultz Jel, S.A. Witt, B.J. Glascock, M.L. Nieman, P.J. Reiser, S.L. Nix, T.R. Kimball, T. Doetschman, TGF-beta1 mediates the hypertrophic cardiomyocyte growth induced by angiotensin II, J Clin Invest 109 (2002) 787-796.
- [155] C.T. Holweg, C.C. Baan, H.G. Niesters, P.J. Vantrimpont, P.G. Mulder, A.P. Maat, W. Weimar, A.H. Balk, TGF-beta1 gene polymorphisms in patients with end-stage heart failure, J Heart Lung Transplant 20 (2001) 979-984.
- [156] N. Nakano, H. Hori, M. Abe, H. Shibata, T. Arimura, T. Sasaoka, M. Sawabe, K. Chida, T. Arai, K.I. Nakahara, T. Kubo, K. Sugimoto, T. Katsuya, T. Ogihara, Y. Doi, T. Izumi, A. Kimura, Interaction of BMP10 with Tcap may modulate the course of hypertensive cardiac hypertrophy, Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol (2007).
- [157] H. Chen, S. Shi, L. Acosta, W. Li, J. Lu, S. Bao, Z. Chen, Z. Yang, M.D. Schneider, K.R. Chien, S.J. Conway, M.C. Yoder, L.S. Haneline, D. Franco, W. Shou, BMP10 is essential for maintaining cardiac growth during murine cardiogenesis, Development 131 (2004) 2219-2231.

- [158] M.R. Morissette, S.A. Cook, S. Foo, G. McKoy, N. Ashida, M. Novikov, M. Scherrer-Crosbie, L. Li, T. Matsui, G. Brooks, A. Rosenzweig, Myostatin regulates cardiomyocyte growth through modulation of Akt signaling, Circ Res 99 (2006) 15-24.
- [159] S.A. LeMaire, H. Pannu, V. Tran-Fadulu, S.A. Carter, J.S. Coselli, D.M. Milewicz, Severe aortic and arterial aneurysms associated with a TGFBR2 mutation, Nat Clin Pract Cardiovasc Med 4 (2007) 167-171.
- [160] J.C. Dean, Marfan syndrome: clinical diagnosis and management, Eur J Hum Genet 15 (2007) 724-733.
- [161] T. Mizuguchi, N. Matsumoto, Recent progress in genetics of Marfan syndrome and Marfan-associated disorders, J Hum Genet 52 (2007) 1-12.
- [162] K. Akutsu, H. Morisaki, S. Takeshita, S. Sakamoto, Y. Tamori, T. Yoshimuta, N. Yokoyama, H. Nonogi, H. Ogino, T. Morisaki, Phenotypic heterogeneity of Marfan-like connective tissue disorders associated with mutations in the transforming growth factor-beta receptor genes, Circ J 71 (2007) 1305-1309.
- [163] L.C. Ades, K. Sullivan, A. Biggin, E.A. Haan, M. Brett, K.J. Holman, J. Dixon, S. Robertson, A.D. Holmes, J. Rogers, B. Bennetts, FBN1, TGFBR1, and the Marfan-craniosynostosis/mental retardation disorders revisited, Am J Med Genet A 140 (2006) 1047-1058.
- [164] K. Kosaki, D. Takahashi, T. Udaka, R. Kosaki, M. Matsumoto, S. Ibe, T. Isobe, Y. Tanaka, T. Takahashi, Molecular pathology of Shprintzen-Goldberg syndrome, Am J Med Genet A 140 (2006) 104-108; author reply 109-110.
- [165] E.R. Neptune, P.A. Frischmeyer, D.E. Arking, L. Myers, T.E. Bunton, B. Gayraud, F. Ramirez, L.Y. Sakai, H.C. Dietz, Dysregulation of TGF-beta activation contributes to pathogenesis in Marfan syndrome, Nat Genet 33 (2003) 407-411.
- [166] F. Verrecchia, A. Mauviel, Transforming growth factor-beta and fibrosis, World J Gastroenterol 13 (2007) 3056-3062.
- [167] T. Krieg, D. Abraham, R. Lafyatis, Fibrosis in connective tissue disease: the role of the myofibroblast and fibroblast-epithelial cell interactions, Arthritis Res Ther 9 Suppl 2 (2007) S4.
- [168] M.B. Sporn, A.B. Roberts, J.H. Shull, J.M. Smith, J.M. Ward, J. Sodek, Polypeptide transforming growth factors isolated from bovine sources and used for wound healing in vivo, Science 219 (1983) 1329-1331.
- [169] T.A. Wynn, Common and unique mechanisms regulate fibrosis in various fibroproliferative diseases, J Clin Invest 117 (2007) 524-529.
- [170] S.J. Chen, W. Yuan, Y. Mori, A. Levenson, M. Trojanowska, J. Varga, Stimulation of type I collagen transcription in human skin fibroblasts by TGF-beta: involvement of Smad 3, J Invest Dermatol 112 (1999) 49-57.
- [171] K.C. Flanders, C.D. Sullivan, M. Fujii, A. Sowers, M.A. Anzano, A. Arabshahi, C. Major, C. Deng, A. Russo, J.B. Mitchell, A.B. Roberts, Mice lacking Smad3 are protected against cutaneous injury induced by ionizing radiation, Am J Pathol 160 (2002) 1057-1068.

- [172] B. Schnabl, Y.O. Kweon, J.P. Frederick, X.F. Wang, R.A. Rippe, D.A. Brenner, The role of Smad3 in mediating mouse hepatic stellate cell activation, Hepatology 34 (2001) 89-100.
- [173] W. Wang, X.R. Huang, E. Canlas, K. Oka, L.D. Truong, C. Deng, N.A. Bhowmick, W. Ju, E.P. Bottinger, H.Y. Lan, Essential role of Smad3 in angiotensin II-induced vascular fibrosis, Circ Res 98 (2006) 1032-1039.
- [174] G.S. Chin, W. Liu, Z. Peled, T.Y. Lee, D.S. Steinbrech, M. Hsu, M.T. Longaker, Differential expression of transforming growth factor-beta receptors I and II and activation of Smad 3 in keloid fibroblasts, Plast Reconstr Surg 108 (2001) 423-429.
- [175] K.C. Flanders, Smad3 as a mediator of the fibrotic response, Int J Exp Pathol 85 (2004) 47-64.
- [176] P. Bonniaud, M. Kolb, T. Galt, J. Robertson, C. Robbins, M. Stampfli, C. Lavery, P.J. Margetts, A.B. Roberts, J. Gauldie, Smad3 null mice develop airspace enlargement and are resistant to TGF-beta-mediated pulmonary fibrosis, J Immunol 173 (2004) 2099-2108.
- [177] M.R. Duncan, K.S. Frazier, S. Abramson, S. Williams, H. Klapper, X. Huang, G.R. Grotendorst, Connective tissue growth factor mediates transforming growth factor beta-induced collagen synthesis: downregulation by cAMP, FASEB J 13 (1999) 1774-1786.
- [178] C.J. Scotton, R.C. Chambers, Molecular targets in pulmonary fibrosis: the myofibroblast in focus, Chest 132 (2007) 1311-1321.
- [179] J.G. Abreu, N.I. Ketpura, B. Reversade, E.M. De Robertis, Connective-tissue growth factor (CTGF) modulates cell signalling by BMP and TGF-beta, Nat Cell Biol 4 (2002) 599-604.
- [180] N. Wahab, D. Cox, A. Witherden, R.M. Mason, Connective tissue growth factor (CTGF) promotes activated mesangial cell survival via up-regulation of mitogen-activated protein kinase phosphatase-1 (MKP-1), Biochem J 406 (2007) 131-138.
- [181] P. Bonniaud, P.J. Margetts, M. Kolb, T. Haberberger, M. Kelly, J. Robertson, J. Gauldie, Adenoviral gene transfer of connective tissue growth factor in the lung induces transient fibrosis, Am J Respir Crit Care Med 168 (2003) 770-778.
- [182] P. Bonniaud, G. Martin, P.J. Margetts, K. Ask, J. Robertson, J. Gauldie, M. Kolb, Connective tissue growth factor is crucial to inducing a profibrotic environment in "fibrosis-resistant" BALB/c mouse lungs, Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 31 (2004) 510-516.
- [183] I. Mucsi, L. Rosivall, Epithelial-mesenchymal transition in renal tubular cells in the pathogenesis of progressive tubulo-interstitial fibrosis, Acta Physiol Hung 94 (2007) 117-131.
- [184] M. Petersen, M. Thorikay, M. Deckers, M. van Dinther, E.T. Grygielko, F. Gellibert, A.C. de Gouville, S. Huet, P. Ten Dijke, N.J. Laping, Oral administration of GW788388, an inhibitor of TGF-beta type I and II receptor kinases, decreases renal fibrosis, Kidney Int (2007).
- [185] D.Y. Rhyu, Y. Yang, H. Ha, G.T. Lee, J.S. Song, S.T. Uh, H.B. Lee, Role of reactive oxygen species in TGF-beta1-induced mitogen-activated protein

kinase activation and epithelial-mesenchymal transition in renal tubular epithelial cells, J Am Soc Nephrol 16 (2005) 667-675.

- [186] Y. Li, J. Yang, C. Dai, C. Wu, Y. Liu, Role for integrin-linked kinase in mediating tubular epithelial to mesenchymal transition and renal interstitial fibrogenesis, J Clin Invest 112 (2003) 503-516.
- [187] J. Prakash, M.H. de Borst, A.M. van Loenen-Weemaes, M. Lacombe, F. Opdam, H. van Goor, D.K. Meijer, F. Moolenaar, K. Poelstra, R.J. Kok, Cell-specific Delivery of a Transforming Growth Factor-beta Type I Receptor Kinase Inhibitor to Proximal Tubular Cells for the Treatment of Renal Fibrosis, Pharm Res (2008).
- [188] W. Wick, M. Platten, M. Weller, Glioma cell invasion: regulation of metalloproteinase activity by TGF-beta, J Neurooncol 53 (2001) 177-185.
- [189] X. Shi-Wen, L. Kennedy, E.A. Renzoni, G. Bou-Gharios, R.M. du Bois, C.M. Black, C.P. Denton, D.J. Abraham, A. Leask, Endothelin is a downstream mediator of profibrotic responses to transforming growth factor beta in human lung fibroblasts, Arthritis Rheum 56 (2007) 4189-4194.
- [190] M.M. Cohen, Jr., The new bone biology: pathologic, molecular, and clinical correlates, Am J Med Genet A 140 (2006) 2646-2706.
- [191] K. Janssens, P. ten Dijke, S. Janssens, W. Van Hul, Transforming growth factor-beta1 to the bone, Endocr Rev 26 (2005) 743-774.
- [192] A.G. Geiser, C.W. Hummel, M.W. Draper, J.W. Henck, I.R. Cohen, D.G. Rudmann, K.B. Donnelly, M.D. Adrian, T.A. Shepherd, O.B. Wallace, D.J. McCann, S.W. Oldham, H.U. Bryant, M. Sato, J.A. Dodge, A new selective estrogen receptor modulator with potent uterine antagonist activity, agonist activity in bone, and minimal ovarian stimulation, Endocrinology 146 (2005) 4524-4535.
- [193] E. Atti, S. Gomez, S.M. Wahl, R. Mendelsohn, E. Paschalis, A.L. Boskey, Effects of transforming growth factor-beta deficiency on bone development: a Fourier transform-infrared imaging analysis, Bone 31 (2002) 675-684.
- [194] M.R. Urist, Bone: formation by autoinduction, Science 150 (1965) 893-899.
- [195] A. Bandyopadhyay, K. Tsuji, K. Cox, B.D. Harfe, V. Rosen, C.J. Tabin, Genetic analysis of the roles of BMP2, BMP4, and BMP7 in limb patterning and skeletogenesis, PLoS Genet 2 (2006) e216.
- [196] K. Tsuji, A. Bandyopadhyay, B.D. Harfe, K. Cox, S. Kakar, L. Gerstenfeld, T. Einhorn, C.J. Tabin, V. Rosen, BMP2 activity, although dispensable for bone formation, is required for the initiation of fracture healing, Nat Genet 38 (2006) 1424-1429.
- [197] B.S. Yoon, D.A. Ovchinnikov, I. Yoshii, Y. Mishina, R.R. Behringer, K.M. Lyons, Bmpr1a and Bmpr1b have overlapping functions and are essential for chondrogenesis in vivo, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102 (2005) 5062-5067.
- [198] K. Janssens, P. ten Dijke, S.H. Ralston, C. Bergmann, W. Van Hul, Transforming growth factor-beta 1 mutations in Camurati-Engelmann disease lead to increased signaling by altering either activation or secretion of the mutant protein, J Biol Chem 278 (2003) 7718-7724.
- [199] E.M. Shore, M. Xu, G.J. Feldman, D.A. Fenstermacher, T.J. Cho, I.H. Choi, J.M. Connor, P. Delai, D.L. Glaser, M. LeMerrer, R. Morhart, J.G. Rogers,

R. Smith, J.T. Triffitt, J.A. Urtizberea, M. Zasloff, M.A. Brown, F.S. Kaplan, A recurrent mutation in the BMP type I receptor ACVR1 causes inherited and sporadic fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva, Nat Genet 38 (2006) 525-527.

- [200] J.C. Groppe, E.M. Shore, F.S. Kaplan, Functional modeling of the ACVR1 (R206H) mutation in FOP, Clin Orthop Relat Res 462 (2007) 87-92.
- [201] J.L. Fiori, P.C. Billings, L.S. de la Pena, F.S. Kaplan, E.M. Shore, Dysregulation of the BMP-p38 MAPK signaling pathway in cells from patients with fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva (FOP), J Bone Miner Res 21 (2006) 902-909.
- [202] L. Kan, M. Hu, W.A. Gomes, J.A. Kessler, Transgenic mice overexpressing BMP4 develop a fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva (FOP)-like phenotype, Am J Pathol 165 (2004) 1107-1115.
- [203] J.T. Thomas, K. Lin, M. Nandedkar, M. Camargo, J. Cervenka, F.P. Luyten, A human chondrodysplasia due to a mutation in a TGF-beta superfamily member, Nat Genet 12 (1996) 315-317.
- [204] P.H. Francis-West, A. Abdelfattah, P. Chen, C. Allen, J. Parish, R. Ladher, S. Allen, S. MacPherson, F.P. Luyten, C.W. Archer, Mechanisms of GDF-5 action during skeletal development, Development 126 (1999) 1305-1315.
- [205] B. Mikic, B.J. Schalet, R.T. Clark, V. Gaschen, E.B. Hunziker, GDF-5 deficiency in mice alters the ultrastructure, mechanical properties and composition of the Achilles tendon, J Orthop Res 19 (2001) 365-371.
- [206] S.H. Ralston, B. de Crombrugghe, Genetic regulation of bone mass and susceptibility to osteoporosis, Genes Dev 20 (2006) 2492-2506.
- [207] B.L. Langdahl, M. Carstens, L. Stenkjaer, E.F. Eriksen, Polymorphisms in the transforming growth factor beta 1 gene and osteoporosis, Bone 32 (2003) 297-310.
- [208] Y. Yamada, A. Miyauchi, J. Goto, Y. Takagi, H. Okuizumi, M. Kanematsu, M. Hase, H. Takai, A. Harada, K. Ikeda, Association of a polymorphism of the transforming growth factor-beta1 gene with genetic susceptibility to osteoporosis in postmenopausal Japanese women, J Bone Miner Res 13 (1998) 1569-1576.
- [209] Y. Yamada, A. Harada, T. Hosoi, A. Miyauchi, K. Ikeda, H. Ohta, M. Shiraki, Association of transforming growth factor beta1 genotype with therapeutic response to active vitamin D for postmenopausal osteoporosis, J Bone Miner Res 15 (2000) 415-420.
- [210] Y. Watanabe, A. Kinoshita, T. Yamada, T. Ohta, T. Kishino, N. Matsumoto, M. Ishikawa, N. Niikawa, K. Yoshiura, A catalog of 106 single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) and 11 other types of variations in genes for transforming growth factor-beta1 (TGF-beta1) and its signaling pathway, J Hum Genet 47 (2002) 478-483.
- [211] U. Styrkarsdottir, J.B. Cazier, A. Kong, O. Rolfsson, H. Larsen, E. Bjarnadottir, V.D. Johannsdottir, M.S. Sigurdardottir, Y. Bagger, C. Christiansen, I. Reynisdottir, S.F. Grant, K. Jonasson, M.L. Frigge, J.R. Gulcher, G. Sigurdsson, K. Stefansson, Linkage of osteoporosis to chromosome 20p12 and association to BMP2, PLoS Biol 1 (2003) E69.

- [212] M. Medici, J.B. van Meurs, F. Rivadeneira, H. Zhao, P.P. Arp, A. Hofman, H.A. Pols, A.G. Uitterlinden, BMP-2 gene polymorphisms and osteoporosis: the Rotterdam Study, J Bone Miner Res 21 (2006) 845-854.
- [213] L. Ramesh Babu, S.G. Wilson, I.M. Dick, F.M. Islam, A. Devine, R.L. Prince, Bone mass effects of a BMP4 gene polymorphism in postmenopausal women, Bone 36 (2005) 555-561.
- [214] J.L. Su, C.Y. Yang, M. Zhao, M.L. Kuo, M.L. Yen, Forkhead proteins are critical for bone morphogenetic protein-2 regulation and anti-tumor activity of resveratrol, J Biol Chem 282 (2007) 19385-19398.
- [215] R.L. van Bezooijen, P. ten Dijke, S.E. Papapoulos, C.W. Lowik, SOST/sclerostin, an osteocyte-derived negative regulator of bone formation, Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 16 (2005) 319-327.
- [216] W. Balemans, M. Ebeling, N. Patel, E. Van Hul, P. Olson, M. Dioszegi, C. Lacza, W. Wuyts, J. Van Den Ende, P. Willems, A.F. Paes-Alves, S. Hill, M. Bueno, F.J. Ramos, P. Tacconi, F.G. Dikkers, C. Stratakis, K. Lindpaintner, B. Vickery, D. Foernzler, W. Van Hul, Increased bone density in sclerosteosis is due to the deficiency of a novel secreted protein (SOST), Hum Mol Genet 10 (2001) 537-543.
- [217] M.E. Brunkow, J.C. Gardner, J. Van Ness, B.W. Paeper, B.R. Kovacevich, S. Proll, J.E. Skonier, L. Zhao, P.J. Sabo, Y. Fu, R.S. Alisch, L. Gillett, T. Colbert, P. Tacconi, D. Galas, H. Hamersma, P. Beighton, J. Mulligan, Bone dysplasia sclerosteosis results from loss of the SOST gene product, a novel cystine knot-containing protein, Am J Hum Genet 68 (2001) 577-589.
- [218] R.L. van Bezooijen, B.A. Roelen, A. Visser, L. van der Wee-Pals, E. de Wilt, M. Karperien, H. Hamersma, S.E. Papapoulos, P. ten Dijke, C.W. Lowik, Sclerostin is an osteocyte-expressed negative regulator of bone formation, but not a classical BMP antagonist, J Exp Med 199 (2004) 805-814.
- [219] D.G. Winkler, M.K. Sutherland, J.C. Geoghegan, C. Yu, T. Hayes, J.E. Skonier, D. Shpektor, M. Jonas, B.R. Kovacevich, K. Staehling-Hampton, M. Appleby, M.E. Brunkow, J.A. Latham, Osteocyte control of bone formation via sclerostin, a novel BMP antagonist, EMBO J 22 (2003) 6267-6276.
- [220] K. Lehmann, P. Seemann, S. Stricker, M. Sammar, B. Meyer, K. Suring, F. Majewski, S. Tinschert, K.H. Grzeschik, D. Muller, P. Knaus, P. Nurnberg, S. Mundlos, Mutations in bone morphogenetic protein receptor 1B cause brachydactyly type A2, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100 (2003) 12277-12282.
- [221] P. Seemann, R. Schwappacher, K.W. Kjaer, D. Krakow, K. Lehmann, K. Dawson, S. Stricker, J. Pohl, F. Ploger, E. Staub, J. Nickel, W. Sebald, P. Knaus, S. Mundlos, Activating and deactivating mutations in the receptor interaction site of GDF5 cause symphalangism or brachydactyly type A2, J Clin Invest 115 (2005) 2373-2381.
- [222] K. Lehmann, P. Seemann, F. Silan, T.O. Goecke, S. Irgang, K.W. Kjaer, S. Kjaergaard, M.J. Mahoney, S. Morlot, C. Reissner, B. Kerr, A.O. Wilkie, S. Mundlos, A new subtype of brachydactyly type B caused by point mutations in the bone morphogenetic protein antagonist NOGGIN, Am J Hum Genet 81 (2007) 388-396.

- [223] A. Nishiyama, Y. Takeshima, K. Saiki, A. Narukage, Y. Oyazato, M. Yagi, M. Matsuo, Two novel missense mutations in the myostatin gene identified in Japanese patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy, BMC Med Genet 8 (2007) 19.
- [224] E. Montgomery, C. Pennington, C.M. Isales, M.W. Hamrick, Muscle-bone interactions in dystrophin-deficient and myostatin-deficient mice, Anat Rec A Discov Mol Cell Evol Biol 286 (2005) 814-822.
- [225] S. Bogdanovich, T.O. Krag, E.R. Barton, L.D. Morris, L.A. Whittemore, R.S. Ahima, T.S. Khurana, Functional improvement of dystrophic muscle by myostatin blockade, Nature 420 (2002) 418-421.
- [226] K.R. Wagner, A.C. McPherron, N. Winik, S.J. Lee, Loss of myostatin attenuates severity of muscular dystrophy in mdx mice, Ann Neurol 52 (2002) 832-836.
- [227] M. Schuelke, K.R. Wagner, L.E. Stolz, C. Hubner, T. Riebel, W. Komen, T. Braun, J.F. Tobin, S.J. Lee, Myostatin mutation associated with gross muscle hypertrophy in a child, N Engl J Med 350 (2004) 2682-2688.
- [228] P.G. Knight, C. Glister, TGF-beta superfamily members and ovarian follicle development, Reproduction 132 (2006) 191-206.
- [229] L.M. Bilezikjian, A.L. Blount, C.J. Donaldson, W.W. Vale, Pituitary actions of ligands of the TGF-beta family: activins and inhibins, Reproduction 132 (2006) 207-215.
- [230] T.M. Pierson, Y. Wang, F.J. DeMayo, M.M. Matzuk, S.Y. Tsai, B.W. Omalley, Regulable expression of inhibin A in wild-type and inhibin alpha null mice, Mol Endocrinol 14 (2000) 1075-1085.
- [231] M.M. Matzuk, T.R. Kumar, A. Bradley, Different phenotypes for mice deficient in either activins or activin receptor type II, Nature 374 (1995) 356-360.
- [232] A. Vassalli, M.M. Matzuk, H.A. Gardner, K.F. Lee, R. Jaenisch, Activin/inhibin beta B subunit gene disruption leads to defects in eyelid development and female reproduction, Genes Dev 8 (1994) 414-427.
- [233] C.J. Jorgez, M. Klysik, S.P. Jamin, R.R. Behringer, M.M. Matzuk, Granulosa cell-specific inactivation of follistatin causes female fertility defects, Mol Endocrinol 18 (2004) 953-967.
- [234] P. Beck-Peccoz, L. Persani, Premature ovarian failure, Orphanet J Rare Dis 1 (2006) 9.
- [235] E. Di Pasquale, P. Beck-Peccoz, L. Persani, Hypergonadotropic ovarian failure associated with an inherited mutation of human bone morphogenetic protein-15 (BMP15) gene, Am J Hum Genet 75 (2004) 106-111.
- [236] E. Di Pasquale, R. Rossetti, A. Marozzi, B. Bodega, S. Borgato, L. Cavallo, S. Einaudi, G. Radetti, G. Russo, M. Sacco, M. Wasniewska, T. Cole, P. Beck-Peccoz, L.M. Nelson, L. Persani, Identification of new variants of human BMP15 gene in a large cohort of women with premature ovarian failure, J Clin Endocrinol Metab 91 (2006) 1976-1979.
- [237] Y.Q. Su, X. Wu, M.J. O'Brien, F.L. Pendola, J.N. Denegre, M.M. Matzuk, J.J. Eppig, Synergistic roles of BMP15 and GDF9 in the development and

function of the oocyte-cumulus cell complex in mice: genetic evidence for an oocyte-granulosa cell regulatory loop, Dev Biol 276 (2004) 64-73.

- [238] S.M. Galloway, K.P. McNatty, L.M. Cambridge, M.P. Laitinen, J.L. Juengel, T.S. Jokiranta, R.J. McLaren, K. Luiro, K.G. Dodds, G.W. Montgomery, A.E. Beattie, G.H. Davis, O. Ritvos, Mutations in an oocyte-derived growth factor gene (BMP15) cause increased ovulation rate and infertility in a dosage-sensitive manner, Nat Genet 25 (2000) 279-283.
- [239] A.L. Chand, G.T. Ooi, C.A. Harrison, A.N. Shelling, D.M. Robertson, Functional analysis of the human inhibin {alpha} subunit variant A257T and its potential role in premature ovarian failure, Hum Reprod 22 (2007) 3241-3248.
- [240] A.N. Shelling, K.A. Burton, A.L. Chand, C.C. van Ee, J.T. France, C.M. Farquhar, S.R. Milsom, D.R. Love, K. Gersak, K. Aittomaki, I.M. Winship, Inhibin: a candidate gene for premature ovarian failure, Hum Reprod 15 (2000) 2644-2649.
- [241] A.L. Chand, D.M. Robertson, A.N. Shelling, C.A. Harrison, Mutational analysis of betaglycan/TGF-betaRIII in premature ovarian failure, Fertil Steril 87 (2007) 210-212.
- [242] J. Teixeira, S. Maheswaran, P.K. Donahoe, Mullerian inhibiting substance: an instructive developmental hormone with diagnostic and possible therapeutic applications, Endocr Rev 22 (2001) 657-674.
- [243] N. Josso, C. Belville, N. di Clemente, J.Y. Picard, AMH and AMH receptor defects in persistent Mullerian duct syndrome, Hum Reprod Update 11 (2005) 351-356.
- [244] C. Belville, N. Josso, J.Y. Picard, Persistence of Mullerian derivatives in males, Am J Med Genet 89 (1999) 218-223.
- [245] E. Faure, L. Gouedard, S. Imbeaud, R. Cate, J.Y. Picard, N. Josso, N. di Clemente, Mutant isoforms of the anti-Mullerian hormone type II receptor are not expressed at the cell membrane, J Biol Chem 271 (1996) 30571-30575.
- [246] L. Messika-Zeitoun, L. Gouedard, C. Belville, M. Dutertre, L. Lins, S. Imbeaud, I.A. Hughes, J.Y. Picard, N. Josso, N. di Clemente, Autosomal recessive segregation of a truncating mutation of anti-Mullerian type II receptor in a family affected by the persistent Mullerian duct syndrome contrasts with its dominant negative activity in vitro, J Clin Endocrinol Metab 86 (2001) 4390-4397.
- [247] L. Lipton, I. Tomlinson, The genetics of FAP and FAP-like syndromes, Fam Cancer 5 (2006) 221-226.
- [248] K. Sweet, J. Willis, X.P. Zhou, C. Gallione, T. Sawada, P. Alhopuro, S.K. Khoo, A. Patocs, C. Martin, S. Bridgeman, J. Heinz, R. Pilarski, R. Lehtonen, T.W. Prior, T. Frebourg, B.T. Teh, D.A. Marchuk, L.A. Aaltonen, C. Eng, Molecular classification of patients with unexplained hamartomatous and hyperplastic polyposis, JAMA 294 (2005) 2465-2473.
- [249] K. Soreide, E.A. Janssen, H. Soiland, H. Korner, J.P. Baak, Microsatellite instability in colorectal cancer, Br J Surg 93 (2006) 395-406.
- [250] K.H. Shin, Y.J. Park, J.G. Park, Mutational analysis of the transforming growth factor beta receptor type II gene in hereditary nonpolyposis

colorectal cancer and early-onset colorectal cancer patients, Clin Cancer Res 6 (2000) 536-540.

- [251] Y. Bian, T. Caldes, J. Wijnen, P. Franken, H. Vasen, V. Kaklamani, K. Nafa, P. Peterlongo, N. Ellis, J.A. Baron, J. Burn, G. Moeslein, P.J. Morrison, Y. Chen, H. Ahsan, P. Watson, H.T. Lynch, A. de la Chapelle, R. Fodde, B. Pasche, TGFBR1*6A may contribute to hereditary colorectal cancer, J Clin Oncol 23 (2005) 3074-3078.
- [252] X.P. Zhou, K. Woodford-Richens, R. Lehtonen, K. Kurose, M. Aldred, H. Hampel, V. Launonen, S. Virta, R. Pilarski, R. Salovaara, W.F. Bodmer, B.A. Conrad, M. Dunlop, S.V. Hodgson, T. Iwama, H. Jarvinen, I. Kellokumpu, J.C. Kim, B. Leggett, D. Markie, J.P. Mecklin, K. Neale, R. Phillips, J. Piris, P. Rozen, R.S. Houlston, L.A. Aaltonen, I.P. Tomlinson, C. Eng, Germline mutations in BMPR1A/ALK3 cause a subset of cases of juvenile polyposis syndrome and of Cowden and Bannayan-Riley-Ruvalcaba syndromes, Am J Hum Genet 69 (2001) 704-711.
- [253] R.L. Elliott, G.C. Blobe, Role of transforming growth factor Beta in human cancer, J Clin Oncol 23 (2005) 2078-2093.
- [254] B. Bierie, H.L. Moses, Tumour microenvironment: TGFbeta: the molecular Jekyll and Hyde of cancer, Nat Rev Cancer 6 (2006) 506-520.
- [255] M. Dong, G.C. Blobe, Role of transforming growth factor-beta in hematologic malignancies, Blood 107 (2006) 4589-4596.
- [256] D. Hanahan, R.A. Weinberg, The hallmarks of cancer, Cell 100 (2000) 57-70.
- [257] S. Yang, C. Zhong, B. Frenkel, A.H. Reddi, P. Roy-Burman, Diverse biological effect and Smad signaling of bone morphogenetic protein 7 in prostate tumor cells, Cancer Res 65 (2005) 5769-5777.
- [258] H. Deng, R. Makizumi, T.S. Ravikumar, H. Dong, W. Yang, W.L. Yang, Bone morphogenetic protein-4 is overexpressed in colonic adenocarcinomas and promotes migration and invasion of HCT116 cells, Exp Cell Res 313 (2007) 1033-1044.
- [259] J. Kleeff, H. Maruyama, T. Ishiwata, H. Sawhney, H. Friess, M.W. Buchler, M. Korc, Bone morphogenetic protein 2 exerts diverse effects on cell growth in vitro and is expressed in human pancreatic cancer in vivo, Gastroenterology 116 (1999) 1202-1216.
- [260] I.Y. Kim, S.J. Kim, Role of bone morphogenetic proteins in transitional cell carcinoma cells, Cancer Lett 241 (2006) 118-123.
- [261] E. Ziv, J. Cauley, P.A. Morin, R. Saiz, W.S. Browner, Association between the T29-->C polymorphism in the transforming growth factor beta1 gene and breast cancer among elderly white women: The Study of Osteoporotic Fractures, JAMA 285 (2001) 2859-2863.
- [262] A.M. Dunning, P.D. Ellis, S. McBride, H.L. Kirschenlohr, C.S. Healey, P.R. Kemp, R.N. Luben, J. Chang-Claude, A. Mannermaa, V. Kataja, P.D. Pharoah, D.F. Easton, B.A. Ponder, J.C. Metcalfe, A transforming growth factorbeta1 signal peptide variant increases secretion in vitro and is associated with increased incidence of invasive breast cancer, Cancer Res 63 (2003) 2610-2615.

- [263] L. Le Marchand, C.A. Haiman, D. van den Berg, L.R. Wilkens, L.N. Kolonel, B.E. Henderson, T29C polymorphism in the transforming growth factor beta1 gene and postmenopausal breast cancer risk: the Multiethnic Cohort Study, Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 13 (2004) 412-415.
- [264] X.O. Shu, Y.T. Gao, Q. Cai, L. Pierce, H. Cai, Z.X. Ruan, G. Yang, F. Jin, W. Zheng, Genetic polymorphisms in the TGF-beta 1 gene and breast cancer survival: a report from the Shanghai Breast Cancer Study, Cancer Res 64 (2004) 836-839.
- [265] J. Beisner, M.B. Buck, P. Fritz, J. Dippon, M. Schwab, H. Brauch, G. Zugmaier, K. Pfizenmaier, C. Knabbe, A novel functional polymorphism in the transforming growth factor-beta2 gene promoter and tumor progression in breast cancer, Cancer Res 66 (2006) 7554-7561.
- [266] T. Chen, E.G. de Vries, H. Hollema, H.A. Yegen, V.F. Vellucci, H.D. Strickler, A. Hildesheim, M. Reiss, Structural alterations of transforming growth factor-beta receptor genes in human cervical carcinoma, Int J Cancer 82 (1999) 43-51.
- [267] V.G. Kaklamani, N. Hou, Y. Bian, J. Reich, K. Offit, L.S. Michel, W.S. Rubinstein, A. Rademaker, B. Pasche, TGFBR1*6A and cancer risk: a metaanalysis of seven case-control studies, J Clin Oncol 21 (2003) 3236-3243.
- [268] B. Song, S. Margolin, J. Skoglund, X. Zhou, J. Rantala, S. Picelli, B. Werelius, A. Lindblom, TGFBR1(*)6A and Int7G24A variants of transforming growth factor-beta receptor 1 in Swedish familial and sporadic breast cancer, Br J Cancer 97 (2007) 1175-1179.
- [269] T. Chen, C.R. Jackson, A. Link, M.P. Markey, B.M. Colligan, L.E. Douglass, J.O. Pemberton, J.A. Deddens, J.R. Graff, J.H. Carter, Int7G24A variant of transforming growth factor-beta receptor type I is associated with invasive breast cancer, Clin Cancer Res 12 (2006) 392-397.
- [270] T. Chen, D. Carter, L. Garrigue-Antar, M. Reiss, Transforming growth factor beta type I receptor kinase mutant associated with metastatic breast cancer, Cancer Res 58 (1998) 4805-4810.
- [271] R. Anbazhagan, D.M. Bornman, J.C. Johnston, W.H. Westra, E. Gabrielson, The S387Y mutations of the transforming growth factor-beta receptor type I gene is uncommon in metastases of breast cancer and other common types of adenocarcinoma, Cancer Res 59 (1999) 3363-3364.
- [272] M. Dong, T. How, K.C. Kirkbride, K.J. Gordon, J.D. Lee, N. Hempel, P. Kelly, B.J. Moeller, J.R. Marks, G.C. Blobe, The type III TGF-beta receptor suppresses breast cancer progression, J Clin Invest 117 (2007) 206-217.
- [273] G.J. Riggins, K.W. Kinzler, B. Vogelstein, S. Thiagalingam, Frequency of Smad gene mutations in human cancers, Cancer Res 57 (1997) 2578-2580.
- [274] W. Xie, J.C. Mertens, D.J. Reiss, D.L. Rimm, R.L. Camp, B.G. Haffty, M. Reiss, Alterations of Smad signaling in human breast carcinoma are associated with poor outcome: a tissue microarray study, Cancer Res 62 (2002) 497-505.
- [275] S.F. Arnold, E. Tims, B.E. McGrath, Identification of bone morphogenetic proteins and their receptors in human breast cancer cell lines: importance of BMP2, Cytokine 11 (1999) 1031-1037.

- [276] E.L. Alarmo, T. Kuukasjarvi, R. Karhu, A. Kallioniemi, A comprehensive expression survey of bone morphogenetic proteins in breast cancer highlights the importance of BMP4 and BMP7, Breast Cancer Res Treat 103 (2007) 239-246.
- [277] J.T. Buijs, N.V. Henriquez, P.G. van Overveld, G. van der Horst, I. Que, R. Schwaninger, C. Rentsch, P. Ten Dijke, A.M. Cleton-Jansen, K. Driouch, R. Lidereau, R. Bachelier, S. Vukicevic, P. Clezardin, S.E. Papapoulos, M.G. Cecchini, C.W. Lowik, G. van der Pluijm, Bone morphogenetic protein 7 in the development and treatment of bone metastases from breast cancer, Cancer Res 67 (2007) 8742-8751.
- [278] J.H. Clement, M. Raida, J. Sanger, R. Bicknell, J. Liu, A. Naumann, A. Geyer, A. Waldau, P. Hortschansky, A. Schmidt, K. Hoffken, S. Wolft, A.L. Harris, Bone morphogenetic protein 2 (BMP-2) induces in vitro invasion and in vivo hormone independent growth of breast carcinoma cells, Int J Oncol 27 (2005) 401-407.
- [279] M.W. Helms, J. Packeisen, C. August, B. Schittek, W. Boecker, B.H. Brandt, H. Buerger, First evidence supporting a potential role for the BMP/SMAD pathway in the progression of oestrogen receptor-positive breast cancer, J Pathol 206 (2005) 366-376.
- [280] R. Montesano, Bone morphogenetic protein-4 abrogates lumen formation by mammary epithelial cells and promotes invasive growth, Biochem Biophys Res Commun 353 (2007) 817-822.
- [281] Y. Xu, B. Pasche, TGF-beta signaling alterations and susceptibility to colorectal cancer, Hum Mol Genet 16 Spec No 1 (2007) R14-20.
- [282] N.M. Munoz, M. Upton, A. Rojas, M.K. Washington, L. Lin, A. Chytil, E.G. Sozmen, B.B. Madison, A. Pozzi, R.T. Moon, H.L. Moses, W.M. Grady, Transforming growth factor beta receptor type II inactivation induces the malignant transformation of intestinal neoplasms initiated by Apc mutation, Cancer Res 66 (2006) 9837-9844.
- [283] Y. Zhu, J.A. Richardson, L.F. Parada, J.M. Graff, Smad3 mutant mice develop metastatic colorectal cancer, Cell 94 (1998) 703-714.
- [284] B.G. Kim, C. Li, W. Qiao, M. Mamura, B. Kasprzak, M. Anver, L. Wolfraim, S. Hong, E. Mushinski, M. Potter, S.J. Kim, X.Y. Fu, C. Deng, J.J. Letterio, Smad4 signalling in T cells is required for suppression of gastrointestinal cancer, Nature 441 (2006) 1015-1019.
- [285] M. Yan, R.M. Rerko, P. Platzer, D. Dawson, J. Willis, M. Tong, E. Lawrence, J. Lutterbaugh, S. Lu, J.K. Willson, G. Luo, J. Hensold, H.H. Tai, K. Wilson, S.D. Markowitz, 15-Hydroxyprostaglandin dehydrogenase, a COX-2 oncogene antagonist, is a TGF-beta-induced suppressor of human gastrointestinal cancers, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101 (2004) 17468-17473.
- [286] S.I. Berndt, W.Y. Huang, N. Chatterjee, M. Yeager, R. Welch, S.J. Chanock, J.L. Weissfeld, R.E. Schoen, R.B. Hayes, Transforming growth factor beta 1 (TGFB1) gene polymorphisms and risk of advanced colorectal adenoma, Carcinogenesis 28 (2007) 1965-1970.

- [287] H. Deng, T.S. Ravikumar, W.L. Yang, Bone morphogenetic protein-4 inhibits heat-induced apoptosis by modulating MAPK pathways in human colon cancer HCT116 cells, Cancer Lett 256 (2007) 207-217.
- [288] C. Grijelmo, C. Rodrigue, M. Svrcek, E. Bruyneel, A. Hendrix, O. de Wever, C. Gespach, Proinvasive activity of BMP-7 through SMAD4/src-independent and ERK/Rac/JNK-dependent signaling pathways in colon cancer cells, Cell Signal 19 (2007) 1722-1732.
- [289] H. Beppu, O.N. Mwizerwa, Y. Beppu, M.P. Dattwyler, G.Y. Lauwers, K.D. Bloch, A.M. Goldstein, Stromal inactivation of BMPRII leads to colorectal epithelial overgrowth and polyp formation, Oncogene (2007).
- [290] S.G. Rane, J.H. Lee, H.M. Lin, Transforming growth factor-beta pathway: role in pancreas development and pancreatic disease, Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 17 (2006) 107-119.
- [291] M. Goggins, M. Shekher, K. Turnacioglu, C.J. Yeo, R.H. Hruban, S.E. Kern, Genetic alterations of the transforming growth factor beta receptor genes in pancreatic and biliary adenocarcinomas, Cancer Res 58 (1998) 5329-5332.
- [292] R.L. Baldwin, H. Friess, M. Yokoyama, M.E. Lopez, M.S. Kobrin, M.W. Buchler, M. Korc, Attenuated ALK5 receptor expression in human pancreatic cancer: correlation with resistance to growth inhibition, Int J Cancer 67 (1996) 283-288.
- [293] A. Villanueva, C. Garcia, A.B. Paules, M. Vicente, M. Megias, G. Reyes, P. de Villalonga, N. Agell, F. Lluis, O. Bachs, G. Capella, Disruption of the antiproliferative TGF-beta signaling pathways in human pancreatic cancer cells, Oncogene 17 (1998) 1969-1978.
- [294] G. Schneider, R.M. Schmid, Genetic alterations in pancreatic carcinoma, Mol Cancer 2 (2003) 15.
- [295] S.A. Hahn, A.T. Hoque, C.A. Moskaluk, L.T. da Costa, M. Schutte, E. Rozenblum, A.B. Seymour, C.L. Weinstein, C.J. Yeo, R.H. Hruban, S.E. Kern, Homozygous deletion map at 18q21.1 in pancreatic cancer, Cancer Res 56 (1996) 490-494.
- [296] K. Izeradjene, C. Combs, M. Best, A. Gopinathan, A. Wagner, W.M. Grady, C.X. Deng, R.H. Hruban, N.V. Adsay, D.A. Tuveson, S.R. Hingorani, Kras(G12D) and Smad4/Dpc4 haploinsufficiency cooperate to induce mucinous cystic neoplasms and invasive adenocarcinoma of the pancreas, Cancer Cell 11 (2007) 229-243.
- [297] H. Ijichi, A. Chytil, A.E. Gorska, M.E. Aakre, Y. Fujitani, S. Fujitani, C.V. Wright, H.L. Moses, Aggressive pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma in mice caused by pancreas-specific blockade of transforming growth factor-beta signaling in cooperation with active Kras expression, Genes Dev 20 (2006) 3147-3160.
- [298] N. Culhaci, O. Sagol, S. Karademir, H. Astarcioglu, I. Astarcioglu, M. Soyturk, I. Oztop, F. Obuz, Expression of transforming growth factor-beta-1 and p27Kip1 in pancreatic adenocarcinomas: relation with cell-cycle-associated proteins and clinicopathologic characteristics, BMC Cancer 5 (2005) 98.

- [299] W. von Bernstorff, M. Voss, S. Freichel, A. Schmid, I. Vogel, C. Johnk, D. Henne-Bruns, B. Kremer, H. Kalthoff, Systemic and local immunosuppression in pancreatic cancer patients, Clin Cancer Res 7 (2001) 925s-932s.
- [300] K.J. Gordon, M. Dong, E.M. Chislock, T.A. Fields, G.C. Blobe, Loss of Type III Transforming Growth Factor {beta} Receptor Expression Increases Motility and Invasiveness associated with Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition during Pancreatic Cancer Progression, Carcinogenesis (2007).
- [301] J.C. Wang, C.C. Su, J.B. Xu, L.Z. Chen, X.H. Hu, G.Y. Wang, Y. Bao, Q. Huang, S.B. Fu, P. Li, C.Q. Lu, R.M. Zhang, Z.W. Luo, Novel microdeletion in the transforming growth factor beta type II receptor gene is associated with giant and large cell variants of nonsmall cell lung carcinoma, Genes Chromosomes Cancer 46 (2007) 192-201.
- [302] T. Munoz-Antonia, C. Muro-Cacho, S. Sharma, A. Cantor, G. Bepler, Expression of TGFbeta type-II receptor in association with markers of proliferation and apoptosis in premalignant lung lesions, Cancer 110 (2007) 1527-1531.
- [303] A.C. Borczuk, G.C. Cappellini, H.K. Kim, M. Hesdorffer, R.N. Taub, C.A. Powell, Molecular profiling of malignant peritoneal mesothelioma identifies the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway as a therapeutic target in poor prognosis tumors, Oncogene 26 (2007) 610-617.
- [304] A.C. Borczuk, H.K. Kim, H.A. Yegen, R.A. Friedman, C.A. Powell, Lung adenocarcinoma global profiling identifies type II transforming growth factor-beta receptor as a repressor of invasiveness, Am J Respir Crit Care Med 172 (2005) 729-737.
- [305] A.C. Borczuk, N. Papanikolaou, R.L. Toonkel, M. Sole, L.A. Gorenstein, M.E. Ginsburg, J.R. Sonett, R.A. Friedman, C.A. Powell, Lung adenocarcinoma invasion in TGFbetaRII-deficient cells is mediated by CCL5/RANTES, Oncogene (2007).
- [306] E.C. Finger, R.S. Turley, M. Dong, T. How, T.A. Fields, G.C. Blobe, T RIII suppresses non-small cell lung cancer invasiveness and tumorigenicity, Carcinogenesis (in press) (2008).
- [307] R.R. de Jonge, L. Garrigue-Antar, V.F. Vellucci, M. Reiss, Frequent inactivation of the transforming growth factor beta type II receptor in smallcell lung carcinoma cells, Oncol Res 9 (1997) 89-98.
- [308] A. Bandyopadhyay, J.K. Agyin, L. Wang, Y. Tang, X. Lei, B.M. Story, J.E. Cornell, B.H. Pollock, G.R. Mundy, L.Z. Sun, Inhibition of pulmonary and skeletal metastasis by a transforming growth factor-beta type I receptor kinase inhibitor, Cancer Res 66 (2006) 6714-6721.
- [309] S. Hiratsuka, A. Watanabe, H. Aburatani, Y. Maru, Tumour-mediated upregulation of chemoattractants and recruitment of myeloid cells predetermines lung metastasis, Nat Cell Biol 8 (2006) 1369-1375.
- [310] E.M. Langenfeld, Y. Kong, J. Langenfeld, Bone morphogenetic protein 2 stimulation of tumor growth involves the activation of Smad-1/5, Oncogene 25 (2006) 685-692.

- [311] E.M. Langenfeld, Y. Kong, J. Langenfeld, Bone morphogenetic protein-2induced transformation involves the activation of mammalian target of rapamycin, Mol Cancer Res 3 (2005) 679-684.
- [312] D. Danielpour, Functions and regulation of transforming growth factor-beta (TGF-beta) in the prostate, Eur J Cancer 41 (2005) 846-857.
- [313] A. Ewart-Toland, J.M. Chan, J. Yuan, A. Balmain, J. Ma, A gain of function TGFB1 polymorphism may be associated with late stage prostate cancer, Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 13 (2004) 759-764.
- [314] F. Zhang, J. Lee, S. Lu, C.A. Pettaway, Z. Dong, Blockade of transforming growth factor-beta signaling suppresses progression of androgenindependent human prostate cancer in nude mice, Clin Cancer Res 11 (2005) 4512-4520.
- [315] W.H. Tu, T.Z. Thomas, N. Masumori, N.A. Bhowmick, A.E. Gorska, Y. Shyr, S. Kasper, T. Case, R.L. Roberts, S.B. Shappell, H.L. Moses, R.J. Matusik, The loss of TGF-beta signaling promotes prostate cancer metastasis, Neoplasia 5 (2003) 267-277.
- [316] Y. Guo, N. Kyprianou, Restoration of transforming growth factor beta signaling pathway in human prostate cancer cells suppresses tumorigenicity via induction of caspase-1-mediated apoptosis, Cancer Res 59 (1999) 1366-1371.
- [317] S. Lu, J. Lee, M. Revelo, X. Wang, Z. Dong, Smad3 is overexpressed in advanced human prostate cancer and necessary for progressive growth of prostate cancer cells in nude mice, Clin Cancer Res 13 (2007) 5692-5702.
- [318] H.L. Adler, M.A. McCurdy, M.W. Kattan, T.L. Timme, P.T. Scardino, T.C. Thompson, Elevated levels of circulating interleukin-6 and transforming growth factor-beta1 in patients with metastatic prostatic carcinoma, J Urol 161 (1999) 182-187.
- [319] K. Stravodimos, C. Constantinides, T. Manousakas, C. Pavlaki, D. Pantazopoulos, A. Giannopoulos, C. Dimopoulos, Immunohistochemical expression of transforming growth factor beta 1 and nm-23 H1 antioncogene in prostate cancer: divergent correlation with clinicopathological parameters, Anticancer Res 20 (2000) 3823-3828.
- [320] G.M. Sheehan, B.V. Kallakury, C.E. Sheehan, H.A. Fisher, R.P. Kaufman, Jr., J.S. Ross, Smad4 protein expression correlates with grade, stage, and DNA ploidy in prostatic adenocarcinomas, Hum Pathol 36 (2005) 1204-1209.
- [321] R.S. Turley, E.C. Finger, N. Hempel, T. How, T.A. Fields, G.C. Blobe, The type III transforming growth factor-beta receptor as a novel tumor suppressor gene in prostate cancer, Cancer Res 67 (2007) 1090-1098.
- [322] S. Noorali, T. Kurita, B. Woolcock, T.R. de Algara, M. Lo, V. Paralkar, P. Hoodless, J. Vielkind, Dynamics of expression of growth differentiation factor 15 in normal and PIN development in the mouse, Differentiation 75 (2007) 325-336.
- [323] J.T. Buijs, C.A. Rentsch, G. van der Horst, P.G. van Overveld, A. Wetterwald, R. Schwaninger, N.V. Henriquez, P. Ten Dijke, F. Borovecki, R. Markwalder, G.N. Thalmann, S.E. Papapoulos, R.C. Pelger, S. Vukicevic, M.G. Cecchini, C.W. Lowik, G. van der Pluijm, BMP7, a putative regulator

of epithelial homeostasis in the human prostate, is a potent inhibitor of prostate cancer bone metastasis in vivo, Am J Pathol 171 (2007) 1047-1057.

- [324] J.P. Thiery, J.P. Sleeman, Complex networks orchestrate epithelialmesenchymal transitions, Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 7 (2006) 131-142.
- [325] J. Zavadil, E.P. Bottinger, TGF-beta and epithelial-to-mesenchymal transitions, Oncogene 24 (2005) 5764-5774.
- [326] R.L. Slayton, L. Williams, J.C. Murray, J.J. Wheeler, A.C. Lidral, C.J. Nishimura, Genetic association studies of cleft lip and/or palate with hypodontia outside the cleft region, Cleft Palate Craniofac J 40 (2003) 274-279.
- [327] A. Tanabe, S. Taketani, Y. Endo-Ichikawa, R. Tokunaga, Y. Ogawa, M. Hiramoto, Analysis of the candidate genes responsible for non-syndromic cleft lip and palate in Japanese people, Clin Sci (Lond) 99 (2000) 105-111.
- [328] M. Dudas, A. Nagy, N.J. Laping, A. Moustakas, V. Kaartinen, Tgf-beta3induced palatal fusion is mediated by Alk-5/Smad pathway, Dev Biol 266 (2004) 96-108.
- [329] G. Proetzel, S.A. Pawlowski, M.V. Wiles, M. Yin, G.P. Boivin, P.N. Howles, J. Ding, M.W. Ferguson, T. Doetschman, Transforming growth factor-beta 3 is required for secondary palate fusion, Nat Genet 11 (1995) 409-414.
- [330] X.M. Cui, N. Shiomi, J. Chen, T. Saito, T. Yamamoto, Y. Ito, P. Bringas, Y. Chai, C.F. Shuler, Overexpression of Smad2 in Tgf-beta3-null mutant mice rescues cleft palate, Dev Biol 278 (2005) 193-202.
- [331] A.S. Aylsworth, Clinical aspects of defects in the determination of laterality, Am J Med Genet 101 (2001) 345-355.
- [332] L.A. Lowe, D.M. Supp, K. Sampath, T. Yokoyama, C.V. Wright, S.S. Potter, P. Overbeek, M.R. Kuehn, Conserved left-right asymmetry of nodal expression and alterations in murine situs inversus, Nature 381 (1996) 158-161.
- [333] J. Collignon, I. Varlet, E.J. Robertson, Relationship between asymmetric nodal expression and the direction of embryonic turning, Nature 381 (1996) 155-158.
- [334] M. Gebbia, G.B. Ferrero, G. Pilia, M.T. Bassi, A. Aylsworth, M. Penman-Splitt, L.M. Bird, J.S. Bamforth, J. Burn, D. Schlessinger, D.L. Nelson, B. Casey, X-linked situs abnormalities result from mutations in ZIC3, Nat Genet 17 (1997) 305-308.
- [335] C. Meno, Y. Ito, Y. Saijoh, Y. Matsuda, K. Tashiro, S. Kuhara, H. Hamada, Two closely-related left-right asymmetrically expressed genes, lefty-1 and lefty-2: their distinct expression domains, chromosomal linkage and direct neuralizing activity in Xenopus embryos, Genes Cells 2 (1997) 513-524.
- [336] C. Meno, Y. Saijoh, H. Fujii, M. Ikeda, T. Yokoyama, M. Yokoyama, Y. Toyoda, H. Hamada, Left-right asymmetric expression of the TGF beta-family member lefty in mouse embryos, Nature 381 (1996) 151-155.
- [337] C. Meno, A. Shimono, Y. Saijoh, K. Yashiro, K. Mochida, S. Ohishi, S. Noji, H. Kondoh, H. Hamada, lefty-1 is required for left-right determination as a regulator of lefty-2 and nodal, Cell 94 (1998) 287-297.

- [338] K. Kosaki, M.T. Bassi, R. Kosaki, M. Lewin, J. Belmont, G. Schauer, B. Casey, Characterization and mutation analysis of human LEFTY A and LEFTY B, homologues of murine genes implicated in left-right axis development, Am J Hum Genet 64 (1999) 712-721.
- [339] C.T. Rankin, T. Bunton, A.M. Lawler, S.J. Lee, Regulation of left-right patterning in mice by growth/differentiation factor-1, Nat Genet 24 (2000) 262-265.
- [340] K. Okada, K. Hashimoto, Y. Iwata, K. Nakamura, M. Tsujii, K.J. Tsuchiya, Y. Sekine, S. Suda, K. Suzuki, G. Sugihara, H. Matsuzaki, T. Sugiyama, M. Kawai, Y. Minabe, N. Takei, N. Mori, Decreased serum levels of transforming growth factor-beta1 in patients with autism, Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 31 (2007) 187-190.
- [341] Y.K. Kim, A.M. Myint, B.H. Lee, C.S. Han, H.J. Lee, D.J. Kim, B.E. Leonard, Th1, Th2 and Th3 cytokine alteration in schizophrenia, Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 28 (2004) 1129-1134.
- [342] M.P. Vawter, O. Dillon-Carter, W.W. Tourtellotte, P. Carvey, W.J. Freed, TGFbeta1 and TGFbeta2 concentrations are elevated in Parkinson's disease in ventricular cerebrospinal fluid, Exp Neurol 142 (1996) 313-322.
- [343] J. van Horssen, L. Bo, C.D. Dijkstra, H.E. de Vries, Extensive extracellular matrix depositions in active multiple sclerosis lesions, Neurobiol Dis 24 (2006) 484-491.
- [344] I. Tesseur, K. Zou, L. Esposito, F. Bard, E. Berber, J.V. Can, A.H. Lin, L. Crews, P. Tremblay, P. Mathews, L. Mucke, E. Masliah, T. Wyss-Coray, Deficiency in neuronal TGF-beta signaling promotes neurodegeneration and Alzheimer's pathology, J Clin Invest 116 (2006) 3060-3069.
- [345] L. Kupershmidt, T. Amit, O. Bar-Am, M.B. Youdim, Z. Blumenfeld, The neuroprotective effect of Activin A and B: implication for neurodegenerative diseases, J Neurochem 103 (2007) 962-971.
- [346] M. Thys, I. Schrauwen, K. Vanderstraeten, K. Janssens, N. Dieltjens, K. Van Den Bogaert, E. Fransen, W. Chen, M. Ealy, M. Claustres, C.R. Cremers, I. Dhooge, F. Declau, J. Claes, P. Van de Heyning, R. Vincent, T. Somers, E. Offeciers, R.J. Smith, G. Van Camp, The coding polymorphism T263I in TGF-beta1 is associated with otosclerosis in two independent populations, Hum Mol Genet 16 (2007) 2021-2030.
- [347] W. Baran, J.C. Szepietowski, G. Mazur, E. Baran, TGF-beta(1) gene polymorphism in psoriasis vulgaris, Cytokine 38 (2007) 8-11.
- [348] K. Kikuchi, A. Tanaka, M. Matsushita, E. Kitazawa, N. Hosoya, Y. Kawashima, C. Selmi, M.E. Gershwin, H. Miyakawa, Genetic polymorphisms of transforming growth factor beta-1 promoter and primary biliary cirrhosis in Japanese patients, Ann N Y Acad Sci 1110 (2007) 15-22.
- [349] M.T. Salam, W.J. Gauderman, R. McConnell, P.C. Lin, F.D. Gilliland, Transforming Growth Factor-{beta}1 C-509T Polymorphism, Oxidant Stress, and Early Onset Childhood Asthma, Am J Respir Crit Care Med (2007).
- [350] J.L. Babitt, F.W. Huang, D.M. Wrighting, Y. Xia, Y. Sidis, T.A. Samad, J.A. Campagna, R.T. Chung, A.L. Schneyer, C.J. Woolf, N.C. Andrews, H.Y. Lin,

Bone morphogenetic protein signaling by hemojuvelin regulates hepcidin expression, Nat Genet 38 (2006) 531-539.

- [351] J. Milet, V. Dehais, C. Bourgain, A.M. Jouanolle, A. Mosser, M. Perrin, J. Morcet, P. Brissot, V. David, Y. Deugnier, J. Mosser, Common variants in the BMP2, BMP4, and HJV genes of the hepcidin regulation pathway modulate HFE hemochromatosis penetrance, Am J Hum Genet 81 (2007) 799-807.
- [352] J.L. Babitt, F.W. Huang, Y. Xia, Y. Sidis, N.C. Andrews, H.Y. Lin, Modulation of bone morphogenetic protein signaling in vivo regulates systemic iron balance, J Clin Invest 117 (2007) 1933-1939.
- [353] H. Tashiro, H. Shimokawa, K. Sadamatu, K. Yamamoto, Prognostic significance of plasma concentrations of transforming growth factor-beta in patients with coronary artery disease, Coron Artery Dis 13 (2002) 139-143.
- [354] M. Wildgruber, W. Weiss, H. Berger, O. Wolf, H.H. Eckstein, P. Heider, Association of circulating transforming growth factor beta, tumor necrosis factor alpha and basic fibroblast growth factor with restenosis after transluminal angioplasty, Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 34 (2007) 35-43.
- [355] B.H. von Rahden, H.J. Stein, M. Feith, F. Puhringer, J. Theisen, J.R. Siewert, M. Sarbia, Overexpression of TGF-beta1 in esophageal (Barrett's) adenocarcinoma is associated with advanced stage of disease and poor prognosis, Mol Carcinog 45 (2006) 786-794.
- [356] H. Saito, S. Tsujitani, S. Oka, A. Kondo, M. Ikeguchi, M. Maeta, N. Kaibara, An elevated serum level of transforming growth factor-beta 1 (TGF-beta 1) significantly correlated with lymph node metastasis and poor prognosis in patients with gastric carcinoma, Anticancer Res 20 (2000) 4489-4493.
- [357] K.S. Shim, K.H. Kim, W.S. Han, E.B. Park, Elevated serum levels of transforming growth factor-beta1 in patients with colorectal carcinoma: its association with tumor progression and its significant decrease after curative surgical resection, Cancer 85 (1999) 554-561.
- [358] Y. Lin, S. Kikuchi, A. Tamakoshi, Y. Obata, K. Yagyu, Y. Inaba, M. Kurosawa, T. Kawamura, Y. Motohashi, T. Ishibashi, Serum transforming growth factor-beta1 levels and pancreatic cancer risk: a nested case-control study (Japan), Cancer Causes Control 17 (2006) 1077-1082.
- [359] J.F. Tsai, J.E. Jeng, L.Y. Chuang, M.L. Yang, M.S. Ho, W.Y. Chang, M.Y. Hsieh, Z.Y. Lin, J.H. Tsai, Elevated urinary transforming growth factorbeta1 level as a tumour marker and predictor of poor survival in cirrhotic hepatocellular carcinoma, Br J Cancer 76 (1997) 244-250.
- [360] S.M. Sheen-Chen, H.S. Chen, C.W. Sheen, H.L. Eng, W.J. Chen, Serum levels of transforming growth factor beta1 in patients with breast cancer, Arch Surg 136 (2001) 937-940.
- [361] D. Bacman, S. Merkel, R. Croner, T. Papadopoulos, W. Brueckl, A. Dimmler, TGF-beta receptor 2 downregulation in tumour-associated stroma worsens prognosis and high-grade tumours show more tumour-associated macrophages and lower TGF-beta1 expression in colon carcinoma: a retrospective study, BMC Cancer 7 (2007) 156.

- [362] D. Koumoundourou, T. Kassimatis, V. Zolota, E. Tzorakoeleftherakis, P. Ravazoula, V. Vassiliou, D. Kardamakis, J. Varakis, Prognostic significance of TGFbeta-1 and pSmad2/3 in breast cancer patients with T1-2,N0 tumours, Anticancer Res 27 (2007) 2613-2620.
- [363] Y.H. Kim, H.S. Lee, H.J. Lee, K. Hur, W.H. Kim, Y.J. Bang, S.J. Kim, K.U. Lee, K.J. Choe, H.K. Yang, Prognostic significance of the expression of Smad4 and Smad7 in human gastric carcinomas, Ann Oncol 15 (2004) 574-580.
- [364] W. Xie, D.L. Rimm, Y. Lin, W.J. Shih, M. Reiss, Loss of Smad signaling in human colorectal cancer is associated with advanced disease and poor prognosis, Cancer J 9 (2003) 302-312.
- [365] M. Daibata, Y. Nemoto, K. Bandobashi, N. Kotani, M. Kuroda, M. Tsuchiya, H. Okuda, T. Takakuwa, S. Imai, T. Shuin, H. Taguchi, Promoter hypermethylation of the bone morphogenetic protein-6 gene in malignant lymphoma, Clin Cancer Res 13 (2007) 3528-3535.
- [366] T. Rothhammer, P.J. Wild, S. Meyer, F. Bataille, A. Pauer, M. Klinkhammer-Schalke, R. Hein, F. Hofstaedter, A.K. Bosserhoff, Bone morphogenetic protein 7 (BMP7) expression is a potential novel prognostic marker for recurrence in patients with primary melanoma, Cancer Biomark 3 (2007) 111-117.
- [367] I.Y. Kim, D.H. Lee, D.K. Lee, H.J. Ahn, M.M. Kim, S.J. Kim, R.A. Morton, Loss of expression of bone morphogenetic protein receptor type II in human prostate cancer cells, Oncogene 23 (2004) 7651-7659.
- [368] F.J. Burrows, E.J. Derbyshire, P.L. Tazzari, P. Amlot, A.F. Gazdar, S.W. King, M. Letarte, E.S. Vitetta, P.E. Thorpe, Up-regulation of endoglin on vascular endothelial cells in human solid tumors: implications for diagnosis and therapy, Clin Cancer Res 1 (1995) 1623-1634.
- [369] E. Fonsatti, A.P. Jekunen, K.J. Kairemo, S. Coral, M. Snellman, M.R. Nicotra, P.G. Natali, M. Altomonte, M. Maio, Endoglin is a suitable target for efficient imaging of solid tumors: in vivo evidence in a canine mammary carcinoma model, Clin Cancer Res 6 (2000) 2037-2043.
- [370] L.A. Fernandez, E.M. Garrido-Martin, F. Sanz-Rodriguez, J.R. Ramirez, C. Morales-Angulo, R. Zarrabeitia, A. Perez-Molino, C. Bernabeu, L.M. Botella, Therapeutic action of tranexamic acid in hereditary haemorrhagic telangiectasia (HHT): regulation of ALK-1/endoglin pathway in endothelial cells, Thromb Haemost 97 (2007) 254-262.
- [371] C.L. Chen, S.S. Huang, J.S. Huang, Cholesterol modulates cellular TGF-beta responsiveness by altering TGF-beta binding to TGF-beta receptors, J Cell Physiol (2007).
- [372] U. FDA, A Study of Dental Implants Coated With Bone Morphogenetic Protein Placed in the Upper or Lower Jaw., (2007).
- [373] U. FDA, A Phase 2/3, Multicenter, Double-Blind, Randomized, Controlled Study of Recombinant Human Bone Morphogenetic Protein-2 (rhBMP-2)/Calcium Phosphate Matrix (CPM) in Closed Diaphyseal Tibial Fracture, (2006).

- [374] A.L. Mead, T.T. Wong, M.F. Cordeiro, I.K. Anderson, P.T. Khaw, Evaluation of anti-TGF-beta2 antibody as a new postoperative anti-scarring agent in glaucoma surgery, Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 44 (2003) 3394-3401.
- [375] U. FDA, Safety, Tolerability, and Pharmacokinetics of CAT-192 (Human Anti-TGF-Beta1 Monoclonal Antibody) in Patients With Early Stage Diffuse Systemic Sclerosis, (2002).
- [376] U. FDA, Phase I, Open-Label, Multi-Center, Single-Dose, Dose-Escalating, Safety, Tolerability and Pharmacokinetic Study of GC1008 in Patients With IPF, (2005).
- [377] U. FDA, A Phase 1 Study of the Safety and Efficacy of GC1008: A Human Anti Transforming Growth Factor-Beta (TGFβ) Monoclonal Antibody in Patients With Advanced Renal Cell Carcinoma or Malignant Melanoma, (2006).
- [378] S. Biswas, M. Guix, C. Rinehart, T.C. Dugger, A. Chytil, H.L. Moses, M.L. Freeman, C.L. Arteaga, Inhibition of TGF-beta with neutralizing antibodies prevents radiation-induced acceleration of metastatic cancer progression, J Clin Invest 117 (2007) 1305-1313.
- [379] P. Juarez, M.M. Vilchis-Landeros, J. Ponce-Coria, V. Mendoza, R. Hernandez-Pando, N.A. Bobadilla, F. Lopez-Casillas, Soluble betaglycan reduces renal damage progression in db/db mice, Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 292 (2007) F321-329.
- [380] A. Bandyopadhyay, Y. Zhu, S.N. Malik, J. Kreisberg, M.G. Brattain, E.A. Sprague, J. Luo, F. Lopez-Casillas, L.Z. Sun, Extracellular domain of TGFbeta type III receptor inhibits angiogenesis and tumor growth in human cancer cells, Oncogene 21 (2002) 3541-3551.
- [381] M.A. Rowland-Goldsmith, H. Maruyama, K. Matsuda, T. Idezawa, M. Ralli, S. Ralli, M. Korc, Soluble type II transforming growth factor-beta receptor attenuates expression of metastasis-associated genes and suppresses pancreatic cancer cell metastasis, Mol Cancer Ther 1 (2002) 161-167.
- [382] R.S. Muraoka, N. Dumont, C.A. Ritter, T.C. Dugger, D.M. Brantley, J. Chen, E. Easterly, L.R. Roebuck, S. Ryan, P.J. Gotwals, V. Koteliansky, C.L. Arteaga, Blockade of TGF-beta inhibits mammary tumor cell viability, migration, and metastases, J Clin Invest 109 (2002) 1551-1559.
- [383] J.P. Habashi, D.P. Judge, T.M. Holm, R.D. Cohn, B.L. Loeys, T.K. Cooper, L. Myers, E.C. Klein, G. Liu, C. Calvi, M. Podowski, E.R. Neptune, M.K. Halushka, D. Bedja, K. Gabrielson, D.B. Rifkin, L. Carta, F. Ramirez, D.L. Huso, H.C. Dietz, Losartan, an AT1 antagonist, prevents aortic aneurysm in a mouse model of Marfan syndrome, Science 312 (2006) 117-121.
- [384] R.D. Cohn, C. van Erp, J.P. Habashi, A.A. Soleimani, E.C. Klein, M.T. Lisi, M. Gamradt, C.M. ap Rhys, T.M. Holm, B.L. Loeys, F. Ramirez, D.P. Judge, C.W. Ward, H.C. Dietz, Angiotensin II type 1 receptor blockade attenuates TGF-beta-induced failure of muscle regeneration in multiple myopathic states, Nat Med 13 (2007) 204-210.
- [385] U. FDA, Trial of Beta Blocker Therapy (Atenolol) Versus Angiotensin II Receptor Blocker Therapy (Losartan) in Individuals With Marfan Syndrome (2007).

- [386] J.K. Burmester, S.A. Salzman, K.Q. Zhang, R.A. Dart, Small molecule antagonists of the TGF-beta1/TGF-beta receptor binding interaction, Med Oncol 23 (2006) 553-562.
- [387] P. Hau, P. Jachimczak, R. Schlingensiepen, F. Schulmeyer, T. Jauch, A. Steinbrecher, A. Brawanski, M. Proescholdt, J. Schlaier, J. Buchroithner, J. Pichler, G. Wurm, M. Mehdorn, R. Strege, G. Schuierer, V. Villarrubia, F. Fellner, O. Jansen, T. Straube, V. Nohria, M. Goldbrunner, M. Kunst, S. Schmaus, G. Stauder, U. Bogdahn, K.H. Schlingensiepen, Inhibition of TGF-beta2 with AP 12009 in recurrent malignant gliomas: from preclinical to phase I/II studies, Oligonucleotides 17 (2007) 201-212.
- [388] J. Nemunaitis, T. Jahan, H. Ross, D. Sterman, D. Richards, B. Fox, D. Jablons, J. Aimi, A. Lin, K. Hege, Phase 1/2 trial of autologous tumor mixed with an allogeneic GVAX vaccine in advanced-stage non-small-cell lung cancer, Cancer Gene Ther 13 (2006) 555-562.
- [389] U. FDA, A Phase 2 Study of LY573636 Administered as an Intravenous Infusion on Day 1 of a 21-Day Cycle as Second-Line Treatment in Patients With Unresectable or Metastatic Melanoma (2006).
- [390] U. FDA, A Phase 2 Study of LY573636-Sodium Administered as Second-Line or Third-Line Treatment in Patients With Unresectable or Metastatic Soft Tissue Sarcoma (2007).
- [391] U. FDA, A Phase 2 Study of LY573636 Administered as an Intravenous Infusion on Day 1 of a 21-Day Cycle as Third-Line Treatment in Patients With Unresectable, Metastatic Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer, (2006).
- [392] U. FDA, A Phase 2 Study of LY573636 as Treatment for Patients With Platinum-Resistant Ovarian Cancer (2007).
- [393] E. Suzuki, S. Kim, H.K. Cheung, M.J. Corbley, X. Zhang, L. Sun, F. Shan, J. Singh, W.C. Lee, S.M. Albelda, L.E. Ling, A novel small-molecule inhibitor of transforming growth factor beta type I receptor kinase (SM16) inhibits murine mesothelioma tumor growth in vivo and prevents tumor recurrence after surgical resection, Cancer Res 67 (2007) 2351-2359.

Figure Legends

Figure 1: TGF-B Superfamily Signaling Pathways. TGF-B superfamily ligands in the extracellular space bind to their respective type II and type I receptors. This binding is facilitated by the presence of co-receptors, including TβRIII. Within the extracellular space, there are negative regulators, including BMP antagonists, which bind to TGF- β superfamily ligands and prevent them from binding to their respective cell surface receptors. When a TGF- β superfamily ligand binds its specific receptor complex, a signal transduction cascade is initiated. The type I receptor's kinase domain becomes activated via phosphorylation by an appropriate type II receptor, enabling the type I receptor to interact with and phosphorylate the Smad transcription factors. There are two classes of receptor Smads; the BMP responsive Smads, which include Smad1, 5, and 8, and the TGF- β responsive Smads, which include Smad2 and 3. When these receptor Smads are phosphorylated, they form a trimeric complex with the common Smad4 and this complex accumulates in the nucleus. Within the nucleus, the Smads interact with other transcription factors to affect the transcriptome, resulting in regulation of cellular responses including growth, motility, and apoptosis.

Figure 2: The Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone Axis Increases TGF- β 1 expression and activity. Renin mediates the conversion of Angiotensinogen to Angiotensin I, which is then converted to Angiotensin II by Angiotensin Converting Enzyme (ACE). Angiotensin II binds to its receptor (AT1R) to activate a NADPH oxidase/p38 MAPK/AP-1 signaling cascade to increase TGF- β 1 mRNA levels. Angiotensin II also directly increases p38 and JNK MAPKs signaling to increase thrombospondin-1 (TSP-1)

expression, which cleaves the LAP domain of TGF- β 1 and converts TGF- β 1 into its active form. Furthermore, Angiotensin II promotes aldosterone secretion, which also increases TGF- β 1 mRNA levels. Aminopeptidase A converts Angiotensin II into Angiotensin III, which also increases TGF- β 1 expression. The renin-angiotensinaldosterone axis effects on TGF- β 1 expression and activity can be attenuated by ACE inhibitors or angiotensin receptor blockers, such as losartan.

Figure 3: Contribution of TGF-β Superfamily Signaling to Human Disease. The TGF-β superfamily regulates many critical physiological processes throughout development into adulthood. TGF-β superfamily signaling is tightly regulated at all levels, from the availability of ligand, to the amount of receptors on the cell surface, and the levels of the downstream transcription factors that will ultimately dictate the outcome of TGF-β superfamily signaling. When any level of the pathway is altered, either through germ-line or somatic mutation, the pathway no longer effectively regulates physiological processes, and human diseases arise. Indeed, human diseases are associated with alterations in each level of the TGF-β superfamily signaling pathway, as demonstrated here.

	Receptor Gene/Protein	Ligands Binding Partners	Receptor Smads
Type I	Generitietten	Engandis, Dinung Farthers	Sinads
Recentors	ACVRL1/ALK1	Activin A. BMP-9. TGF-81. TGF-83	1.5.8
1000 0000		Activin A. BMP-6. BMP-7. MIS. TGF-	_,_,_
	ACVR1/ALK2	β1, TGF-β2, TGF-β3	1, 5, 8
	BMPR1A/ALK3(BMPRIa		, ,
)	BMP-2, BMP-4, BMP-6, BMP-7	1, 5, 8
	ACVR1B/ALK4	Activin A, GDF-1, GDF-11, Nodal	2, 3
	<i>TGFBR1</i> /ALK5(TβRI)	TGF-β1, TGF-β2, TGF-β3	2,3
	BMPR1B/ALK6(BMPRIb	BMP-2, BMP-4, BMP-6, BMP-7, GDF-5,	
)	GDF-6, GDF-9b, MIS	1,5,8
	ACVR1C/ALK7	Nodal	2,3
		Activin A, BMP-2, BMP-6, BMP-7,	
Type II		GDF-1, GDF-5, GDF-8, GDF-9b, GDF-	
Receptors	ACVR2/ActRII	11, Inhibin A, Inhibin B	
		Activin A, BMP-2, BMP-6, BMP-7,	
		GDF-5, GDF-8, GDF-11, Inhibin A,	
	ACVR2B/ActRIID	Innibin B, Nodal	
	PMDD2/DMDD11	DMP-2, $DMP-4$, $DMP-0$, $DMP-7$, $DDP-3$,	
		MIS	
	IGFBR2/1pRII	Inhibin TCE β 1 TCE β 2 TCE β 2	
Co-recentors	TGFRR3/TBRIII	$\frac{100}{100} = \frac{100}{100} = $	
Co-receptors	<u>rorbks</u> , rpkin	In conjunction with appropriate type II	
		receptor:	
		Activin A, BMP-2, BMP-7, TGF-β1,	
	ENG/Endoglin	TGF-β3	
	CRIPTO/Cripto	GDF-1, GDF-3, Nodal, TGF-β1	
	RGMA/ RGMa	BMP-2, BMP-4	
	RGMB		
	/RGMb(DRAGON)	BMP-2, BMP-4	
	HJV/Hemojuvelin(RGMc)	BMP-2, BMP-4	
Pseudo-receptor	BAMBI/BAMBI	Associates with Type I receptors	
Ligand			
Antagonists	CHRD/Chordin	BMP-2, BMP-4	
	FST/Follistatin	Activin A, Activin B, Inhibin	
	LEFTY1/Lefty1	Binds to Cripto, competes with Nodal	
	NOG/Noggin	BMP-2, BMP-4, BMP-7	
	SOST/Sclerostin	BMP-2, BMP-4, BMP-6. BMP-7	

Table I: TGF-β Superfamily Signaling Components

	DISEASE	SUPERFAMILY COMPONENT		SIGNALING	
		Antagonists	Ligands	Receptors	Smads
Cardiovascular	Hereditary Hemorrhagic			ENG,	SMAD
System	Telangiectasia			ACVRL1	4
•				TGFBR1,	
	Loeys-Dietz Syndrome			TGFBR2	
	Familial Thoracic Aortic Aneurysm	C		TGFBR1,	
	Syndrome			TGFBR2	
		5		BMPR2	
	Primary Pulmonary Hypertension			ACVRL1	
Connective				TGFBR1,	
Tissue	Marfan Syndrome	FBN1		TGFBR2	
	Sphrintzen-Goldberg syndrome			TGFBR2	
	Furlong Syndrome			TGFBR1	
Skeletal and					
Muscular System	Camurati-Englemann Disease		TGFB1		
	Fibrodysplasia Ossificans				
	Progressiva			ACVR1	
	Hunter-Thompson and Grebe type				
	Chondrodysplasia		GDF5		
	Sclerosteosis	SOST			
		Enhancer for			
	Van Buchem Disease	SOST			
	Brachydactyly type C		GDF5		
	Brachydactyly type A2			BMPR1B	
	Symphalangism	NOGGIN	GDF5		
Reproductive	K				
System	Premature Ovarian Failure		BMP15, INHA		
	Persistent Mullerian Duct Syndrome		MIS	AMHR2	
Developmental					
Disorders	Situs Ambiguus	LEFTY1	NODAL		
	Cleft palate		TGFB2, TGFB3		
Metabolic	Hereditary Hemochromatosis			HJV	
Disorders	Juvenile Hemochromatosis				
TT 11					CI (I D
Hereditary				BMPRIA,	SMAD
Cancer	Juvenile Polyposis			ENG	4
	Hereditary Non-polyposis				
	Denneyon Dilay Dyyclocha			IGFBKI	
	Syndrome			BMPR1A	
	Cowden Syndrome			BMPR1A	
		1	1		1

Table II: Germ-line Mutations in TGF-β Superfamily Members in Human Disease

DISEASE COMPONENT	Smoda
	Smada
Ligands Receptors	Smaus
Cardiovascular TGFBR2	
System Atherosclerosis Decreased TGF-β1 mutations	
<i>IGFBI</i> polymorphisms (Increased IGF-	
Hypertension β1)	
TCEP1 polymorphisms (Increased TCE	
<i>IGFBI</i> polymorphisms (increased IGF-	
Dilated BMD10 nolymorphisms (Increased	
Cardiomyonathy BMP10)	
Pre eclampsia	
Pestenosis Increased TGE 81 levels	
Skalatal and TCFB1 polymorphisms (Increased TCF	
Muscular System Osteonorosis (107 b) polymorphisms (increased 101-	
TGFRR1	
TGFB1 polymorphisms (Increased TGF- polymorphisms)	
(hereased 101 polymorphisms, decreased	
TGFB2 polymorphisms (Increased TGF- TBRIII, TBRII,	
$\beta 2$) TBRI	
Increased BMP-4 Increased	
Cancer Breast Cancer Decreased BMP-7 ALK6	
TGFB1 polymorphisms (Increased TGF-	SMAD2,
β 1) TGFBR2	SMAD4
Colon Cancer Increased BMP mutations	mutations
TGFBR2	
mutations,	SMAD2,
decreased	SMAD3
Lung Cancer TBRII	mutations
TGFBR2	
mutations,	
	CIAND 4
Penerostia Cancor Increased TCE 01 TCE 02 TODI	SMAD4
Pancreauc Cancer Increased 1GF-p1, 1GF-p2 IBRI	Inutation
	Smad2
TGFB1 polymorphisms (Increased TGF-	Smad4
B1) Decreased	nuclear
Prostate Cancer Increased GDF-15 TBRIII 1	localization

Table III: Alterations in TGF-β Superfamily Members in Sporadic Human Disease



Figure 1: TGF- β superfamily Signaling

Figure 2



Figure 3

